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Revenues ComPound annual GRowth Rate

~60 %
sales volumes of solaR modules sinCe 1999

>750 mwp
shaRe of inteRnational business by 2013

65 %



Potentials

sunlight is life force energy. Plants and animals  have 
learnt to use the inexhaustible power of the sun in 
myriad ways. the power of the sun has been a major 
force influencing and controlling our climate and 
weather for millions of years. it is now up to us humans  
to harness this huge potential and tap it for a sustain-
able supply of energy. and the capacity of the sun is 
indeed vast: its annual irradiation is three-thousand 
times the global need for energy. to develop this poten-
tial markets need suitable promotional programmes 
and more cost effective solar power plants. therefore 
we are concertedly push photovoltaics all over the 
world – as a leading system integrator with  global 
operations. welcome to Phoenix solar aG!



Phoenix solaR at a GlanCe

Company profile

Phoenix solar aG, which has its headquarters in sulzemoos near munich, is a leading international 
photovoltaic system integrator. the listed company develops, plans, builds and takes over the opera-
tion of large-scale photovoltaic plants and is a specialist wholesaler for complete power plants, solar 
modules and accessories. the Group is a leader in photovoltaic system technology. it focuses on the 
consistent lowering of system costs. Phoenix solar maintains a sales network throughout Germany 
and subsidiaries in spain, italy, Greece, france, singapore, malaysia, oman, australia and the united 
states of america.

01/01/2010 
 – 31/12/2010

01/01/2009 
 – 31/12/2009

Change  
in %

Revenues and results

Revenues k€ 635,676 473,032 34.4

– domestic k€ 471,199 445,388 5.8

– international  k€ 164,477 27,644 495.0

overall performance k€ 635,839 456,160 39.4

ebit k€ 36,400 12,176 198.9

– in % of revenues (ebit margin) % 5.7 2.6 119.2

Consolidated net income for the period k€ 24,134 8,555 182.1

orders on hand k€ 158,309 296,100 - 46.5

Balance sheet 1

total assets k€ 313,307 182,232 71.9

equity k€ 142,445 97,264 46.5

equity ratio % 45.5 53.4 - 14.8

Return on equity % 24.8 9.6 158.3

Employees 1

employees 2 heads 313 240 30.4

Revenues per capita 3 k€ 1,995 1,974 1.1

Phoenix Solar share 1

no-par bearer shares units 7,372,700 6,700,700 10.0

Closing price € 23.70 42.23 - 43.9

market capitalisation k€ 174,733 282,971 - 38.3

earnings per share

– basic € 3.44 1.28 168.8

– diluted € 3.44 1.28 168.8

dividend per share € 0.35 4 0.20 75.0

 1 at the end of the period
2 average employee number, including part-time and temporary staff
3 full-time equivalent
4 dividend distribution proposal

overview of financial figures



Revenues in k€

2010 635,676

2008 402,494

2007 260,118

2009 473,032

Revenues by quarter  in k€

Q4/10 176,410

Q2/10 283,625

Q1/10 80,370

Q3/10 95,271

other 
54 k€

other 
44 k€

Power Plants
173,974 k€
36.8 %

Power Plants
267,220 k€
42.0 %

Revenues by segment

2009

2010

Components & systems 
299,004 k€
63.2 %

Components & systems 
368,412 k€
58.0 %

473,032 k€

635,676 k€

domestic 
445,388 k€
94.2 %

domestic 
471,199 k€
74.1 %

Revenues by region

2009

2010

international 
27,644 k€
5.8 %

international 
164,477 k€
25.9 %

473,032 k€

635,676 k€

assets

balance sheet 2010

liabilities 
and share-
holders’ 
equity

313,307 k€
96.2 % 3.8 %

Current assets
noncurrent assets

Current liabilities and provisions
noncurrent liabilities and provisions
equity

313,307 k€
52.8 % 45.5 %

2007

2008

2009

2010

ebit in k€

36,400

33,823

22,259

12,176
1.7 %
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inteRnational business aCtivities with Potential

our us subsidiary in California successfully took up its business activities in 
2010 in north america’s largest and most attractive solar market.

Potentials foR RooftoP Plants and thRouGh CustomeR seRviCes

having realised multi-megawatt plants in 2010, Phoenix solar is now focusing in 
Germany increasingly on rooftop installations and services for its trading partners.
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GRowth Potential in sunny futuRe maRkets

flagship projects in singapore, a solar power plant in the Gulf Region: the name 
“Phoenix solar” is becoming increasingly established in the sunbelt countries of asia.

fuRtheR maRket Potential in otheR euRoPean CountRies

attractive subsidy conditions and a positive administrative environment – in 2010 we 
generated our largest proportion of international revenues in italy.
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The power of the sun as a landscape designer: Natural 
erosion from wind and rain and sharp fluctuations in the 
temperature of up to 42 °C difference between day and 
night transform the landscape into bizarre shapes.  
To use this potential for generating energy as well, 
Phoenix Solar has staked out its position in photovoltaic’s 
largest high-growth market in the USA.

Mobius Arch in Sierra Nevada, California, USA



Photovoltaics is conquering the world. And wher-
ever its growth is swiftest Phoenix Solar is stepping 
up its international activities: In July 2010, our US 
subsidiary took up its business activities in Califor-
nia, North America’s largest and most attractive 
solar market with immense potential.

<  Mobius Arch in Sierra Nevada, California, USA

The US market  is very attractive for Phoenix Solar. According to forecasts,  it will 
replace Germany as the world’s largest photovoltaic market in the near term. The 
consultancy company Roland Berger and the research institute Prognos anticipate 
higher annual average growth rates  than  in Asia  in  the medium term. The total 
installed capacity of solar plants in the USA will come to 100 GWp by 2020 accord-
ing to a study. 

The preconditions are ideal: Annual solar irradiation in the Southwestern states is 
excellent – averaging around 2,300 kWh per square metre, which is therefore dou-
ble that of Germany – and the US citizens’ need for electricity is huge. In addition, 
the market incentive programme, launched by the US government at the start of 
2009, stepped up the promotion of renewable energies.

US market on the threShold of a boom – Phoenix Solar iS on the SPot 
California dominates the US photovoltaic market, with a market share of 51 per-
cent  in  2009.  The  state  intends  to  raise  the  share  of  renewable  energies  in  the 
electricity mix to 33 percent by 2020. Being established here will greatly facilitate 
market entry  into  the neighbouring  states of Nevada and Arizona. By  founding 
its subsidiary in San Ramon near San Francisco, Phoenix Solar AG has taken up its 
activities in the market. Our management team is made up of experienced experts 
who have the best contacts and can contribute in-depth knowledge in all areas of 
the US energy market. 

i am delighted to be leading the expansion of Phoenix Solar in the  
US market. the parent company has an excellent reputation in the 
 planning and construction of solar power plants to high standards.  
We would like to use these strengths in building up the subsidiary.

Paul Caudill, CEO and President of Phoenix Solar Inc.

is the target percent-
age volume of renew-
able energies in the 
electricity mix of 2020 
in the US state of  
California.

33 %

see p. 85



Ambitious goals: The 
US business is to make 
a major contribution 
to lifting the Group’s 
revenues to 65 percent 
by 2013.

focUS on the PoWer Plant bUSineSS 
According to extensive analyses, the greatest opportunities are to be had in the 
power  plant  business.  The  Californian  subsidiary  will  therefore  be  building  up 
its activities based on its parent company’s proven track record in development, 
planning,  logistics and construction competence and  its operation and mainte-
nance know-how. Our US team is in contact with project developers, independent 
energy producers and energy suppliers and has set about consistently acquiring 
companies and public-sector facilities which, for  instance, have suitable rooftop 
surface areas.

German SYStem knoW-hoW iS becominG increaSinGlY imPortant
We view ourselves as innovation leader in system integration and use every oppor-
tunity to lower the system costs for our customers. The name “Phoenix Solar” is 
already known in the US photovoltaic expert community.

The American  team  is planning a  swift  and  targeted expansion  into  the South-
western states and the East Coast of the USA. Our medium-term goal is to secure a 
strong market position for Phoenix Solar with selected partner companies. Among 
our partners, whose strengths and requirements ideally supplement our portfolio, 
we have high-profile module manufacturers with production facilities in the USA 
and other innovative companies in the photovoltaic sector.

006PhOENIx SOlAR AG   |   ANNUAl REPORT 2010   

Source: Roland Berger, November 2010

Yearly growth rate of solar industry by regions until 2020 in %

Europe

Rest of 
the world

Asia

USA

28

29

8

7 Average worldwide:
16

see p. 61
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Phoenix solar set new benchmarks for revenues and profit in 2010 and raised the proportion of its 
international business almost sixfold – in a very challenging market situation. not only Germany but 
also other european countries have curtailed their promotional programmes. the financing of large 
power plant projects is also becoming increasingly difficult and the competition fiercer. in this general 
environment, we raised our revenues by around 34 percent to a new record high of euR 635.7 million 
and delivered our best ever earnings before interest and taxes (ebit) of euR 36.4 million. my executive 
board colleagues and i view this performance as affirmation of our corporate strategy. it also enables 
us to propose payment of euR 0.35 per share – the highest dividend in the company’s history – to the 
annual General meeting of shareholders on 14 July 2011.

allow me to go into more detail about Germany as our home market: alongside the scheduled reduction 
in feed-in tariffs under the German Renewable energies act (eeG) at the start of 2010, political choices 
paved the way for the unscheduled lowering of tariffs on 1 July and 1 october, triggering upfront buy-
ing effects which resulted the highest revenues achieved to date in a second quarter.

nonetheless, we did not quite reach our original revenue target. the fourth quarter is normally the 
strongest but in 2010 the seasonal year-end rally generally failed to materialise. the main reasons were 
a slowdown in the market in the second half of the year and the early onset of winter in europe. by con-
trast, our international business, developed very well. it grew by 25.9 percent in the past financial year. 
true to our announcement the year before, Phoenix solar aG has therefore resolutely and successfully 
continued to build up its international presence.

we have been growing more swiftly than the market for many years now and have been consistently 
turning a profit since 2004. a major reason for this stable development is our flexible business model 
which enables us to respond swiftly to changes in general conditions. this is a challenge for all our 
departments and Group companies alike. at this point, therefore, i would like to express my thanks to 
our employees. they have done an outstanding job!

what about forecasts for the photovoltaic market in 2011? we believe that the global market will stag-
nate in 2011, not only because of the exceptionally strong growth last year but also because of more 
difficult circumstances for government funding in our key markets, examples being italy and france. 
as regards Germany, we assume there will be a decline in the market, which is also the intention of the 
photovoltaic industry. installed capacity in 2010 may, however, come to around peak power of 5 to 
6 gigawatt (Gwp), thus remaining at a high level.

letteR to ouR shaReholdeRs
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Phoenix solar intends to raise the share of its international business. indeed, the year 2011 has begun 
with new international projects. our subsidiary in oman, for instance, will have completed a flagship 
project for the saudi arabian oil Company by the end of september. this is a grid-connected ground-
mounted power plant on the premises of the world’s largest energy research centre. in addition, we 
are currently building two solar parks in france. with our future-oriented international power plant 
projects, we have set in place the best prerequisites for pushing back the frontiers into new markets and 
segments. Phoenix solar has a global presence and operates in europe’s most important photovoltaic 
markets, in the middle east, southeast asia and, since 2010, in the usa.

we are convinced that the importance of photovoltaics for the modern energy environment is set to 
grow. the world’s awareness of the imperative of securing a supply of energy which protects the cli-
mate and safeguards us humans as well as our economies from imponderable risks is rising, especially 
in view of the ongoing nuclear catastrophe in Japan. the spectacular threat from the fukushima nuclear 
plant and the unforeseeable consequences serve to document the following in an all too dramatic way: 
there are no alternatives to building up renewable energies!

for many years the criticism has been that photovoltaics can only make a small contribution to the elec-
tricity supply. in the meantime, however, the share of solar electricity in the grid has already reached 
20 percent around midday on sunny days in some of Germany’s federal states. electricity production 
costs incurred by photovoltaics have halved since 2006, and in 2011 the entire portfolio of photovoltaic 
systems installed and promoted under the eeG since the year 2000 is expected to reach breakeven. this 
is the result of a study commissioned by Phoenix solar. today large ground-mounted power plants are 
already generating electricity at prices which are considerably below those charged for household elec-
tricity. from our standpoint, therefore, reassessing photovoltaics against conventional energy technolo-
gies is urgently required.

dear shareholders, we are well equipped to tap the enormous potential of photovoltaics in all of the 
world’s important markets. we have independent system know-how, skilled and experienced employees 
and the necessary flexibility. above all, we feel strongly committed to making a contribution to a sustain-
able supply of energy which will secure a higher standard of living for all of us – today and tomorrow. 
thank you for your trust!

with sunny greetings,

Dr. Andreas Hänel
(Chief executive officer)



shaRe of inteRnational Revenues above budGet

25.9 %
best eaRninGs befoRe inteRest and taxes (ebit)

€ 36.4 m
hiGhest dividend in the histoRy of the ComPany

€ 0.35
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exeCutive boaRd of  
Phoenix solaR aG

Back row (left to right): Ulrich Reidenbach, Manfred Bächler, Sabine Kauper, Dr. Murray Cameron 
Front, seated: Dr. Andreas Hänel

DR. AnDREAS HänEL
Chief executive officer (Ceo)
born in 1958

founding member of the company,  
sole member as from 1999 and  
Chairman of the executive board since 2000

Responsible for
  Corporate strategy & business development
  Corporate Communications
  Corporate infrastructure

SABInE KAuPER
Chief financial officer (Cfo)
born in 1968

member of the executive board since 2007

Responsible for  
  finance 
  Personnel and organisation development 
  international Processes & it
  internal audit
  law 

uLRICH REIDEnBACH
Chief sales officer (Cso)
born in 1959

member of the executive board since 2008

Responsible for  
  international sales in 
Components & systems and  
Power Plants segments
  marketing

DR. MuRRAy CAMERon
Chief operating officer (Coo)
born in 1962

founding member of the company and  
member of the executive board since 2003

Responsible for  
  Procurement and Purchasing
  logistics
  Public & Governmental affairs

MAnfRED BäCHLER
Chief technology officer (Cto)  
(until 31 december 2010)
born in 1963

member of the executive board  
from 2000 to 2010

Responsible for  
  Power Plant Construction and standard 1

  Power Plant operation & maintenance 2

  technology & innovation 2

  Quality assurance & Customer service 3

1 Responsible since 1 January 2011: ulrich Reidenbach
2 Responsible since 1 January 2011: dr. andreas hänel
3 Responsible since 1 January 2011: dr. murray Cameron
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inteRview with exeCutive boaRd

in 2010, Phoenix solaR aG CaRRied out a CaPital inCRease. what CoRPoRate finanCinG is 
theRe in 2011? 

of the various alternatives, the syndicated loan continues to play the most important role. with its varia-
ble options, it is the ideal form of financing our working capital. the flexible utilisation options of sureties, 
guarantees and cash loans in particular suit our needs as a growing company in an extremely changeable 
market environment. moreover, we pay attention to having a suitable equity ratio. we can therefore show 
our business partners and the capital market that the company has a secure and stable financing base. 
 
does the GRowinG inteRnationalisation of business aCtivities affeCt the ReCRuitinG of 
PeRsonnel?
 
yes. the proportion of foreign employees in Germany and in our locations all over the world will con-
tinue to rise steadily. in the meantime, we have more than 400 people working for Phoenix solar from 
more than 20 countries. due to our ongoing internationalisation, we are looking first and foremost for 
people to take on special functions and management tasks. our ideal candidates will believe in the 
potential of photovoltaics and have international experience and language skills. 

 
CutbaCks in the PRomotion of solaR eneRGy aCRoss the boaRd: what does this mean 
foR the Global PhotovoltaiC maRket and foR Phoenix solaR?
 
in our opinion, the global market is initially set to stagnate 2011 and then subsequently pick up momen-
tum again in 2012. Phoenix solar will be focusing to a greater extent on the potential of countries 
outside Germany and will continue to raise the share of international business which is already around 
25 percent. the good thing about curtailing feed-in tariffs is that prices have to fall further. this means 
that photovoltaic electricity will gradually become more competitive as against other power generation 
options and thus increasingly attractive.
 
keywoRd eeG levy. is the value of PhotovoltaiCs measuRed aPPRoPRiately today?
 
the more renewable energies are fed into the grid, the further prices on the european Power exchange 
(ePex) in leipzig fall. electricity suppliers, however, are raising prices. blaming photovoltaics for this is 
a fairy tail fabricated by these companies: 85 percent of the price hikes in the last decade have nothing 
to do with renewable energies. this was recently affirmed by the German federal environment agency.

Dr. Andreas Hänel  
Chief Executive Officer

Sabine Kauper 
Chief Financial Officer

ComPetitive solaR eleCtRiCity

stable finanCinG base in a dynamiC enviRonment
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what ChallenGes will theRe be foR PRoCuRement and loGistiCs in 2011?
 
an increasingly prominent characteristic of the photovoltaic business is the degree to which industry is 
able to exploit existing cost reduction potential across the whole value chain. our advantage: we act 
as an interface between manufacturers and end customers. as an independent system integrator we 
buy all over the world, are open to new technologies at any time and have a flat cost structure. we are 
therefore able to adjust more swiftly to changes in the market.
 
you aRe also ResPonsible foR “PubliC & GoveRnmental affaiRs” – what is this exaCtly?
 
expressed in more complex terms: the strategic management of decision processes at the interface 
between politics, business and society. it essentially means making Phoenix solar and the photovoltaic 
industry heard, fostering contacts to decision makers, and putting our position forward in discussions 
on the legal framework.

Dr. Murray Cameron 
Chief Operations Officer

indePendenCe is beCominG inCReasinGly valuable

 
GeRmany as domestiC maRket, usa as futuRe maRket: what sales stRateGy does Phoenix 
solaR PuRsue?
 
in Germany, we are in the process of consistently broadening our services for our sales partners and 
offering our customers value added, for instance through improved configuration software and market-
ing support. the ground was carefully prepared for expansion into the north american market. follow-
ing an analysis of the overall market, the potential of each individual region was surveyed. the result: 
we will initially be focusing on the promising power plant business, and California is our first choice 
here. in 2011, we intend to generate our first revenues in the usa.
 
whiCh solaR eleCtRiCity PRoJeCts Realised by Phoenix solaR will be futuRe benChmaRks?
 
Particularly noteworthy is the 3.5 mwp solar power plant for the saudi arabian oil Company, our first 
project in the middle east of this size. we can deliver proof of our technological and innovative com-
petence through this project. we will also provide new impetus through rooftop photovoltaic power 
plants on industrial and commercial buildings and carports, first and foremost in europe. we are cur-
rently working more intensively on larger ground-mounted projects in the asian markets.

Ulrich Reidenbach  
Chief Sales Officer 

moRe seRviCes in GeRmany,  
new oPPoRtunities abRoad
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ComPany PRofile  
and business model 

we aRe PioneeRs in PhotovoltaiCs

Releasing potential – this has always been one of the forces driving us at Phoenix solar: from the company’s 
beginnings as a private solar initiative in Germany in 1999, we have played a major role in ensuring that 
photovoltaics becomes increasingly competitive and in accelerating its broad-based introduction into 
markets all over the world. today Phoenix solar aG with its global operations ranks among the world’s 
leading photovoltaic system integrators. we develop, design and build large-scale photovoltaic power 
plants and take over their operation, as well as being a specialist wholesaler for turnkey photovoltaic 
systems, solar modules and accessories. this dual function enables Phoenix solar to cover all system 
dimensions, from 1 kilowatt systems for the rooftops of private households right through to solar power 
plants in the multi-megawatt category. we have been turning a profit since 2004 and have recorded an 
annual revenue growth averaging more than 60 percent.

Photovoltaics is one of the fastest growing segments in the market of renewable energies. in Germany 
alone, around 7.4 Gwp of solar electricity output was installed according to preliminary figures in 2010 
which, in comparison with 2009, is an increase of 94.8 percent. market research experts forecast dou-
ble-digit growth rates in some countries in europe and, above all, in asia and north america in the com-
ing years. we are optimally positioned to exploit these opportunities in the market. today international 
business already makes up 25.9 percent of Phoenix solar aG’s revenues.

ouR foCus is on PhotovoltaiC system teChnoloGy

we have built up our own unique expertise as a photovoltaic specialist. with its finger on the pulse of 
the market, Phoenix solar sets benchmarks in system technology with its own in-house developments 
and products sourced externally. we screen the whole market, seeking out the best technologies and 
components, to be able to offer our customers the best system solution – for use on roofs or in free 
fields, while taking special account of the specific circumstances of the location. in doing so, we now 
occupy a key position: for the manufacturers of photovoltaic modules we are the gateway to the end 
customer, for investors and operators we are the guarantor of the long-term profitability of solar power 
plants, and for retailers and electrical wholesalers we are a reliable supplier of high-quality components 
and customised photovoltaic facilities. because our business activities are positioned at the end of the 
value chain, we are close to the customer and in a position to act swiftly and flexibly.

Products portfolio

segments

size of plant 1 kwp  1 mwp 10  mwp+

Power Plant sales

Power Plants

Components & systems

investor business

500 kwp
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we have two seGments and one Goal

the Phoenix Group operates in two areas of business which complement each other ideally: Components 
& systems and Power Plants. both are geared to long-term business relationships and pursue the goal of 
keeping system costs to a minimum while providing the best possible support for our customers. 

in our capacity as a wholesaler for photovoltaic components and turnkey systems, in our Components 
& systems segment we offer customised solutions and support our partners in consultancy and plan-
ning activities, with logistics services, technical training for sales and installation, as well as operating a 
service hotline for retailers. our customers in this segment include retailers and installation companies, 
such as electrical installation service providers, electronics retailers and wholesalers, heating/sanitary 
installation companies and roofing operations as well as specialist solar companies. Phoenix solar has 
a tightly knit partner network which operates throughout the whole of Germany and is currently in the 
process of gradually building up similar structures in the international markets. actively fostered part-
nerships and mutual trust are the basis on which we build successful cooperations.

business model

Products sourced externally

modules 
inverters 
accessories

PRoduCt PoRtfolio
In-house products and innovations

mounting systems for rooftop and  
ground mounted plants

operation and maintenance software

insurances 
financing

system integration worldwide through international locations

wholesale trade in Pv components
and complete systems

Construction of turnkey solar power plants  
– rooftop and ground mounted

advisory services
Planning support
online partner site
technical support
trainings

Pv installers
electrical wholesale

advisory services
Planning

Project development
implementation

operation and maintenance

institutional and private investors
industry, trade and commerce

municipalities & public-sector institutions
farmers

CoMPonEntS & SyStEMS

SERvICES

CuStoMERS

SERvICES

CuStoMERS

SoLAR PowER PLAntS
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as a system integrator we provide end-to-end services for large-scale rooftop and ground-mounted 
power plants in our Power Plants segment – from consultancy services and planning as well as project 
development across turnkey construction through to the plant operation. our portfolio of services also 
includes support with financing, as well as maintenance and repair. the operation & maintenance 
department in ulm monitors the output and key performance data of the power plants in real-time 
via remote data readout and ensures swift response times in the event of a failure through its 24-hour 
standby service, thus securing steady return. along with private individuals, farmers and institutional 
investors, customers of the Power Plants segment include businesses from industry, trade and com-
merce, energy utilities and municipalities and public-sector institutions.

we CReate valuable syneRGies

thanks to close cooperation with the manufacturers, know-how from the Power Plants segment is 
directly transferred into developing and optimising products and services in the Components & sys-
tems segment. the strategic link between the two segments benefits each and every customer. moreo-
ver, using the same intermediate products in the installation of modules across the segments gives us 
a great deal of flexibility, enabling us, if necessary, to balance out demand and strengthen our procure-
ment position in the market.

ouR stRenGth is ouR indePendenCe

the solar market is growing swiftly and demands a high level of flexibility from all market participants. 
as a system integrator operating independently of manufacturers, we gear our range of products and 
services to our customers’ requirements and are in a position to offer new technologies at any time. 
through this head start we have assumed a pioneering role which has made us market leader in thin-
film modules, for instance. in 2009, Phoenix solar sold around 13 percent of all solar modules produced 
worldwide with thin-film technology.

whether crystalline or thin-film modules, string inverters or central inverters, intelligent rooftop solu-
tions or cost-effective mounting systems: we combine quality benchmark products and services “made 
in Germany” with an international market presence.

our strategic competitive advantages in an increasingly dynamic market environment:

  we operate in all our respective photovoltaic markets independently of manufacturers, with a neutral 
approach to technology, and serve customer segments in a targeted way.
  we offer our customers added value through system innovations in the Power Plants segment and an 
outstanding product and service portfolio in the Components & systems segment.
  we hold fast to our business model, identify new opportunities in the market at an early stage and 
flexibly align our activities to respond to these opportunities.
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we aRe Close to the CustomeR – all oveR the woRld

our home market is Germany. Phoenix solar nonetheless operates today through its own subsidiaries in 
all the key markets of photovoltaics – in europe and asia, in the Gulf Region and, since mid-2010, in the 
usa as well. we offer our products and services around the world. Proximity to the customer and agility 
in the various markets are what set us apart – both in technological and in financial terms. our low vol-
ume of capital commitment, sound financial base and efficient partners give us the degree of flexibility 
we need to selectively tap growth potential in all market regions. 

makinG eneRGy toGetheR – that’s what we stand foR

for us, each newly installed photovoltaic system is another step on the way towards a big goal. our 
vision: a world in which renewable energy improves the quality of life is our world. we make extensive 
use of the inexhaustible power of the sun to generate electricity. this is how we shape the energy supply 
of today and tomorrow. 

our mission is to pave the way into a new age of energy with solar electricity: making energy together. 
our wide range of products and services delivers tailored solutions for our customers. our competence 
in consulting services and system technology is compelling. through our commitment, we create value 
for our customers, partners, employees and shareholders.

Phoenix solar Pty ltd, 
australia
(since July 2008)

Phoenix solar inc.,
usa
(since september 2010)

Phoenix solar e.P.e.,
Greece
(since June 2008)

Phoenix solar s.r.l.,
italy
(since January 2006)

Phoenix solar l.l.C., 
oman
(since december 2009)Phoenix solar s.l.,

spain
(since april 2006)

Phoenix solar sas, 
france
(since september 2009)

Phoenix solar aG,
Germany
(since november 1999)

Company locations

Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., 
singapore
(since december 2006)

Phoenix solar sdn bhd,
malaysia
(since september 2010)
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first quarter

19 march 2010
Dr. Murray Cameron, Chief Operating 
Officer of Phoenix Solar AG, is re-elected 
as a Board member of European  
Photovoltaic Industry Association (EPIA) 
for another four-year term of office.

   Annual financial Statements 2009
after a difficult year for the solar industry, Phoenix solar 
is one of the few German photovoltaic companies to 
achieve revenue growth (+ 17.5 percent to euR 473.0 
million) and close the year 2009 with a profit (ebit: 
euR 12.2 million).

   Cuts in government promotion of solar energy
the reduction in feed-in tariffs for photovoltaic electric-
ity, anchored in the German Renewable energies act 
(eeG), takes effect at the start of the year: government 
promotion of newly installed solar power plants in 
Germany falls by 9 percent. other unscheduled curtail-
ments follow on 1 July and 1 october.

   Strategic human resources work
together with a high-profile personnel consultancy 
company, Phoenix solar sets up the human Resources 
solar expert Panel. the aim is to establish the photo-
voltaic sector in the personnel market and to facilitate 
recruiting new staff.

   “Haus der kleinen forscher” 
Phoenix solar also in 2010 supports the “haus der 
kleinen forscher” initiative under the sponsorship of 
Gerda hasselfeldt, Chairman of the Csu faction of the 
bundestag, whose intention is to fan children’s enthusi-
asm for natural sciences and technology.

second quarter

30 June 2010
The first construction stage of the Senf-
tenberg Solar Park, Phoenix Solar’s 
largest photovoltaic power plant to date 
with a peak output totalling 18 MW, is 
connected to the grid.

   Grid connection of Moos Solar Park 
within the space of not even three months, Phoenix 
solar builds one of bavaria’s largest solar parks with 
15.8 mwp in Geroldshausen-moos – using around 
160,000 thin-film modules and 24 inverters.

   Long-term partnership 
Phoenix solar takes over the delivery and assembly of 
two power plants with a peak power output totalling 
7.8 mw for swt stadtwerke trier in fell and bitburg  - 
these are project number ten and eleven of a series over 
the course of the long-term cooperation.

   Inauguration of a power plant in Singapore 
Phoenix solar Pte. ltd. completes the biggest photo-
voltaic plant with 380 kwp built with thin-film modules 
in singapore. the thin-film modules used in construc-
tion are the world’s largest, with a surface area of 5.7 m2.

   CIGS technology
Phoenix solar aG signs a framework agreement with 
miasolé inc. in the usa, a leading manufacturer of 
thin-film solar modules featuring the copper-indium-
gallium-diselenide (CiGs) technology.

   Investor-oriented dividend policy  
on 16 June, the annual General meeting decides on 
the payment of a dividend of euR 0.20 per share to 
the shareholders of Phoenix solar aG. in addition, the 
supervisory board is newly elected.

   Rooftop and roof-integrated mounting systems 
Phoenix solar presents tectosun 3 and tectosmart, 
its own mounting systems developed in-house, at the 
intersolar europe in munich, the world’s largest trade 
fair for the solar industry.

Review of the yeaR 2010
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third quarter

1 september 2010
The newly founded US subsidiary of 
Phoenix Solar AG takes up its operations 
in San Ramon near San Francisco in the 
high-growth solar market of California.

   3.5 Mwp solar park
a Canadian energy group commissions Phoenix solar as 
general contractor to build a turnkey ground-mounted 
photovoltaic power plant in borgo Piave in the latium 
region of italy.

   first project in Slovakia
Phoenix solar aG signs a contract with a German-
slovakian investor duo on the design and realisation 
of a solar park with a peak power output of 2.2 mw in 
slovakia.

   Market entry into Malaysia
Phoenix solar Pte. ltd. in singapore founds a subsidiary 
in malaysia with headquarters in kuala lumpur. the 
company develops and builds turnkey ground-mounted 
and rooftop photovoltaic systems.

   670,200 new shares
Phoenix solar takes receipt of gross proceeds of around 
euR 21 million from a successful capital increase on 13 
July. the funds will be used to finance company growth 
and to forge ahead with the Group’s ongoing interna-
tionalisation.

   Record results released
the second quarter marks the company’s highest quar-
terly revenues and earnings since its foundation. with a 
module sales volume of almost 140 mwp, the Phoenix 
solar Group generated total revenues of euR 283.6 mil-
lion and an ebit of euR 22.3 million.

   fleet consumption of German companies 
according to deutsche umwelthilfe, Phoenix solar tops 
the list of 115 leading companies in terms of having a 
company vehicle fleet with the lowest Co2 emissions. 
the fleet’s emission averages 127 g Co2/km; the com-
pany car of Ceo dr. andreas hänel emits 129 g Co2/km.

fourth quarter

3 november 2010
Phoenix Solar presents “The True Value 
of Photovoltaics for Germany” study on 
the adequate assessment of solar elec-
tricity and the economic benefit of photo-
voltaics at a press conference in Berlin.

   Solar power plants for E.on
Phoenix solar aG builds two solar power plants total-
ling 8.9 mwp in italy. Commissioning the design and 
construction of the photovoltaic power plants are two 
special-purpose companies of e.on Climate & Renewa-
bles.

   flagship project in Italy
Phoenix solar wins the contract to build a solar carport 
of 5.9 mw in Piadena, italy. this is one of the world’s 
largest photovoltaic power plants on a carport.

   Start of construction in Greece
Phoenix solar aG’s Greek subsidiary signs its largest 
contract to date for the construction of a grid-con-
nected solar power plant. Phoenix solar e.P.e. designs 
and builds a solar power plant with a peak power of 
2 mw in Central Greece.

   Participation in trade fair in the uSA
Phoenix solar presents itself to the american expert 
public for the first time and introduces its product and 
service portfolio at solar Power international in los 
angeles, the largest photovoltaic trade fair in the usa.

   High level of productivity
in a study published in october entitled “Germany’s 
most productive companies in 2010”, Phoenix solar 
ranks among the winners, coming second among the 
companies from the photovoltaic sector.

   Change at Executive Board level
Chief technology officer manfred bächler lays down 
his board mandate for personal reasons with effect 
from 31 december 2010. the tasks under his responsi-
bility are distributed among the other executive board 
members.
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stoCk maRket enviRonment

the development of international stock markets was very disparate in the year 2010. the dax, Germany’s 
leading index, delivered a plus of 16.1 percent, thus considerably outperforming other stock indices 
such as the dow Jones or euro stoxx 50. after the spectacular increase in share prices in 2009, the start of 
2010 initially saw a slight downtrend in the German stock market, followed by a broad-based rallying of 
share prices which, by the end of the year, generally emerged from trading at a premium. from the end 
of april onwards, the slew of debt crises of a number of euro-zone countries and a loosening of mon-
etary policy in the usa determined events on the stock markets. Prices trended sideways in the period 
between spring and autumn 2010. Relief at Germany’s strong economy, the low level of interest rates 
and China’s economic upswing heralded the change, with anxiety about another recession in the us and 
alarming reports about the public debt of countries in southern europe and ireland. at the end of sep-
tember, the dax had not moved from the level it recorded at the start of the year. very good company 
results, the decision of the us federal Reserve to keep the key rates between 0 and 0.25 percent and the 
unexpectedly strong recovery in the German economy prompted a year-end rally in share prices.

at the end of the reporting period, the dax emerged from trading at 6,914 points. Compared with 
its status at the end of 2009 (5,957 points), the leading index had firmed up by 16.1 percent above 
its starting point. 

the tecdax, which comprises the 30 largest technology companies below the dax, including Phoenix 
solar aG and six other companies in the solar industry, closed the year at 851 points as compared with 
818 a year ago. this is equivalent to a slight increase of 4 percent. the mdax (+ 35 percent) and the 
sdax (+ 46 percent) performed considerably better.

all solar equities in the tecdax were on the losing side in the selection index at year-end 2010. in the 
statistics compiled at the end of the year, the share of Phoenix solar aG came 26th in the ranking of 30 
equities in terms of its share price performance, down from 11th place in 2009. despite a slight recovery 
towards the end of the year, the loss in value sustained by the equities of individual solar companies over 
the course of the year partly exceeded 50 percent and, in one case, was even more than 70 percent.

shaRe PRiCe PeRfoRmanCe

following a strong year in the stock markets in 2009, the price of the Phoenix sonnenaktie® (share of 
Phoenix solar aG) came under considerable selling pressure in 2010. the closing price on the last trad-
ing day of the reporting year stood at euR 23.70 (previous year: euR 42.23), which is a reduction of 44 
percent (previous year: + 68 percent). having peaked at euR 45.00 on the first day of trading (4 January), 
the share price dipped to its lowest point for the year of euR 20.90 on 7 december.

the share of Phoenix solar aG came under a great deal of pressure in the first quarter of 2010 from 
discussions about an unscheduled curtailment of the government promotion of solar energy. follow-
ing significant price markdowns in January and february, the equity rallied in march from its low levels 
in previous months upon the release of the preliminary figures for 2009. the share price closed at euR 
31.49 on the last trading day of the first quarter, thus shedding 25.4 percent of its value in the first three 
months of 2010.

this downtrend persisted in the second quarter. although there was another quarter-on-quarter loss of 
2.4 percent recorded by the end of the period, a trend reversal had nonetheless set in by the month of 
June. on the last day of trading in the second quarter, the share closed at euR 30.74. following a price 
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markdown in the double-digit range in april, the equity firmed up in may in response to the positive 
quarterly figures. in June, the share entered a clear uptrend. during this period, a final regulation on the 
amendment to the German Renewable energies act (eeG) appeared to have been found and the inter-
solar trade fair took place with its optimistic appraisal of the market.

in the third quarter, the share of Phoenix solar aG sustained another loss of 14.5 percent. having gained 
8.7 percent in July from a month-on-month perspective, the share price slipped again significantly in 
the months of august and september. on the last trading day of the third quarter, the share closed at a 
price of euR 26.28. topics which dominated were the modest outlook for the third quarter as part of the 
publication of the half-yearly 2010 figures, the anticipated slump in demand in Germany and negative 
analyst reports on the photovoltaic sector.

in the final quarter, the value of the share decreased by 9.8 percent. the last quarter of 2010 came 
under the influence of ongoing uncertainty about expectations for the German and global solar market 
in 2011. a month-on-month increase of 6.9 percent, achieved through positive performance over the 
course of october, gave way to tumbling prices in november (- 15.2 percent). the equity stabilised in 
december and closed the trading year 2010 on 30 december at euR 23.70.

Price performance of the Phoenix solar share versus the tecdax (01/01/ – 31/12/2010)

the market capitalisation of Phoenix solar aG came to euR 174.7 million on 31 december 2010 (31 decem-
ber 2009: euR 283.0 million). the trading volume of the share on the xetra exchange stood at 13.4 mil-
lion units, unchanged from the year-earlier figure, and turnover over the reporting period posted euR 
392.4 million compared with euR 470.9 a year earlier.

at the end of the financial year 2010, Phoenix solar came 31st in the ranking of the 30 equities belong-
ing to the tecdax measured by the stock exchange criterion of market capitalisation. at the end of 
2009, the company still held 19th place. measured by trading volume, the company took 19th place 
compared with 15th place at the end of the reporting year 2009.
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annual GeneRal meetinG

the regular annual General meeting 2010, held on 16 June in fuerstenfeldbruck with an attendance 
which made up 36.71 percent of the voting share capital of euR 6,702,500, approved all items on 
the agenda with majorities achieved in the voting process of between 75.14 percent and 99.99 per-
cent. J. michael fischl, Chairman of the supervisory board to date, and supervisory board members 
dr. Patrick schweisthal, Prof. dr. klaus höfle and Prof. dr. thomas Zinser were confirmed for a further 
term of office. dr. torsten hass and oliver Gosemann were newly elected as members of the supervi-
sory board. in the supervisory board meeting following on from the annual General meeting, J. michael 
fischl was confirmed in his office of Chairman of the supervisory board. dr. Patrick schweisthal was 
elected as vice Chairman for the first time.

dividend distRibution

we pursue a shareholder-oriented dividend policy which accords with company growth and the respec-
tive business situation. the company paid dividend for the first time in 2007 for the previous financial 
year. at the annual General meeting 2010, our shareholders approved the distribution of a dividend of 
euR 0.20 per share (previous year: euR 0.30) for the financial year 2009. dividend was disbursed on 17 
June 2010 via our paying and depositary agent. with a gross dividend distribution of euR 1.3 million, 
the payout ratio measured against the annual net income of Phoenix solar aG (pursuant to the German 
Commercial Code (hGb)) comes to 10.08 percent. the executive board and the supervisory board plan 
to propose payment of a dividend of euR 0.35 per share for the financial year 2010 to the annual Gen-
eral meeting of shareholders on 14 July 2011.

dividend

financial year Disbursement  
date

Dividend per  
share (€)

Gross dividend  
distribution  (k€)

number  
of shares 

2010 * 15/07/2011 0.35 2,581 7,372,700

2009 17/06/2010 0.20 1,340 6,700,700

2008 20/05/2009 0.30 2,005 6,648,500

2007 05/06/2008 0.20 1,337 6,684,500

2006 29/05/2007 0.10 608 6,077,000

* Proposal for dividend distribution to be presented to the annual General meeting 2011

CaPital measuRes

Phoenix solar aG successfully carried out a capital increase on 13 July 2010, with partial utilisation of 
the authorised Capital 2010. the subscription rights of shareholders were excluded. we issued a total of 
670,200 new no-par value bearer shares at a placement price of euR 32.00. the company’s share capital 
has therefore risen from euR 6,702,500 to euR 7,372,700, and the total number of voting rights now 
comes to 7,372,700 units.

shaReholdeR stRuCtuRe

in the financial year 2010, there were a number of notifications submitted pursuant to section 21 of the 
German securities trading act (wphG) in which shareholders indicated that their holdings had reached, 
exceeded or fallen below the statutory thresholds requiring reporting. the total number of voting rights 
had risen to 7,372,700 by the end of december 2010 through the capital increase in July and through 
the exercising of 1,800 share options as part of the share option Plan 2006.
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the shareholder structure as per 31 december 2010, and as known to Phoenix solar aG, is shown below:

according to the definition of deutsche börse aG, 100 percent of the shares are in free float.

investoR Relations

the aim of our investor relations activities is to foster transparent communication between the company 
and the capital market. we maintain constant dialogue with all stakeholders and have stepped up the 
exchange of information with market participants, extended the catalogue of measures and built up the 
requisite human and financial resources. the key issues covered by our capital market communication 
are the company’s financial position, current market developments in the photovoltaic industry, as well 
as the strategy and the outlook of the Group. in the financial year ended, our investor relations work 
concentrated first and foremost on developments relating to the future government promotion of solar 
energy on a global scale, the impact of the amendment to the German Renewable energies act (eeG) 
on the business of Phoenix solar aG, its market entry into the usa and market expectations in 2011. in 
addition, we presented the study on “the true value of Photovoltaics for Germany” and discussed its 
contents with politicians and the capital market.

we update and develop the range of information on the website www.phoenixsolar.com/investorRelations 
on a regular basis. along with general information on the share, contents include a list of current analyst 
recommendations, the webcasts of the most recent telephone conferences and details on Corporate 
Governance within the Phoenix solar Group. 

Phoenix solar aG took part in nine capital market conferences in Germany and abroad in the finan-
cial year 2010. in february, we attended the hsbC small/mid Cap sRi Conference organised by hsbC 
trinkaus & burkhardt, and in march the Growth & Responsibility Conference sponsored by Commerz-
bank, both in frankfurt am main. the executive board presented the Group at the small & mid Cap 
symposium organised by Goldman sachs in london in may and at the intersolar investor Confer-
ence arranged by mainfirst bank in munich in June. the m:access analyst conference organised by 
börse münchen (munich stock exchange) followed in July and the German investment Conference of 
uniCredit was held in munich in september. we were represented at the ubs Global solar one-on-one 

data including share voting rights assigned pursuant to section 22 of the German securities trading act (wphG)

shareholder structure as per 31/12/2010

3.08 % dws

3.11 % deutsche asset management

4.93 % allianz

83.02 % further free float 

5.86 % executive board and supervisory board
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Conference and the Jefferies solar symposium in los angeles in october. moreover, the company was 
presented at the equity Capital forum of deutsche börse aG in frankfurt am main in november.

together with a number of brokers, we made contact with investors and buy-side analysts and stepped 
up the exchange of information within the context of nine road shows in total in the financial year. a 
road show organised in Germany took place in frankfurt am main in 2010. in addition, management 
and the investor Relations department visited the international financial centres of brussels, Geneva, 
london, luxembourg and Zurich in europe and new york in the usa.

apart from conferences and road shows, there were many group and one-to-one discussions held at 
company headquarters in sulzemoos. a large number of financial analysts and institutional investors, 
as well as representatives of the business community and financial press, visited Phoenix solar aG and 
subsequently took a guided tour of a photovoltaic power plant. we were also available to exchange 
information in regular telephone conferences. moreover, we conducted numerous discussions with pri-
vate shareholders and responded to their enquiries.

the intersolar trade fair, held in munich in June, also attracted many international investors and analysts 
who made appointments for meetings at our trade fair stand. more meetings took place at the 25th 
european Photovoltaic solar energy Conference and exhibition (eu PvseC) in valencia in september. a 
month later we took part in solar Power international, the leading us trade fair in los angeles, and had 
meetings with many different market participants. the executive board presented the company at the 
11th forum solarpraxis in berlin and were available to meet with interested parties.

the company’s financial Calendar 2011 has been printed on the inside cover of this annual Report and 
is regularly updated on the website of Phoenix solar aG under the investor Relations heading.

analyst CoveRaGe

as per 31 december 2010, 24 banks and investment firms were regularly covering the Phoenix solar 
share. ardour Capital based in new york, bayernlb in munich, Close brothers seydler and dZ bank in 
frankfurt am main, along with the major bank ubs based in Zurich, began analyst coverage of Phoenix 
solar aG. of the banks, 14 are headquartered in Germany and ten in the rest of europe and in america. 
at the end of the financial year, 17 analysts had rated the share with buy, six with hold and one with sell. 
the average target share price of all financial analysts stood at euR 35.77. an updated list of analysts’ 
reviews is posted on our website under the investor Relations heading. 
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key share data

Q1 2010 Q2 2010 Q3 2010 Q4 2010 2010 2009

number of shares 1 units 6,700,700 6,702,500 7,372,700 7,372,700 7,372,700 6,700,700

market capitalisation 1 € 211,005,043 206,034,850 193,754,556 174,732,990 174,732,990 282,970,561

Closing price (xetra) € 31.49 30.74 26.28 23.70 23.70 42.23

highest price € 45.00 32.02 35.53 28.91 45.00 43.74

lowest price € 26.65 25.64 26.28 20.90 20.90 23.91

trading volume

units 4,301,387 3,170,972 2,819,405 3,066,188 13,357,952 13,367,964

€ 140,053,107 91,439,687 88,144,747 72,765,171 392,402,712 470,935,008

dividend € - - - - 0.35 2 0.20

dividend yield % - - - - 1.48 2 0.47

earnings per share 

€ 0.42 3 2.38 3 0.31 3 0.43 3 3.44 1.28 3

€ 0.42 4 2.38 4 0.31 4 0.43 4 3.44 1.28 3

1 at the end of the period
2 dividend distribution proposal
3 basic earnings per share 
4 diluted earnings per share

share fact sheet

international securities identification number (isin) de000a0bvu93

securities code number (sec. code no.) a0bvu9

ticker symbol Ps4

Class of shares  no-par value bearer shares

number of shares as per 31/12/2010 7,372,700 units

share capital as per 31/12/2010 € 7,372,700 

transparency level Prime standard

market segment Regulated market

stock exchanges   xetra, frankfurt am main (Prime standard), munich (m:access), 
stuttgart, berlin, düsseldorf, hamburg, hannover

sector/sub-sector industrial Goods/Renewable energies

indices  tecdax, Ökodax, midcap market, hdax, technology all share, 
Prime all share, Cdax, dax international 100, daxglobal® sarasin 
sustainability Germany, various sector and sub-sector indices of 
deutsche börse aG; Photovoltaic Global 30 index, s&P Global 
Clean energy

end of the financial year 31 december 

accounting standards ifRs

Commencement of stock market listing 18/11/2004

designated sponsor hsbC trinkaus & burkhardt aG



560,000 hl



Vineyard near Wuerzburg, Lower Franconia, Germany

The power of the sun as a guarantee of growth: Franco-
nia’s vintners owe their annual yield of up to 560,000 
hectolitre of choice wine first and foremost to the con-
tinental climate with dry, warm summers. To use this 
potential for generating electricity as well, Phoenix Solar 
built three ground-mounted plants, each with a peak 
power of more than 10 MW in 2010, in Germany.



Germany is the world’s photovoltaic champion.  
In only two years, installed capacity in this country 
has more than doubled to around 17 GWp. 
In future, we will be focusing especially on the  
potential of rooftop plants and services for our 
sales partners.

Demand  for  solar  power  plants  and  systems  was  driven  primarily  in  2010  by 
upfront buying effects and the additional multiple lowering of EEG feed-in tariffs. 
We estimate that the German market has reached its maximum capacity and will 
decline in the years ahead. We nonetheless see good opportunities for expanding 
photovoltaics  in Germany. The fact  is  that 234,400 hectares of surface areas on 
buildings are suitable for solar utilisation. Up until now only around 2.5 percent of 
this potential has been used – and if the true value of photovoltaics is recognised, 
photovoltaics will be a competitive alternative to electricity from power plants run 
on gas and hard coal in five to eight years’ time.

mooS Solar Park – one of the larGeSt in SoUthern GermanY 
Within the space of not even three months, one of Bavaria’s largest solar parks was 
built using around 160,000 thin-film modules and 24 inverters on a surface area 
of around 64 hectares:  the 15.8 MWp solar park  in Geroldshausen-Moos  in  the 
district of Wuerzburg, Franconia. The plant has been generating almost 17 million 
kWh of electricity a year since June 2010. It contributes more than 600 tonnes a 
year to CO2 savings – and is a milestone for Phoenix Solar’s power plant business.

SenftenberG Solar Park – a SYmbol of the enerGY Sea chanGe
The municipality of Senftenberg in Brandenburg has led the way in showing what 
can be done with a former brown coal open-cast mining area. In 2010, we realised 
our  largest power plant  to date, built with 240,000 solar modules on a surface 

peak power is the larg-
est photovoltaic plant 
built by Phoenix Solar to 
date – the Senftenberg 
Solar Park in Branden-
burg.

<  Vineyard near Wuerzburg, Lower Franconia, Germany

Josef Schäfer, 1st Mayor of the Municipality of Geroldshausen

moos Solar Park is currently one of the largest in bavaria and supplies 
more than 4,200 families with green electricity. it has enabled us to 
make an active contribution to climate protection – also thanks to  
the professional planning and realisation of the project by Phoenix  
Solar aG.

18 MW

see p. 20



Maximum yield secu-
rity for the operator: 
Phoenix Solar has also 
taken over the opera-
tion and maintenance 
of the Moos Solar Park.

area of approximately 63 hectares – and a peak power of 18 MW. The solar park 
is  convincing  proof  of  how  used  sites  can  be  put  to  good  use  for  the  environ-
ment and society. This can also be said of the 10 MWp solar park in Preschen near 
 Cottbus which is built on a conversion site formerly used as a military airbase since 
the end of 2010.

ProtectinG the climate, GeneratinG enerGY, eStabliShinG PartnerShiPS 
The  investment company KGAl, having signed a  framework agreement back  in 
2007 with Phoenix Solar which was extended in 2009, assumed the role of inves-
tor  and  principal  for  the  Moos  Solar  Park.  The  two  companies  are  planning  to 
realise solar projects with a minimum investment volume of EUR 525 million  in 
Germany and in other European countries in the period from 2009 to 2012. 

Experienced investors with a sound financing concept as a partner, Phoenix Solar 
as  project  developer  and  general  contractor,  and  a  municipality  in  which  both 
politicians and residents are all pulling in the same direction all adds up to an ideal 
constellation for shaping the sustainable supply of energy at a regional level.

030PhOENIx SOlAR AG   |   ANNUAl REPORT 2010   

Source: Rabobank and Bank Sarasin, November 2010

Country attractiveness of rooftop photovoltaic systems 2011 in scores
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see p. 64
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RePoRt of the suPeRvisoRy boaRd 

the supervisory board herewith presents its report to the annual General meeting of shareholders, 
in particular on its examination of the separate financial statements, drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the German Commercial Code (hGb), and the management Report on the company as per 
31 december 2010, and the consolidated financial statements and management Report on the Group, 
as well as on its supervision of management during the financial year and on its statement on the report 
submitted by the independent auditor, together with the proposal of the executive board on the unap-
propriated retained earnings.

GeneRal infoRmation

in the reporting year, the supervisory board held twelve regular meetings, including two closed-door 
sessions. in doing so, it fulfilled the tasks incumbent on it under the law, the articles of association and 
the bylaws of the company. in the case of urgent matters, the supervisory board passed resolutions by 
way of telephone conference or by written circular procedure, whenever necessary. the executive board 
did not participate in the passing of resolutions conducted via telephone and in the five meetings held 
to decide on personnel-related matters. 

following careful examination and discussion, the supervisory board gave its approval to the resolu-
tions put forward by the executive board.
 
the supervisory board comprises six members. the members J. michael fischl (Chairman), Prof. dr. klaus 
höfle, dr. Patrick schweisthal and Prof. dr. thomas Zinser were re-elected in the annual General meeting 
of shareholders held on 16 June 2010. members ulrich fröhner and ulrich th. hirsch retired from the 
supervisory board at the end of the annual General meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2010. oliver 
Gosemann and dr. torsten hass have belonged to the supervisory board since the end of the annual 
General meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2010. dr. Patrick schweisthal is successor to ulrich fröhner 
as vice Chairman of the supervisory board.

in order to carry out its tasks efficiently, the supervisory board formed three committees of its members, 
namely the audit Committee, the Personnel Committee and the nomination Committee. these commit-
tees are tasked with preparing certain decisions for resolution and topics which are to be addressed by the 
supervisory board. as part of the decision-making powers entrusted to them within the scope permitted 
under the law, the committees made their own decisions. the chairmen reported on the work carried out 
in their committees at next respective meeting of the supervisory board.

the audit Committee held six meetings, three of which in the presence of the independent auditor, 
established key audit areas, discussed the interim reports and deliberated on the financial statements 
and management reports on the company and the Group. the Chief financial officer took part in all 
meetings. moreover, the committee concerned itself with issues relating to the accounting and risk 
management and gained an insight into the activities of the departments in the area of finance. in addi-
tion, it took receipt of and discussed the reports on the audit activities of internal audit. moreover, the 
audit Committee initiated a tender procedure for selecting the external auditor for the financial year 
2011. the audit Committee members are Prof. dr. thomas Zinser (Chairman), oliver Gosemann (since 
16 June 2010), ulrich th. hirsch (until 16 June 2010) and dr. Patrick schweisthal.
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the Personnel Committee is made up of the following members: J. michael fischl (Chairman), ulrich 
fröhner (until 16 June 2010), dr. torsten hass (since 16 June 2010) and Prof. dr. klaus höfle. it met three 
times in the period under review and focused on issues pertaining to the goals agreed and reviewing 
the extent to which goals were achieved by the members of the executive board. in addition, questions 
relating to the reallocation of the scope of tasks of individual executive board members in preparation 
for contract renewals and in connection with the implementation of the German act on the appropri-
ateness of executive Remuneration (vorstaG) were also discussed. to this end, an external, independent 
remuneration consultant was involved in developing a new multi-period, index-based remuneration 
model to reflect a quantitative, performance-based remuneration component which was agreed with 
the executive board members. the committee’s work was also determined by executive board member 
manfred bächler’s wish to terminate the employment contract. mr. bächler withdrew from the com-
pany’s executive board at the end of the financial year 2010.

the nomination Committee is made up of the members J. michael fischl (Chairman), Prof. dr. klaus höfle 
and Prof. dr. thomas Zinser. the committee prepared the supervisory board’s proposal for new elections 
to the supervisory board in the annual General meeting of shareholders 2010. moreover, it addressed the 
issues arising from its decisions in the year 2009 pertaining to the concept of a proposal to be put to the 
annual General meeting of shareholders for replacing members, the issue of diversity and the long-term 
planning for appointing members to the supervisory board in the context of decisions made by way of tel-
ephone in preparation for the regular meetings of the supervisory board. 

in accordance with the resolution passed by the annual General meeting, the Chairman of the supervi-
sory board mandated the munich-based auditing company awt horwath Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft on 5 december 2010 pursuant to section 111 para. 2, sentence 3 of the German stock 
Corporation act (aktG) to audit the separate financial statements and the management report on the 
company as well as the consolidated financial statements and the management report on the Group 
drawn up in accordance with section 315a of the German Commercial Code (hGb) and based on the 
standards set out under ifRs/ias. the independent auditor submitted an auditor’s independence decla-
ration to the audit Committee on 26 march 2010 pursuant to Code item 7.2.1 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code, the correctness of which the supervisory board does not doubt. 

the supervisory board agreed the Corporate Governance Report in accordance with the recommenda-
tions set out under the German Corporate Governance Code in the version dated 26 may 2010 and the 
declaration of Conformity pursuant to section 161 of the German stock Corporation act (aktG) with the 
executive board on 26 January 2011. the declaration of Conformity was published on 18 march 2011 in 
accordance with the statutory provisions. the complete Corporate Governance Report, together with 
the declaration of Conformity, is part of the annual Report.

the supervisory board reviews the efficiency of its work on an ongoing basis. key areas are the organisa-
tion and sequence of meetings, the optimisation of reporting by the executive board and resolutions 
passed on agenda items, as well as risk management. over the course of the year, the members of the 
supervisory board took part in external continuous professional development in order to build on their 
expert qualifications.
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RePoRt on the aCtivities assoCiated with the suPeRvision of the exeCutive boaRd
by the suPeRvisoRy boaRd duRinG the CouRse of the finanCial yeaR

the supervisory board met regularly, discussed the items on the agenda in depth and analysed the 
development of the company and situation of the sector. the supervisory board consulted regularly 
with the executive board on the management of the company and supervised the latter’s activities. the 
supervision of senior management was made primarily by taking cognizance of regular written and 
oral reports by the executive board and the discussion of these reports. the executive board reported in 
a timely fashion on the course of business, the strategic development and the current situation of the 
company and the Group. in addition to the supervisory board meetings, the Chairman of the supervi-
sory board was in regular contact with the executive board and kept himself informed about the actual 
business situation and individual transactions. the supervisory board was therefore involved in all deci-
sions of fundamental importance for the company and the Group.

the key areas of the supervising and advisory activities throughout the period of this report are as follows: 

  receipt and discussion of the reports prepared by the executive board in accordance with section 
90 of the German stock Corporation act (aktG) on the liquidity and financial position, the intended 
business policy and other fundamental issues pertaining to corporate planning (in particular, finance, 
investment and personnel planning), 
  assessment of the impact of political discussions on lowering feed-in tariffs in the key regions, such 
as Germany, southern and south eastern europe and the usa, in terms of the business policy of the 
company,
  analysis of alternative or additional lines of business to reduce the risk of strong dependence on the 
process of political decision-making,
  ongoing development of the corporate strategy and reconciliation of the impact on corporate plan-
ning as well as on the organisation structure and organisation of workflows,
  financing of the Group and the subsidiaries,
  monitoring the development of the internal control system (risk monitoring and early warning system in 
accordance with section 91 of the German stock Corporation act) and the information gained therefrom,
  receipt of reporting in the context of the compliance management system,
  monitoring of the company’s stock market value,
  cognizance of the development of instruments designed to optimise procurement and inventory 
management, 
  human resource development within the company,
  discussion on the progress made by individual business segments and the subsidiaries,
  concepts for the market development and sales strategy,
  review and discussion of major contractual problems,
  addressing of the content of German Corporate Governance Code. 

Conflicts of interest in respect of the members of executive board and the supervisory board which must 
be reported without delay to the supervisory board and of which the annual General meeting of share-
holders is to be informed did not arise.
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RePoRt on the audit of the sePaRate and Consolidated finanCial statements by the
suPeRvisoRy boaRd

together with the members of the audit Committee and the other members of the supervisory board, 
the Chairman of the supervisory board took receipt of the following on 25 march 2011 in good time 
before the meeting of the supervisory board: 

  the annual financial statements and the proposal for the appropriation of profit of the executive board 
for the financial year 2010,
  the report by the executive board on the situation of the company in 2010,
  the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2010 pursuant to the standards laid down 
under ifRs/ias,
  the report by the executive board on the situation of the Group in 2010. 

the separate financial statements and the management Report on the company, and the consolidated 
financial statements and the management Report on the Group were audited by the auditing company 
awt horwath Gmbh wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. the audit did not give rise to any objections; an 
unqualified audit opinion was issued.

the audit Committee examined the annual financial statements and the management reports and dis-
cussed them with the Chief financial officer and the independent auditor. similarly, the supervisory 
board examined the financial statements and management reports in its financial statements meeting 
on 13 april 2011, in which the executive board also participated and explained the financial statements 
it had prepared and the risk management system, and consulted with the independent auditors who 
reported on the main findings, the key areas and scope of their audit and were available to give addi-
tional information. no significant weak points were ascertained in the internal control and risk manage-
ment system in relation to the accounting process. 

the supervisory board is satisfied that 
 
  all the components of financial accounting are systematically correct in as much as they form the basis 
for the annual financial statements; 
  the methods for achieving complete, accurate, timely and systematic storage, processing and record-
ing of accounting data have been duly set in place; 
  the system of documentation is well organised, and each individual business transaction can be traced 
through to its presentation in the annual financial statements and back again;
  having conducted sample checks of the underlying substantiation of assets and liabilities, that they 
accord with the carrying amounts disclosed;
  in connection with the assessment of uncompleted transactions and information in the notes to 
the Consolidated financial statements, the contract register does not give the impression of being 
obscure or incomplete;
  the statutory rules governing recognition, disclosure and valuation have been complied with and the 
annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and result of 
operations of the company.

the supervisory board has declared its agreement with the findings of the audit conducted by the inde-
pendent auditor. following the concluding results of its audit, the supervisory board ascertained that 
there were no objections to be raised.
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the supervisory board has ratified the financial statements of the company prepared by the executive 
board, which are thereby adopted. the supervisory board has also ratified the consolidated financial 
statements. the proposal of the executive board to use unappropriated retained earnings to pay a divi-
dend of euR 0.35 per share, which comes to a total of euR 2,580,445.00 on the dividend-bearing share 
capital of euR 7,372,700.00, to the shareholders and to carry forward the balance to new account was 
examined carefully and approved by the supervisory board.
 
in its meeting on 13 april 2011, and following consultation with the independent auditor pursuant to 
section 171 para. 2 of the German stock Corporation act, the supervisory board resolved upon the fol-
lowing statement:

Based on its own examination, the Supervisory Board accedes to the results of the audit carried out on the 
annual financial statements and the Management Report for 2010 at company level and at Group level by the 
independent auditor who has issued an unqualified audit opinion. Following the final result of the examina-
tion by the Supervisory Board, no objections were raised. Accordingly, the annual financial statements as at 31 
December 2010 were ratified by the Supervisory Board in its meeting on 13 April 2011, and are thereby adopted.

Moreover, the Supervisory Board approves the proposal of the Executive Board to put a resolution to the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders for payment of dividend from the unappropriated retained earn-
ings of EUR 64,046,745.15 in an amount of EUR 0.35 per share and carry forward the remaining balance of 
EUR 61,466,300.15 to new account. 

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board ratified the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2010 
and the Management Report on the Group for the financial year 2010.
 
sulzemoos, 13 april 2011

J. Michael fischl
(Chairman of the supervisory board)
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CoRPoRate GoveRnanCe RePoRt

trust is fostered through openness. Phoenix solar aG stands for good and responsible corporate gov-
ernance aligned to creating sustainable value added. we view open dialogue with employees, busi-
ness partners, customers, shareholders, analysts and the public as an important prerequisite for the 
long-term success of our company. the executive board and the supervisory board are committed to 
upholding the principles set out under the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) and have 
geared their actions towards securing the company as a going concern and raising enterprise value on 
a sustainable basis. apart from a few exceptions, Phoenix solar aG has adopted the recommendations 
and suggestions of the GCGC. this Corporate Governance Report, prepared by the executive board and 
the supervisory board in accordance with item 3.10 of the Code in the version valid since may 2010, elu-
cidates the main corporate governance components of the company and explains any departures from 
the recommendations of the Code. the report also includes the statement on corporate governance 
required under section 289a of the German Commercial Code.

amendments to the GeRman CoRPoRate GoveRnanCe Code

the version dated 18 June 2009 of the GCGC has been revised by the Government Commission of the 
German Corporate Governance Code in a number of instances and has been reformulated in the new 
version dated 26 may 2010. in the new version of the Code, the Commission places particular emphasis 
on recommendations for more diversity in the filling of management, executive board and supervisory 
board positions as well as focusing on the qualifications of supervisory board members. the measures 
are intended to set in place the prerequisites for good corporate governance geared to sustainability. 

with a few exceptions, the main amendments and recommendations have been implemented by 
Phoenix solar. amendments which affect Phoenix solar are explained briefly in the following, and devia-
tions from the Code described and substantiated in the declaration of Conformity.

the regular 2011 General meeting of shareholders is to endorse the system of remunerating members 
of the executive board. there are currently no plans to introduce postal voting or transmit the annual 
General meeting using electric communication media (e.g. internet). in these instances, Phoenix solar 
will first observe the acceptance in the capital market (in accordance with Code items 2.2.1, 2.3.1, 2.3.3 
and 2.3.4).

when taking out a directors & officers (d&o) insurance for the executive board and the supervisory 
board, a deductible of a minimum 10 percent of the loss up to an amount of at least one and a half 
times the fixed annual remuneration of the executive board member and an appropriate deductible for 
supervisory board members is to be agreed. this recommendation was implemented at Phoenix solar 
aG upon the entering into force of the statutory obligation on 1 July 2010 (in accordance with Code 
item 3.8).

the remuneration of executive board members should appropriately reflect individual performance and 
the financial position, success and future prospects of the company. the appropriateness of remunera-
tion is reviewed regularly once a year, starting in 2010. a comparison will be made both with the remu-
neration structure in the company as well as in a peer comparison with other companies in the solar 
industry. there are currently no plans to involve an external independent expert (in accordance with 
Code item 4.2.2).

an index-based remuneration system for the quantitative part of the executive board bonus was intro-
duced in the financial year 2010. the quantitative part of the bonus is based on a multi-year assessment. 
moreover, a cap has been agreed for this part of the performance-based remuneration. under this sys-
tem, the performance of Phoenix solar aG is compared with a select group of peer competitors. Chang-
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ing the quantitative goals at a subsequent date is excluded; in respect of qualitative performance tar-
gets, significant changes in the environment may allow this in exceptional cases. the share option Plan 
2006, introduced as a variable remuneration component and which expires in mid-2011, is explained 
in detail in the annual Report. a successor programme is to be developed together with a specialised 
consultant in 2011 and presented to the 2011 annual General meeting of shareholders for its decision 
(in accordance with Code item 4.2.3).

Phoenix solar aG takes account of the precept of diversity in the composition of the executive board, 
particularly in respect of appropriate consideration of women. in 2010, the ratio stood at 20 percent. 
the reduction in the number of persons on the executive board from five to four on 1 January 2011 now 
brings the ratio to 25 percent. together with the executive board, the supervisory board will introduce 
long-term succession planning, taking into account the individual circumstances. the respective pre-
conditions are reviewed by the supervisory board once a year. an age limit of 67 years has been defined 
for executive board members (in accordance with Code item 5.1.2).

since the 2010 annual General meeting of shareholders, elections to the supervisory board have been 
carried out by way of votes cast on an individual basis. Candidates put forward for the supervisory 
board chair are announced to the shareholders (in accordance with Code item 5.4.3).

as yet, no member of the executive board of Phoenix solar aG has switched to the supervisory board, 
and no executive board member of Phoenix solar aG has accepted more than three supervisory board 
mandates in other listed companies (in accordance with Code items 5.4.4 and 5.4.5).

the deadline for making interim reports publicly accessible within 45 days is complied with. the release 
of the consolidated financial statements, however, is not made within 90 days due to the high quality 
standards set by the company (in accordance with Code item 7.1.2). 

diveRsity and eQual oPPoRtunity at Phoenix solaR aG

as a company with increasingly international operations, Phoenix solar aG is giving greater attention 
to the topic of diversity. we view diversity and equal opportunities as an important principle in our 
working environment. at present, the majority of Phoenix solar’s employees come from Germany as 
the company’s home market. however, the proportion of other nationalities is on the rise. in 2010, 12 
percent of the workforce were of non-German extraction. women make up 33 percent of the workforce. 
at year-end 2010, around 20 percent of managerial positions (second and third management level) at 
Phoenix solar were filled by women. the average employee age stood at 37 years.

exPeRtise of the suPeRvisoRy boaRd

based on an extensive review, the supervisory board analyses the expert and personal prerequisites for 
the fulfilling of its tasks once a year in a closed-door session. these prerequisites are then compared in 
the form of a swot (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats) with the potential represented 
by the board. the outcome is then taken as a basis for continuous professional development of the indi-
vidual persons and planning for future vacancies. 

the manifold responsibilities and tasks of the supervisory board (e.g. in the areas of finance, law, knowl-
edge of the photovoltaic market and expertise in photovoltaics, management of international compa-
nies, company and project finance, personnel) are to be reflected by the key focus of its various mem-
bers’ expertise. furthermore, along with the professional qualifications, the interpersonal competence 
of the respective individual is to be taken account of in the selection of members.
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Goals foR the ComPosition of the suPeRvisoRy boaRd

the supervisory board of Phoenix solar aG comprises a total of six members elected by the annual Gen-
eral meeting of shareholders. in oliver Gosemann, the supervisory board has a member with extensive 
entrepreneurial and international experience. the criterion of internationality is thus fulfilled. Prof. dr. 
thomas Zinser has expertise in the areas of accounting and auditing. the supervisory board is currently 
exclusively composed of independent members. these members do not maintain business or personal 
relations with the company or its executive board which could constitute a conflict of interest, nor do 
they exercise any consultancy or supervisory function with customers, suppliers, lenders or other busi-
ness partners of the company. there are currently no women on the supervisory board.

Given the special challenges of Phoenix solar aG’ business, the share of international business and the 
size of the company and the Group, the supervisory board defined the following goals by way of resolu-
tion dated 26 January 2011 in respect of its future composition:

  in the future as well, at least one member of the supervisory board will in particular embody the crite-
rion of internationality, whether by being a foreign national and/or by having extensive international 
experience.
  in future, at least two independent members, i.e. 33 percent, should be on the supervisory board.
  Given the proportion of women in the workforce of Phoenix solar aG, which came to 33 percent in the 
financial year ended, the supervisory board considers the membership of two women on the super-
visory board to be appropriate. achieving this proportion has been envisaged for the medium term. 
  the maximum age for members of the supervisory board has been set at 67 years.

in future proposals for election, the supervisory board will take into account that the goals for the com-
position of the supervisory board in respect of female supervisory board members have not yet been 
fulfilled. otherwise all other goals have already been achieved.

Risk manaGement and inteRnal ContRol system

entrepreneurial activity harbours risks. however, opportunities missed may also incur risk. hence, it is our 
responsibility to optimise the opportunities for the company while reducing the risks. Phoenix solar aG 
has established risk management as a permanent process which encompasses all areas of the company 
and forms the basis for the identification, assessment, management and control of the risks which arise. 
above and beyond risks to the company as a going concern, activities, events and developments are 
recorded by the system if they might exert a significant influence on the success of the company’s busi-
ness in the future. the objectives, processes and distribution of tasks in the context of risk management 
are documented in the Risk management manual of the company.

Phoenix solar aG has a clear management and corporate structure in which the key cross-departmental 
functions are managed centrally. in respect of finance and financial reporting, integrity and responsi-
bility is ensured through compliance with the prevailing accounting guidelines and other guidelines 
relevant for the accounting process. these are binding on all those involved in the process.

in terms of the accounting process, the internal control and risk management system ensures that entre-
preneurial transactions are properly captured and accounted for and correctly mapped in the accounting 
system. suitable staffing, the use of appropriate software, clear statutory provisions and internal instruc-
tions and guidelines form the basis for a due and proper, uniform and continuous accounting process.
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shaReholdinGs and diReCtoRs’ dealinGs

the securities transactions of the executive board and the supervisory board in the shares of Phoenix 
solar aG within the meaning of section 15a (directors’ dealings) of the German securities trading act 
(wphG) are listed in an updated form on the company’s website at www.phoenixsolar.com under the 
heading investor Relations and can be viewed for the space of one month. the insider guidelines of 
Phoenix solar aG provide for a blackout period which spans the time from the end of the period up until 
the publishing of the business results. the recommendation to insiders is that they should refrain from 
trading in the shares of the company during this period. external insiders, consultants  for instance, are 
also notified of this blackout period.

in the financial year 2010, several individual non-reportable and reportable transactions within the 
meaning of section 15a of the German securities trading act were carried out by the executive board 
and the supervisory board. non-reportable transactions under section 15a of the German securities 
trading act are constituted by the purchase or sale of shares in Phoenix solar aG as long as transactions 
initiated by individual members of the executive board or the supervisory board or their related parties 
do not reach or exceed an amount of euR 5,000. the proportion of shares held by the executive board 
and the supervisory board has also fallen proportionately owing to the increase in share capital from 
6,702,500 to 7,372,700. moreover, one member of the supervisory board who held a larger block of 
shares has withdrawn. the table below gives an overview of shareholdings (direct and indirect) of the 
executive board in the shares issued by the company:

units Holding %

dr. andreas hänel
227,200

(227,200)
3.08

(3.39)

manfred bächler
132,530

(183,530)
1.80

(2.75)

dr. murray Cameron
69,750

(69,750)
0.95

(1.04)

sabine kauper
190

(190)
<0.01

(<0.01)

ulrich Reidenbach
216

(160)
<0.01

(<0.01)

Executive Board, total 
429,886

(469,886)
5.83

(7.01)

as per 31 december 2010; 2009 figures in brackets 

at supervisory board level, mr. oliver Gosemann (300 shares), dr. torsten hass (400 shares) and Prof. 
dr. klaus höfle (1,575 units) hold shares in the company. as per 31 december 2010, the supervisory 
board therefore held 0.03 percent (previous year: 0.30 percent) in the share capital of the company. the 
members of both executive and supervisory bodies together hold shares amounting to 5.86 percent in 
the company (previous year: 7.31 percent).

RemuneRation RePoRt

the details of the remuneration system of the executive board and the supervisory board, as well as an 
itemised listing of remuneration, are included in section 1.1.4 of the management Report. information 
on commitments and benefits which executive board members would receive in the case of premature 
or regular termination of their activities as executive board members or which have changed during the 
financial year are disclosed under section 1.3 “Reporting pursuant to section 315 para. 4 of the German 
Commercial Code”.



041Phoenix solaR aG   |   annual RePoRt 2010   CoRPoRate GoveRnanCe RePoRt

statement on CoRPoRate GoveRnanCe

pursuant to section 289a of the German Commercial Code by the executive board and the supervisory 
board of Phoenix solar aG on the German Corporate Governance Code

CooPeRation between the exeCutive boaRd and the suPeRvisoRy boaRd

the executive board and supervisory board make up the dual board system of Phoenix solar aG. they 
work closely together in implementing a responsible opportunity and risk management with the aim of 
raising the enterprise value on a sustainable basis. in this task, the two functions of “management” and 
“supervision” are clearly separated.

the members of the executive board head up and manage the company collegially under their own 
responsibility. the basis of their cooperation are the bylaws. the executive board develops the corpo-
rate strategy and initiates measures for its implementation at the operational level. a clear allocation of 
responsibilities which accords with the schedule of responsibilities determines the competences of the 
individual members of the executive board. the executive board informs the supervisory board regu-
larly, within a reasonable period of time, and extensively about all important issues relating to business 
development, strategy and planning, risk management and compliance, as well as about compliance 
with laws and defined codes of conduct. the supervisory board is informed immediately about impor-
tant events which could exert a major impact on the company.

the non-executive board, which was set up in 2009, was reduced from three to two members in the 
financial year 2010. the respective manager left the company as an employee and was elected to the 
supervisory board of Phoenix solar aG by the 2010 annual General meeting of shareholders. 

the supervisory board consists of six members who supervise and advise the executive board in the 
management of the company. the supervisory board has laid down a set of bylaws as a basis for its 
work. it agrees the strategy developed by the executive board and keeps itself informed of the status 
of strategy implementation, the financial and investment planning of the next financial year and of 
medium-term planning. outside of the regular meetings, the Chairman of the supervisory board in par-
ticular engages in ongoing dialogue with the Chairman of the executive board on the issues of strategy, 
business development and risk management.
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the Committees of the suPeRvisoRy boaRd

to organise its work as efficiently and effectively as possible, the supervisory board of Phoenix solar 
aG has formed three consultative committees in accordance with its bylaws. each of these committees 
met in the financial year ended. the frequency of meetings depended on the requirements for fulfilling 
the respective tasks. the regulations applicable to the supervisory board also apply to the committees 
accordingly. Reports on the work of the committees are regularly made to the supervisory board.

the audit Committee has three members: Prof. dr. thomas Zinser (Chairman), oliver Gosemann and dr. 
Patrick schweisthal. the committee is tasked with defining the key audit areas in respect of the annual 
financial statements with the independent auditor and with the discussion of interim reports. the regu-
lations set out under the GCGC which require that the Chairman of the committee must have expert 
knowledge and experience in the application of accounting principles and internal control procedures 
are fulfilled in the person of Prof. dr. thomas Zinser, who is a tax consultant. 

the Personnel Committee, similarly made up of three persons, is responsible for agreeing goals in 
the context of the performance-related remuneration of the members of the executive board and for 
ascertaining the extent to which goals have been achieved. in addition, the committee draws up the 
executive board member contracts and puts forward proposals for long-term succession planning for 
the executive board. the Personnel Committee is made up of the following members: J. michael fischl 
(Chairman), dr. torsten hass and Prof. dr. klaus höfle.

the nomination Committee is made up of the following members: J. michael fischl (Chairman), Prof. 
dr. klaus höfle and Prof. dr. thomas Zinser. the tasks and responsibilities of the committee in 2010 were 
to put forward recommendations for suitable candidates for election to the supervisory board by the 
annual General meeting of shareholders on 16 June 2010.
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Joint deClaRation of ConfoRmity

the executive board and the supervisory board of Phoenix solar aG herewith declare that, since the last 
declaration of Conformity dated 19 march 2010, Phoenix solar aG complies and has complied with the 
recommendations of the Government Commission’s German Corporate Governance Code in the ver-
sion dated 18 June 2009 through to 25 may 2010, as well as the recommendations of the Government 
Commission’s German Corporate Governance Code of the version dated 26 may 2010 subsequently 
published in the official section of the German federal Gazette on 2 July 2010, with the exception of the 
following:

RetRoaCtive ChanGes to the PeRfoRmanCe taRGets oR similaR PaRameteRs must be
exCluded in the vaRiable RemuneRation (in accordance with Code item 4.2.3)

Phoenix solar aG is of the opinion that, given the dynamic market environment, the adjusting of 
performance targets or similar parameters may be expedient and acceptable in exceptional cases.

the audit Committee should also addRess issues of ComPlianCe in PaRtiCulaR
(in accordance with Code item 5.3.2)

issues of compliance are handled by the Personnel Committee owing to the special experience of the 
Chairman of this committee who is also Chairman of the supervisory board.

PRePaRation of suPeRvisoRy boaRd meetinGs and deCisions by the Committees
(in accordance with Code item 5.3.5)

Given the size of Phoenix solar aG, the supervisory board does not currently deem it necessary to have 
its meetings prepared by committees.

deadlines foR the PubliCation of the Consolidated finanCial statements
(in accordance with Code item 7.1.2)

the company’s high quality requirements preclude a publication of the Consolidated financial state-
ments within the 90-day period. Publication on the company’s webpages will take place within the 
space of a few days after the meeting of the supervisory board during which the consolidated financial 
statements are adopted.

sulzemoos, 18 march 2011 
Phoenix solar aktiengesellschaft

on behalf of executive board   on behalf of the supervisory board 
Dr. Andreas Hänel        J. Michael fischl
(Chairman of the executive board)   (Chairman of the supervisory board)
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The power of the sun as a giver of life: Some 400,000,000 
turtle eggs are hatched a year, warmed by the sun on 
the coasts of tropical and sub-tropical oceans. To make 
this potential useful to people as well, Phoenix Solar 
completed a number of ground-breaking photovoltaic 
projects in Oman and Singapore in 2010.

Turtle in the South China Sea of Kota Bahru, Malaysia
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The greatest potential for producing energy through 
photovoltaics is in the earth’s sunbelt within a band 
of up to 35° north and south of the equator.  We 
have already realised a number of flagship projects 
in selected regions – in 2011 it will be building the 
largest solar plant to date in Saudi Arabia.

Photovoltaics has the huge opportunity of becoming one of the most important 
energy  technologies  in many  sunny  regions of our world by 2030. The  rapidly 
developing economies in Asia, for instance, will be using an increasingly large pro-
portion of the global energy requirements in the next 20 years. Moreover, many 
countries have comparatively high electricity prices. 

flaGShiP ProjectS in SinGaPore 
Back in 2009, Phoenix Solar equipped Singapore’s Changi Airport with a rooftop 
photovoltaic plant, making it the first commercial airport in South East Asia with a 
power plant of this type. Another flagship project is the solar power plant on the 
new company building of equipment supplier Applied Materials. The power plant 
has a peak power of around 400 kW. The 32,000 square metre production centre 
has been given the Green Mark Platinum award by the national building and con-
struction Authority.

malaYSia oPtS for reneWable enerGieS
Wherever the need for energy is growing, there is also an interest in photovoltaics. 
Under the National Renewable Energy Policy and Action Plan, electricity produced 
from renewable energies is to be raised from 1 percent to 5.5 percent by 2015 in 
Malaysia. Malaysia’s Ministry of Energy therefore plans to introduce feed-in tariffs 
for photovoltaic plants as from 2011. 

<  Turtle in the South China Sea of Kota Bahru, Malaysia

is the electricity yield 
of the photovoltaic 
plant which Phoenix 
Solar has been com-
missioned to build by 
the Saudi Arabian Oil 
Company in 2011.

3.5 MWp

Saudi arabia is a country where conditions for solar power plants are 
ideal. We are delighted to be building the largest ground-mounted 
plant to date and will use our know-how to support the introduction of 
renewable energies into the Gulf region to the best of our ability.

Klaus Friedl, General Manager of Phoenix Solar l.l.C.

see p. 50



Expertise in building 
solar power plants – 
power plant built  
on the rooftop of  
Singapore’s Changi 
Airport.

Phoenix Solar not only set up a new company in Malaysia in 2010, but has also 
realised its first projects: A rooftop power plant on the factory building of a pho-
tovoltaics component manufacturer in Penang is producing 169 kWp with CIGS 
thin-film modules. Another rooftop power plant, completed in 2009, was built on 
the new headquarters of the Energy Commission of Malaysia in Putrajaya.

PhotovoltaicS on itS WaY to the GUlf StateS
When  the  world’s  largest  oil  producing  company  wants  to  invest  in  renewable 
energies,  our  system  know-how  is  in  demand.  Phoenix  Solar  built  test  facilities 
with sophisticated measurement technology on the property of the Saudi Arabian 
Oil Company in Dhahran on the east coast of Saudi Arabia. This will be a source 
of sound expertise which will be incorporated into future photovoltaic projects in 
the Middle East.

A first outstanding example is the largest solar power plant in Saudi Arabia with 
3.5 MWp built on the land where King Abdullah Petroleum Studies and Research 
Center  (KAPSARC)  is  currently  under  construction,  close  to  the  capital  of  Riad. 
Phoenix Solar won the project in an international bidding process at the start of 
2011 and will plan and complete the power plant by the end of September.
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Scenarios for installed photovoltaic capacity in South East Asia until 2030 in GWp

Source: A.T. Kearney, October 2010
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see p. 77
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summaRy and oveRview

Phoenix solar aG benefited from the worldwide economic recovery in 2010, during which the photo-
voltaic industry also experienced intensive growth. attractive subsidies in key markets and a moderate 
decrease in module prices in the middle of the year helped assure a generally positive market environment.

the core market of Germany was heavily influenced in particular by the unscheduled reduction of sub-
sidy rates under the German Renewable energies act (eeG), the first phase of which entered into force 
on 1 July 2010. as a result of the associated pull-forward effects, the Group’s business performance in 
the second quarter was the strongest in its history. however, the Group’s performance in the second 
half of the year fell short of expectations, due to the correspondingly weaker third quarter and the 
non-occurrence of the otherwise customary end-of-year rally in the fourth quarter, as well as the fur-
ther reduction in remuneration rates under the German Renewable energies act, which took effect on 
1 october 2010. 

developments in the european photovoltaic markets were quite mixed in 2010. attractive subsidy con-
ditions and a positive administrative environment led to strong growth in france and italy. on the other 
hand, the markets of spain and the Czech Republic deteriorated considerably towards the end of the 
year, due to the partially retroactive effects of legislation that provoked a loss of confidence among 
investors. 

amid this partially difficult environment, Phoenix solar achieved further profitable growth. the rev-
enues of euR 636 million generated in 2010 represented a record high for the Group. the proportion 
of total revenues generated outside the home market of Germany reached 25.9 percent in 2010. at euR 
36.4 million, the earnings before interest and taxes (ebit) increased at a faster rate than revenues. 

Phoenix solar anticipates that the importance of the German market will continue to diminish in the
future. in 2011 the company plans to generate a significantly higher share of total Group revenues out-
side of Germany than in financial year 2010. the Group will continue to advance the internationalisation 
of its business. in 2011, Phoenix solar aG expects to generate higher proportions of total revenues in the 
countries of italy, france and Greece, as well as the middle east, asia and the united states.

in terms of revenues, the executive board expects stagnation or a marginal increase in 2011, to be fol-
lowed in 2012 by a stronger growth in revenues and ebit, with the associated continued profitable 
expansion of the Phoenix solar Group.
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1   business aCtivity and fRamewoRk Conditions

1.1  GRouP stRuCtuRe and business aCtivity

1.1.1  LEGAL StRuCtuRE of tHE GRouP 
Phoenix solar is a leading european supplier, and increasingly also a globally active supplier of photo-
voltaic systems. the parent company Phoenix solar aG was formed on 18 november 1999 and was reg-
istered in the Commercial Register of the munich district Court under the hRb no. 129117 on 7 January 
2000. besides the parent company, the Group comprises 11 subsidiaries and eight project companies, 
all of which are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of Phoenix solar aG.

1.1.2  oPERAtInG SEGMEntS AnD oRGAnISAtIon
Phoenix solar aG has its headquarters in sulzemoos, close to munich. the Group’s global activities in 
the areas of finance, personnel, procurement and international logistics, engineering and innovation, 
quality assurance, it and organisational development, marketing and corporate communication are 
centrally managed from this location. furthermore, strategic and business development as well as euro-
pean sales are coordinated by the headquarters in sulzemoos. elements of the Power Plants segment, 
such as power plant construction, operational management and maintenance service (power plant 
maintenance), are located in the ulm office. 

as a leading international photovoltaic systems integrator, Phoenix solar develops, plans, builds and 
operates large-scale photovoltaic power plants. it is also a specialised wholesaler for complete solar 
power systems, solar modules and accessories. the Group operates in the two complementary business 
segments of Components & systems and Power Plants. as a general rule, this division is also observed 
in the subsidiaries, subject to local adjustments. for example, the us subsidiary has only been active in 
the project business to date. 

in addition to supplying individual components for photovoltaic plants, the Components & systems 
segment also develops tailored system solutions, provides planning support and offers logistical and 
other services (such as training and marketing support, for example). the customers of this operating 
segment include resellers and installation companies such as electrical installation companies, retail-
ers and wholesalers of electrical products, heating and sanitation companies, roofers and solar power 
specialists.

in its Power Plants segment, Phoenix solar handles the necessary planning work and the turnkey con-
struction of photovoltaic systems up to the multi-megawatt range, including the subsequent opera-
tional management and maintenance. for sales and marketing purposes, the Power Plants segment 
is sub-divided into the divisions of solar field systems and rooftop systems. the rooftop systems sales 
department acquires orders as a general contractor, through tendering procedures, for example. Cus-
tomers include private individuals, retail companies, industrial companies and trade companies. in its 
solar-field sales department, Phoenix solar mainly serves institutional investors, which are either seeking 
to set up investment fund models or to hold large-scale photovoltaic plants in their own portfolio as 
direct investors.

1.1.3 KEy LoCAtIonS
through its operating subsidiaries, Phoenix solar aG currently operates on four continents. having 
entered the German core market around the end of 1999, the Group has energetically pursued the inter-
national expansion of its business since 2006. the Group’s business in the growth regions in southeast 
asia has been coordinated from singapore for the last five years. furthermore, the Group has maintained 
a subsidiary in australia (adelaide) since 2008. the Group has served the markets of the middle east 
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from oman (muscat) since 2009. in the second half of 2010, Phoenix solar entered the us market (san 
Ramon, California). also in the second half of 2010, it entered the malaysian market (kuala lumpur); 
that country is expected to introduce a feed-in tariff modelled on the German example in the current 
financial year. 

as of the reporting date, Phoenix solar was also represented by european subsidiaries in spain (madrid), 
italy (Rome), Greece (athens) und france (lyon). in addition, Phoenix solar maintains representative 
offices in the Czech Republic (brno) and bulgaria (sofia).

Revenue share of subsidiaries in % of consolidated revenues

Phoenix solar s.l., madrid, spain 3.7

Phoenix solar s.r.l., Rome, italy 3.9

Phoenix solar e.P.e., athens, Greece 0.9

Phoenix solar sas, lyon, france 3.6

Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore, singapore 0.3

Phoenix solar Pty. ltd., adelaide, australia 0.0

Phoenix solar l.l.C., muscat, oman 0.0

Phoenix solar incorporated, new Castle/delaware, usa 0.0

Phoenix solar sdn bhd, kuala lumpur, malaysia 0.0

1.1.4  MAnAGEMEnt AnD SuPERvISIon 
the executive board of Phoenix solar aG develops the Group’s business strategy, in consultation with 
the supervisory board. the business strategy is reviewed annually and adjusted to reflect the dynamic 
development of the solar power market and the rapid changes in the market introduction programs of 
photovoltaic products and systems. Phoenix solar pursues the goal of being able to serve a market that 
is not dependent on state subsidies at the earliest possible time.

the divisional responsibilities of the individual executive board members are described in section G, 
note (42) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. the individual tasks of executive board 
members and the cooperation among them are governed by the executive division of responsibilities 
plan and by internal rules of procedure, both of which are adopted by the supervisory board. the exec-
utive board monitors key developments in the managerial divisions on a regular basis and makes deci-
sions on relevant issues. in addition to exercising their divisional responsibilities, the individual members 
of the executive board are also represented on the supervisory bodies of the subsidiaries in the united 
states and singapore.

the supervisory board of Phoenix solar aG, which is composed of six members, advises the executive 
board and supervises its activities and decisions. to that end, the supervisory board has established an 
audit Committee, a Personnel Committee and a nominating Committee, each of which is composed of 
three supervisory board members.

the members of the executive board receive a fixed salary, which is subject to an annual review, and 
a variable compensation component, which is tied to personal and quantitative goals. as of 2010, the 
executive board and supervisory board have agreed to set the goals to be fulfilled for the quantitative 
variable compensation component on the basis of a representative peer group. for that purpose, the 
performance of Phoenix solar aG will be compared with that of roughly 20 competitors on the basis of 
the key indicators of revenues and ebit (earnings before interest and taxes).
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the members of the supervisory board receive a fixed annual salary, which is higher for the Chairman 
and vice Chairman. in addition, the supervisory board receives a variable compensation component, 
which is determined on the basis of the company’s ebit performance in the last three years (based on 
the separate financial statements of Phoenix solar aG prepared in accordance with the German Com-
mercial Code). in addition, supervisory board members receive attendance fees and reimbursement of 
their expenses.

CoMPEnSAtIon REPoRt

Basic principles of the compensation system for the Executive Board and Supervisory Board  in 
accordance with section 315 (2) (4) of the German Commercial Code (hGb), the basic principles of the 
compensation system applied for setting the total compensation of the executive board and supervi-
sory board of Phoenix solar aG, as prescribed in section 314 (1) (6) hGb, are presented in the following 
Compensation Report. the Compensation Report accords with the provisions of the executive board 
Compensation disclosure act (vorstoG) and the recommendations of the German Corporate Govern-
ance Code. it details the itemised compensation granted to individual members of the executive board 
and supervisory board.

Executive Board  the compensation of executive board members is composed of a fixed component that 
is not dependent on success and a variable component that is dependent on success. by that means, the 
individual executive board members are rewarded for their performance and success, also in considera-
tion of the company’s economic position and success. the granting of stock options represents an addi-
tional component with a long-term incentive effect, in alignment with the Group’s future performance.

in financial year 2010, the total compensation of executive board members was composed of the non-
success-dependent components and the success-dependent components described below.

the non-success-dependent components include a monthly base salary, the provision of a company 
car conformant with the Company Car Guideline, which can also be used for private purposes, and the 
assumption of a premium for an accident insurance policy that primarily covers accidents on the job, 
but also covers liability in the private sphere. furthermore, an additional expense of euR 188 thousand 
was incurred in connection with a no-competition clause agreed between mr. bächler and Phoenix 
solar aG in relation to his resignation from the executive board. the no-competition clause has a term of 
one year and the corresponding amount will be paid in twelve monthly instalments.

in connection with the implementation of the German executive board Compensation act, the Group 
revised the rules applicable to success-dependent compensation components in 2010. as a general 
rule, a dual system comprising both personal, qualitative goals and company-specific, quantitative 
goals is applied. to ensure that the compensation system is appropriately geared to long-term success, 
long-term incentives were installed in the form of an ebit hurdle for the quantitative goals and a bonus 
index system based on a multiplier concept. the ebit hurdle protects the interests of investors by stipu-
lating that a bonus will be paid only if the adjusted ebit is appropriate relative to the total compensation 
costs of the executive board and supervisory board. the bonus index is applied to calculate the recom-
mended disbursement levels of target bonuses on the basis of the indexed operating performance of 
exchange-listed companies and their principal business segments. as a result, earned bonuses are paid 
on two different due dates. the first instalment is paid in the first half of the subsequent year and the 
second instalment is usually paid in the first half of the year following the subsequent year, provided 
that the ebit hurdle is met in the subsequent financial year; if the ebit hurdle is not met, the second 
instalment can be carried forward by one year, but will be forfeited in the second subsequent year if the 
ebit hurdle is not met in the following year. 
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the components with a long-term incentive effect consisted of 48,000 options to purchase shares of 
Phoenix solar aG. the fair value of each stock option at the grant date was euR 13.912. by reason of the 
resignation from the executive board of mr. bächler as of 31 december 2010, his stock options expired 
at the close of the reporting date.

the number of stock options granted was determined on the basis of the executive board’s perform-
ance and the fulfilment of the adopted goals. the subscription price is calculated as the average closing 
share price on the xetra trading platform over the five trading days preceding the grant date. the stock 
options can be exercised only two years after the grant date (“vesting period”). thereafter, they can 
be exercised within a period of four years after expiration of the vesting period (“exercise period”). as 
another condition, the closing price of the company’s share in the first year of the exercise period must 
be 40 percent higher than the subscription price on ten consecutive trading days. thereafter, the share 
price must be 20 percent higher in each year of the exercise period. the stock options, which are meas-
ured at fair value, are presented as components with a long-term incentive effect. 

the total compensation granted to the five-member executive board in financial year 2010 amounted 
to euR 2,391 thousand (Py: euR 1,822 thousand). this compensation is presented on an individually 
itemised basis in the table below:

non-success-
dependent  

components 

k€

Success- 
dependent  

components

k€

Components  
with a long-term  

incentive effect  
(no payment in 2010)

k€

total

k€

dr. andreas hänel
176 

(175)
171
(45)

139
(162)

486
(382)

manfred bächler
348

(169)
120
(41)

125
(162)

593
(372)

dr. murray Cameron
140

(140)
127
(29)

125
(162)

392
(331)

sabine kauper
163

(148)
154
(41)

139
(162)

456
(350)

ulrich Reidenbach
171

(165)
154
(60)

139
(162)

464
(387)

total
998

(797)
726

(215)
667

(810)
2,391

(1,822)

(Prior-year figures in parenthesis)

no pension commitments have been extended to members of the executive board. in case of death, 
compensation will be paid to the survivors for a period of six months. 

for more information on the change-of-control clauses contained in the executive board contracts and 
the corresponding compensation promised in the event of a premature departure from the executive 
board, please refer to our comments in section 1.3 Report pursuant to section 315 (4) hGb.
no loans were extended to members of the executive board.

Supervisory Board  the compensation of the supervisory board was set and resolved by the annual 
general meeting of 7 July 2006, in accordance with article 11 of the company’s articles of association. 
the compensation is composed of fixed, non-success-dependent components and variable, success-
dependent components; therefore, it is appropriately aligned with the workload of the individual mem-
bers of the supervisory board and the economic position of the company.
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a) non-success-dependent compensation 
Compensation of euR 5,400 was paid to each member of the supervisory board for their work in finan-
cial year 2010. the compensation granted to the Chairman of the supervisory board is three times higher 
and that granted to the vice Chairman is one and a half times higher than the compensation granted 
to the other members of the supervisory board. as ancillary benefits, the company pays the premiums 
for the accident insurance of supervisory board members. each supervisory board member receives an 
attendance fee of euR 500 for each attended meeting of the supervisory board and its committees.

every member of the supervisory board additionally receives a fixed annual compensation of euR 1,500 
for his activity on one or more committees of the supervisory board. the chairman of each committee 
receives twice that amount. if the chairman of a committee is also the Chairman or vice Chairman of the 
supervisory board, he receives the additional fixed compensation for activity on one or more commit-
tees of the supervisory board without increases.

b) success-dependent compensation 
the members of the supervisory board additionally receive an annual bonus, based on the ebit pre-
sented in the separate financial statements of Phoenix solar aG, which are prepared in accordance with 
German commercial law. the bonus is euR 750 for each euR 1 million of the average ebit over the last 
three years. also in this case, the supervisory board Chairman receives three times that amount and the 
vice Chairman receives one and a half times that amount. the compensation of the supervisory board 
does not include a component aligned with the long-term success of the Group.

there are no consultant contracts between the company and members of the supervisory board. fur-
thermore, supervisory board members did not receive any loans from the company.

the total compensation granted to the supervisory board in 2010 amounted to euR 305 thousand 
(Py: euR 214 thousand). the itemised compensation granted to individual members of the supervisory 
board is presented below (net figures, excluding value-added tax):

Compensation  
excluding  
value-added tax

non-success- 
dependent  

components

k€

Success-dependent  
components  

(including  
performance bonus)

k€

Components  
with a long-term  

incentive effect 

k€

total

k€

J. michael fischl
28

(24)
63

(40)
0

(0)
91

(64)

ulrich fröhner
(until 16/06/2011)

9
(17)

11
(20)

0
(0)

20
(37)

oliver Gosemann
(since 16/06/2011)

12
(0)

12
(0)

0
(0)

24
(0)

dr. torsten hass
(since 16/06/2011)

10
(0)

12
(0)

0
(0)

22
(0)

ulrich th. hirsch
(until 16/06/2011)

8
(14)

16
(14)

0
(0)

24
(28)

Prof. dr. klaus höfle
20

(14)
21

(14)
0

(0)
41

(28)

dr. Patrick schweisthal
17

(14)
27

(14)
0

(0)
44

(28)

Prof. dr. thomas Zinser
18

(15)
21

(14)
0

(0)
39

(29)

total
122
(98)

183
(116)

0
(0)

305
(214)

(Prior-year figures in parenthesis)
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1.1.5  IMPoRtAnt PRoDuCtS, SERvICES AnD BuSInESS PRoCESSES 
Phoenix solar offers a broad-based, innovative product portfolio for photovoltaic plants of all sizes. 
therefore, our Group can accommodate the needs of different customers in a flexible and focused man-
ner. the diverse offering comprises solar modules produced by different manufacturers, based on differ-
ent technologies. because the Phoenix Group is not tied to a particular module technology, it can offer 
photovoltaic systems tailored to the needs of individual customers and geared to market developments. 
the Group continually expands its product range through the addition of new technologies and innova-
tive products. Phoenix solar aG was convinced at an early stage that thin-film technologies in particular 
would play a more important role in the market. we were quick to recognise the cost advantages associ-
ated with these technologies and applied those advantages when building our photovoltaic plants. as 
a result, Phoenix solar became one of the leading users of thin-film modules within only a few years.

the Group also possesses extensive expertise in the Power Plants segment, accumulated over many 
years of working in that field. the Group has executed numerous large-scale power plant projects in 
the last few years. in the process, we acquired additional technical expertise in the planning and instal-
lation of large-scale plants, particularly involving the use of thin-film technologies. through intensive 
exchanges with manufacturers, we have been able to further increase the efficiency and profitability of 
solar power plants, so as to effectively respond to cost pressures in the solar power industry.

1.1.6  KEy SALES MARKEtS AnD CoMPEtItIvE ADvAntAGES 
the home market of Germany was the Group’s most important sales market again in 2010. through 
its subsidiaries and representative offices, Phoenix solar aG was also active in the european markets of 
france, italy, spain, Greece, the Czech Republic and bulgaria. since 2010, the Group has also served 
the us market through its newly formed subsidiary in san Ramon, California. furthermore, the Group 
formed a subsidiary in malaysia in 2010, in anticipation of the Grid feed-in act expected to take effect in 
2011. furthermore, Phoenix solar entered the solar power market in the Persian Gulf region by forming a 
subsidiary in oman in 2009. the australian market is served by a subsidiary in adelaide and the Group’s 
subsidiary in singapore serves attractive asian niche markets, such as thailand and the Philippines. 

the Phoenix solar Group has many years of experience in the photovoltaic systems business, based on 
a proven business model. due to the fact that the Phönix solar initiative (an initiative of the bund der 
energieverbraucher e. v., from which the company emerged) entered the photovoltaic market at an 
early stage in 1998, Phoenix solar is thoroughly familiar with the conditions of this market and holds a 
strong market position. those attributes enhance the Group’s competitiveness considerably. in addition, 
the management has cultivated valuable contacts with companies, industry associations and relevant 
research institutions over many years.

Phoenix solar systematically exploits synergies from the combination of its two operating segments, 
especially in the areas of technological expertise, product innovation, cost reduction, reinforcing the 
Group’s procurement position and coordinated demand management. in the last few years, the Group 
has increasingly been able to apply the experience gathered in the Power Plants segment to refine and 
optimise the systems offered in the Components & systems segment. in addition to its own expertise, 
our Group also benefits from its close ties with manufacturers. as a result of these advantages, the 
Group has been able to technically optimise the systems employed and reduce system costs. as another 
advantage resulting from the linkage of its two operating segments, Phoenix solar has been able to 
optimise the procurement volumes for modules and components, thereby assuring more constant pur-
chases from manufacturers and smoothing out demand imbalances between the various segments and 
countries in which the Phoenix Group operates. 
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Competition is further intensified by the rapid pace of change in individual markets, particularly with 
respect to the public policies in effect in the different countries. that trend places high demands on 
the flexibility of all companies operating in the photovoltaic sector. the Phoenix solar Group is well 
equipped for this competition because its business model is focused on photovoltaics and the Group is 
planning to accelerate its expansion into foreign markets. as part of that strategy, the Group also intends 
to continually venture into new markets around the world. in each particular market, Phoenix solar 
collaborates with local sub-contractors, selected on the basis of uniform Groupwide quality standards. 
modules and inverters are likewise subject to stringent quality controls and the Group’s construction 
processes are certified under din en iso 9001 and 14001. 

Phoenix solar also develops its own assembly dollies and mounting systems, some of which are pro-
tected by patents or registered utility models. in connection with the extensive planning and consulting 
services offered by the Group, Phoenix solar has also developed its own planning software for customers.

1.2  manaGement, Goals and stRateGy

1.2.1  IntERnAL MAnAGEMEnt SyStEM 
the overriding goal of the Phoenix solar Group is to increase the company’s value on a systematic 
and sustainable basis. for the purpose of managing, overseeing and monitoring the company’s busi-
ness, we employ a management system based on key performance indicators, accompanied by an 
integrated controlling concept. the key indicators applied for the purpose of managing the business 
of the Phoenix solar Group are ebit and the ratio of ebit to revenues (ebit margin). other managerial 
indicators applied are Return on Capital employed (RoCe) and the working Capital Ratio (ratio of work-
ing capital to revenues).

in addition, the economic success of the Phoenix solar Group is influenced by various non-financial 
performance indicators arising from the requirements of our business model. the fulfilment of the goals 
represented by such non-financial performance indicators is monitored during the year by means of a 
“balanced scorecard”, which covers both financial indicators and non-financial indicators. to monitor 
the company’s performance from the perspective of customers and employees, the company takes into 
consideration non-financial indicators such as customer satisfaction and employee loyalty and assesses 
the fulfilment of the goals adopted for those purposes. for that purpose, overriding Groupwide goals, 
performance drivers, measures and key indicators are adopted in close consultation with the operating 
divisions. the managerial indicators so derived serve as structural early warning signs. 

1.2.2  StRAtEGy
the Phoenix solar Group pursues the strategic objective of securing its position in Germany as a leading 
supplier of photovoltaic systems technology, one that is not bound to specific manufacturers, and to 
continually extend its international position. Phoenix solar strives to become more independent of state 
subsidies, so as to counter the risks inherent in dependency that currently exists. the Group intends to 
achieve that goal primarily by means of cost reductions and innovations in the planning and construc-
tion of systems, through the use of new technologies and by way of increased internationalisation.

to implement this strategy, the company has resolved to take the following steps:

  Continued focus on the core competence of photovoltaic systems technology;
  internationalisation of business activities; 
  Growth in excess of global market growth rates; 
  expanded offering of innovative and competitive photovoltaic modules;
  further reductions in the cost of photovoltaic systems, in order to allow for the lower-cost generation 
of solar power.
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the business model of the Phoenix solar Group is not entirely comparable with those of other exchange-
listed photovoltaic companies because Phoenix solar specialises exclusively in systems technology. in 
the opinion of the management, extending the company’s business model to include other technolo-
gies for generating electricity from renewable energies (such as wind and biomass, for example) or the 
production of inputs for photovoltaic modules would not be commensurate with the company’s goals.

in the opinion of the company’s management, pursuing a business model focused on photovoltaic sys-
tems technology offers the best long-term growth prospects. experts predict strong growth, with average 
annual increases of substantially more than 20  percent, for the global photovoltaic market in the coming 
years. the Phoenix solar Group is well positioned to attain a leading worldwide position in this fast-grow-
ing market. for that reason, the Group will step up its efforts to tap new markets in the coming years.

Phoenix solar strives to achieve growth rates that are higher than the average growth of the worldwide 
photovoltaic market over the long term. to achieve that goal, the Group will have to continually increase 
its market share in the markets it already serves, while also accelerating its international expansion. the 
company’s goal is to systematically increase the proportion of total revenues generated in international 
markets to 65 percent in the year 2013. 

the Phoenix solar Group continuously develops new systems technology solutions and optimises its 
existing systems technology solutions. such efforts are crucial to identifying potential cost reductions 
in photovoltaic plants, so that the company can offer them at lower costs. by that means, the company 
will seek to make its photovoltaic plants economical also in the absence of state subsidies and market 
incentive programs, at the earliest possible time.

1.3  RePoRt PuRsuant to seCtion 315 (4) hGb

as of 31 december 2010, the share capital of Phoenix solar aG amounted to euR 7,372,700. it is divided 
into 7,372,700 no-par bearer shares. all shares are issued and fully paid up. in accordance with article 5 
Para. 5 of the articles of association, shareholders are not entitled to individual physical certificates. the 
bearer shares may be transferred without the company’s consent. all shares are common shares. every 
share conveys equivalent, full co-determination and property rights. every share grants the same rights. 
each share entitles the holder to cast one vote in the annual general meeting. further rights and obliga-
tions of shareholders are set forth in the German stock Corporations act (aktG), particularly sections 
53a et seq. and 118 et seq. aktG.

there are no restrictions on voting rights, nor on the transfer of shares. the company’s executive board 
is not aware of any private-law agreements of this kind between shareholders.

the company is not aware of any shareholders who directly or indirectly hold more than 10 percent of 
the company’s share capital. the company has not received any notices to that effect as required by the 
German securities trading act.

no shares endowed with special rights conveying rights of control have been issued. 

shares under the stock option Plan 2006 are transferred directly to the employee beneficiaries. like 
other shareholders, the beneficiaries can exercise the control rights embodied in those shares imme-
diately, in accordance with the provisions of the German stock Corporations act and the company’s 
articles of association. 
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amendments to the articles of association are subject to the statutory provisions of sections 133, 179 
aktG. in accordance with article 12 Para. 3 of the company’s articles of association, the supervisory 
board is authorised to resolve amendments that only affect the wording. by virtue of the resolutions of 
the annual general meetings of 7 July 2006 and 16 June 2010, the supervisory board is also authorised 
to amend article 5 of the articles of association to reflect the respective utilisation of the Conditional 
Capital 2006, the authorised Capital 2010 and the Conditional Capital 2010. the supervisory board 
is similarly authorised after expiration of the respective authorisation periods and, in the event that the 
Conditional Capital 2010 would not be utilised, after expiration of all conversion and/or warrant periods.

the supervisory board appoints and dismisses executive board members in accordance with the statu-
tory provisions of sections 84 et seq. aktG. the number of executive board members and any alternate 
executive board members is determined by the supervisory board in accordance with article 6 Para. 2 of 
the company’s articles of association.

by resolution of the annual general meeting of 16 June 2010, the executive board was authorised, with 
the consent of the supervisory board and by analogous application of section 186 (3) (4) aktG, to 
purchase treasury shares on one or more occasions, either on the stock exchange or by way of a public 
purchase offer directed to all shareholders, and to sell such treasury shares in conformity with cer-
tain defined conditions. treasury shares may not exceed 10 percent of the company’s share capital, for 
which purpose the actual share capital will be decreased or increased by the stated number of shares to 
be purchased. this authorisation remains in effect until 15 June 2015. 

also by resolution of the annual general meeting of 16 June 2010, the authorised Capital 2006 was 
annulled and a new authorised Capital 2010 was created. under this resolution, the executive board 
is authorised, with the consent of the supervisory board, to increase the company’s share capital by a 
total of up to euR 3,351,250 through the issuance of new bearer shares in exchange for cash or in-kind 
contributions on one or more occasions in the time until 15 July 2015 (authorised Capital 2010). the 
executive board is authorised, with the consent of the supervisory board, to decide on the exclusion of 
the shareholders’ subscription rights. furthermore, the executive board is authorised, with the consent 
of the supervisory board, to adopt the further particulars of each such capital increase and the issue 
terms and conditions. the supervisory board is authorised to amend the wording of the articles of asso-
ciation to reflect the extent of the capital increase. the authorisation was utilised on 13 July 2010 in the 
total amount of euR 670,200, under exclusion of subscription rights. thus, the remaining authorised 
Capital 2010 amounts to euR 2,681,050. 

under the stock option Plan for members of the executive board, members of the senior management 
of Group companies and other selected senior managers and key employees of the Group, which was 
resolved by the annual general meeting of 7 July 2006, 1,800 stock options were exercised in financial 
year 2010. the exercise of stock options increased the number of shares by a total of 18,000 shares. 
additional information on the stock option Plan is provided in the Compensation Report and in section f, 
note (40) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

the company’s share capital can be increased conditionally by an additional amount of up to euR 536,300 
through the issuance of up to 536,300 new bearer shares (Conditional Capital 2006). the conditional 
capital increase will be conducted only to the extent that holders of stock options granted by the com-
pany in the time until 1 July 2011 under the stock option Plan 2006 by virtue of the authorising resolu-
tion of the annual general meeting of 7 July 2006 exercise their stock options and the company does not 
issue treasury shares in settlement of the stock options. the new shares will qualify for dividends from the 
beginning of the financial year for which the annual general meeting will not yet have adopted a resolu-
tion on the utilisation of accumulated distributable profit at the time when the stock options are exercised. 
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the annual general meeting of 16 June 2010 authorised the executive board to issue convertible bonds 
and/or bonds with warrants and to create a Conditional Capital 2010. the authorisation, which is sub-
ject to the consent of the supervisory board, remains in effect until 15 June 2015. under this authorisa-
tion, the subscription right of shareholders can be excluded. the executive board is authorised to issue 
such bonds with a term of no longer than five years that entitle the holder to purchase a total of up to 
2,814,000 bearer shares. the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds or bonds with warrants are 
to be adopted separately, with the consent of the supervisory board.

the contractual terms and conditions of the syndicated loan extended in november 2008 contain an 
agreement pertaining to a change of control arising from a takeover offer. the clause stipulates that 
amounts drawn down under all credit facilities will be due and payable immediately if a person or sev-
eral persons “acting in concert”, who were not previously shareholders of Phoenix solar aG, directly or 
indirectly, would gain control of the company (“change of control”).

as of october 2008, the employment contracts of two executive board members contain change-of-
control clauses governing the termination of their employment in the event of a change of control. 
one of these two executive board members resigned from the company effective 31 december 2010. 
in the events of a change of ownership, a concentration of at least 30 percent of the voting rights in 
Phoenix solar aG with a single shareholder or third party or the conclusion of an affiliation agreement 
with Phoenix solar aG as a dependent company, the remaining executive board member will be enti-
tled, within a period of three months after gaining knowledge of the occurrence of one of the above-
mentioned cases, to cancel his employment contract with advance notice of six months before the last 
day of a month and to resign from his post. in that case, the executive board member will be entitled to 
claim a severance award equal to a maximum of three years of annual base salary and 80 percent of the 
maximum possible variable compensation.

1.4  ReseaRCh and develoPment

aside from improving the performance characteristics and quality of its products, Phoenix solar aG is 
particularly focused on lowering overall system costs. Cost reductions on all levels of the value chain, 
including photovoltaic modules, system components and installation, represent the only way to lower 
the system costs in the manner required by the German Renewable energies act (eeG) or comparable 
market introduction plans through the indirect mechanism of reduced feed-in tariffs.

in addition, Phoenix solar studies the market readiness and future prospects of new or further devel-
oped products on a continuous basis. for that purpose, particular attention is given to factors such as 
technological maturity, cost reduction potential and economic efficiency, against the backdrop of a con-
stantly changing market environment. by that means, the company can identify technological trends 
and developments at an early stage and make appropriate adjustments to the product portfolio of the 
Phoenix solar Group.

the company’s research and development activities are conducted in its technology & innovation 
department, which had five employees as of the reporting date, corresponding to 1.6 percent of the 
Group’s total workforce. including personnel expenses, Phoenix solar invested euR 360 thousand in its 
research and development activities in 2010. 

1.5  oveRview of business develoPments in 2010

1.5.1  GEnERAL EConoMIC ConDItIonS 
the general economic environment in which the Phoenix solar Group conducts its business was 
favoured by the substantial recovery of the global economy in 2010. further repercussions of the inter-
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national financial crisis were blocked by the coordinated measures of central banks. furthermore, the 
imminent funding problems of over-indebted euro zone countries like Greece, ireland, spain and Portu-
gal, as well as the threat to the euro posed by those problems, were averted by means of the so-called 
“rescue shield” in the amount of euR 750 billion.

measured by the change in gross domestic product (GdP), the euro zone experienced moderate eco-
nomic growth of 0.7 percent in 2010; compared to the previous year, however, when the euro zone 
economy contracted by 4 percent, the economic environment improved considerably in 2010. the 
economic situation of the individual euro zone countries was extremely mixed, however. in Germany, 
booming exports and strong domestic demand fuelled growth of GdP 3.6 percent, according to pre-
liminary calculations of the German federal statistical office.

according to preliminary estimates, GdP growth in france and italy was 0.7 and 1.2 percent, respec-
tively, representing a middle range among european economies. Compared to the prior year, however, 
their economies improved markedly, considering the fact that the GdP of both countries contracted by 
4.7 percent in 2009. in the countries of spain and Greece, which are still burdened by high levels of 
government debt, the downward slide that characterised the previous year continued in 2010, albeit 
at a slower rate. according to estimates, spain’s GdP contracted by 0.8 percent and Greece’s GdP by 
0.3 percent in 2010. 

again in 2010, China, india and brazil were the main drivers of global economic growth. according to 
estimates, China’s GdP expanded by 10 percent, india’s by 8.3 percent and brazil’s by 6.5 percent. 

1.5.2  DEvELoPMEntS In tHE PHotovoLtAIC SECtoR
the photovoltaic industry experienced extremely strong growth in 2010. according to preliminary 
industry estimates, worldwide photovoltaic installed capacity increased by an amount between 13 and 
15 Gwp. attractive subsidies in key markets and a moderate decrease of about 10 percent in module 
prices in the middle of the year helped assure a generally positive market environment. as a conse-
quence of strong demand in the first half of the year, especially emanating from the German market, 
supplies of solar modules and inverters were subject to temporary bottlenecks, which then subsided 
during the course of the third quarter.

the production capacities of the photovoltaic industry, especially for polysilicon, solar cells and solar 
modules, were considerably expanded in 2010. the capacity expansion resulted partly from the con-
struction of new manufacturing plants and the modernisation of existing plants and partly also from the 
considerable number of new manufacturers entering the market, in a continuation of the trend observed 
in the previous year. because most of the capacity expansion and market entrants occurred in China, the 
manufacturing centre of gravity of the photovoltaic industry shifted further in the direction of that region.

attractive photovoltaic feed-in tariffs led to strong growth in the photovoltaic markets of italy, the Czech 
Republic and france. according to preliminary estimates, new installed capacity in Germany increased 
by around 7 Gwp, almost double the increase registered in the previous year. the German photovoltaic 
market was affected by substantial pull-forward effects resulting from an unscheduled reduction in 
photovoltaic subsidies, especially in the second quarter. in a sign of reduced demand and also as a result 
of the unusually early and harsh onset of winter, the year-end rally that normally occurs in the fourth 
quarter did not materialise.

according to preliminary estimates, at least, italy was the second strongest photovoltaic market in 2010, 
after Germany, with new installed capacity of 3.8 Gwp. new photovoltaic capacity of more than 1 Gwp 
was installed in the Czech Republic in 2010. france experienced steady growth, with peak output of 
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more than 600 mwp. the Greek market registered only a moderate increase, with new installed capacity 
of 100 mwp. in spain, the photovoltaic market was nearly stagnant, with new installed capacity esti-
mated to be only 80 mwp. the spanish photovoltaic market was restrained particularly by the reduc-
tion in solar subsidies that began at the end of 2008, and the Greek market was adversely affected by a 
dearth of financing options in the wake of the debt crisis. in both countries, market growth was further 
inhibited by administrative hurdles.

it should also be noted, however, that the high growth rates of new photovoltaic capacity in the fast-
growing markets of Germany, france, italy and the Czech Republic have stoked a political debate con-
cerning the level of photovoltaic subsidies in those countries. Particularly in Germany and france, this 
debate ultimately led to unscheduled reductions in feed-in tariffs already in 2010.

1.5.3  PRoCuREMEnt MARKEt
the procurement strategy of the Phoenix solar Group is geared to keeping a generally balanced product 
portfolio in stock, so as to offer a selected range of different module technologies. the individual prod-
ucts are meant to be used for both the Power Plants segment and the Components & systems segment, 
as needed. by this means, the company can optimise its procurement volumes and manage its invento-
ries in the most flexible manner possible.

the supplier base for modules is geographically diversified, consisting of both european manufacturers 
and suppliers from the far east (mainly in China and malaysia), which offer the advantage of lower-cost 
production conditions. with regard to components, Phoenix solar works with most of the well-known 
inverter manufacturers. the company expanded its supplier portfolio substantially again in 2010, add-
ing a total of nine new manufacturers, including four suppliers of modules and five suppliers of compo-
nents. of particular interest is the California-based company miasolé inc., with which we entered into 
a multi-year master agreement in late april 2010. through the year 2013, miasolé will supply Phoenix 
solar with thin-film solar modules based on the innovative new copper-indium-gallium-diselenide 
(CiGs) technology, which are among the most efficient thin-film modules available today.
 
in 2010, Phoenix solar renegotiated the terms of another long-term supply agreement, amending the 
quantities and prices in effect for the year 2011 to reflect changing market conditions.

Generally speaking, the company’s procurement activities developed in accordance with plan in finan-
cial year 2010, despite market conditions that were sometimes difficult. that assessment applies to both 
product availability and procurement prices. the increased number of manufacturers and the balanced 
mix of suppliers from europe, the united states and asia produced positive benefits in 2010.

Phoenix solar did not experience any supply bottlenecks for thin-film modules at any time last year and 
procurement prices were also largely stable. only one manufacturer raised its prices, due to the devel-
opment of the euro exchange rate. by contrast, the procurement prices for crystalline modules rose in 
the second quarter of 2010 and remained on the new, higher level throughout the second half of the 
year. as a result of the strong demand encountered in the months of april to June, some manufacturers 
experienced delivery problems, which were resolved in the following months, however.

the procurement situation relative to components was much more challenging in 2010. the company 
encountered significant supply bottlenecks among manufacturers of inverters already in the first quar-
ter. these problems could not be resolved in the second quarter, leading to delivery delays that lasted 
into the third quarter. the availability of these products did not begin to improve until september 2010. 
Phoenix solar responded to this situation in two ways. first, the company expanded its supplier base, as 
mentioned above; and second, the company placed nearly all its orders for the full year already in the 
first quarter of 2011 because the price risk for inverters is significantly lower than for modules. 
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due to the early onset of winter in the core market of Germany and project delays that lasted into the 
year 2011, the overall level of inventories at the end of 2011 was higher than planned. at euR 149.5 
million (including goods in transit worth euR 33.4 million), inventories reached the highest level in 
the company’s history. if sales opportunities would deteriorate over the course of 2011, accompanied 
by a decline in module prices, the company may have to charge additional value adjustments against 
existing inventories, leading to smaller gross profit margins, in order to offer its products at competitive 
market prices.

1.5.4  SALES MARKEt GERMAny
the development of the German photovoltaic market was heavily influenced by the unscheduled reduc-
tion of subsidy rates under the German Renewable energies act (eeG), the first phase of which entered 
into force on 1 July 2010. in the wake of this adjustment, the feed-in tariffs for private and commercial 
rooftop photovoltaic systems, for example, declined by 13 percentage points. depending on the plant 
size, therefore, the feed-in tariff fell within a range of 25.55 and 34.05 euro cents per kilowatt-hour 
 (ct/kwh). the eeG subsidy of solar field photovoltaic plants was eliminated completely and the subsidy 
rates for large-scale plants with installed capacity greater than 1 mwp were reduced by 8 percentage 
points to 26.15 ct/kwh (conversion fields) or by 12 percentage points to 25.02 ct/kwh (other solar fields).

as a consequence of the legislation under which these subsidy reductions were adopted, the German 
photovoltaic market experienced its strongest growth since the enactment of the eeG in the second 
quarter of 2010. new installed capacity of more than 3.1 Gwp was registered with the German federal 
networks agency, including 2.1 Gwp in June alone. this boom was mainly driven by powerful pull-
forward effects. the market was further stimulated by less restrictive lending practices on the part of 
banks, thereby solving the financing logjam that arose in the first three months of the year relative to the 
financing of large-scale power plants with capacities of more than 1 mwp.

as expected, the German photovoltaic market slowed considerably in the third quarter of 2010, due to 
the vacation season in europe and the unscheduled reductions in feed-in tariffs. in the fourth quarter, 
however, the performance of the German photovoltaic market fell considerably short of expectations 
due to overly high module prices and the early onset of winter in late november, so that the year-end 
rally of prior years, which had been expected by some market participants, did not materialise. the weak 
market conditions were further exacerbated by the second step of eeG subsidy reductions, which took 
effect on 1 october 2010, under which feed-in tariffs were reduced by another 3 percent in all segments.

by contrast, the subsidy rates for self-consumed solar power were improved in 2010. the new subsidy 
applies to rooftop systems with peak capacities of up to 500 kilowatts (kwp); the exact amount of the 
subsidy depends on the percentage of total electric power generated that is consumed by the producer. 
it remains to be seen, however, whether this measure will lead to a higher proportion of photovoltaic 
systems with self-consumption meters, especially in view of the fact that the new subsidy rate, which 
was initially adopted only for the period until 31 december 2011, may or may not be extended beyond 
that date.

1.5.5  SALES MARKEt IntERnAtIonAL
developments in the european photovoltaic markets were extremely mixed in 2010. in france and italy, 
attractive subsidy conditions and a positive administrative environment promoted the stability of pho-
tovoltaic markets and fostered strong growth. the Greek market was again hindered by delays in financ-
ing, permits and grid connections. the market conditions in spain and the Czech Republic worsened 
considerably towards the end of the year, due to legislative changes, some of which were retroactive in 
their effect, which provoked a loss of confidence among investors. 
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in france, an improved photovoltaic subsidy regime entered into effect in January 2010. among other 
things, the new regime features higher feed-in tariffs for non-building-integrated photovoltaic systems 
greater than 250 kwp in those administrative divisions (known as departments) that receive less solar 
radiation. in addition, a new system category was introduced for building-integrated photovoltaic sys-
tems, for which a feed-in tariff of 42 ct/kwh was adopted. the new feed-in tariffs for solar field photo-
voltaic systems range from 31.4 to 40.0 ct/kwh, depending on the administrative district and system 
capacity. the new subsidy terms were originally supposed to remain in effect through the year 2012. 
effective 1 september 2010, however, all feed-in tariffs with the exception of systems with capacities of 
less than 3 kwp were subjected to a special, one-time reduction of 12 percentage points. in addition, 
a three-month moratorium was imposed at the end of 2010, during which period no systems with a 
capacity greater than 3 kwp were approved. nonetheless, the french tariff system still offers attrac-
tive conditions, and therefore the french photovoltaic market can be expected to experience sustained 
growth in the foreseeable future. 

in Greece, a law was enacted in June 2010 that simplifies the subsidy approval process for commercial 
photovoltaic plants. in addition, this law also improves the subsidisation of non-commercial rooftop sys-
tems up to a capacity of ten kilowatts, which could have positive effects on the market outlook for this 
market segment in the future. on the other hand, the hold-up in subsidies resulting from administrative 
delays exerted a negative effect on the Greek photovoltaic market in 2010. 

after the new round of massive cuts to the photovoltaic subsidy program, conditions in the spanish 
market are very difficult. on 24 december 2010, a law was published that requires all operators of exist-
ing plants to pay a grid fee of 50 ct/mwh. furthermore, the number of generating hours was limited by 
different amounts, depending on defined zones, for the next three years; in return, the period of feed-in 
remuneration was extended from 25 to 28 years. this law, which will have a significant impact on the 
further growth of photovoltaic systems in spain, led to a further loss of confidence in the promises made 
by the spanish government and provoked great uncertainty among investors.

in the Czech Republic, which registered the strongest photovoltaic growth in 2010 after Germany and 
italy, the market situation changed dramatically at the end of the year. first, the time period allowed 
for breaking ground on systems that do not fall under the reformed legislation was moved up from 
december to november 2010; second, a reform law was enacted that imposes a retroactive tax of 26 
percent on all income from the feed-in tariff. these measures had the effect of fundamentally shaking 
investor confidence. it remains to be seen if this market will ever again offer sustainable potential for 
photovoltaic systems in the future.

by contrast, the situation was considerably more positive in Great britain, where the subsidy conditions 
for photovoltaic systems were changed with effect as of 1 april 2010. as per statutory order, the maxi-
mum plant size was limited to 5 mwp for purposes of the existing feed-in regulations. as a result of this 
act and the attractive feed-in rates, a growable market for operating photovoltaic systems could arise in 
Great britain in the future.

1.5.6  CoMPARISon of foRECASt wItH ACtuAL BuSInESS PERfoRMAnCE In 2010 
on 7 July 2010, shortly after the publication of the specific wording of the adjustments made during the 
year to the German Renewable energies act (eeG), the executive board of Phoenix solar aG announced 
its forecast for financial year 2010. the forecast called for consolidated revenues within a range of euR 
660 and euR 700 million and consolidated ebit within a range of euR 36 and euR 40 million. the fore-
cast percentage of revenues to be generated in international markets was approximately 20 percent. 



064 Phoenix solaR aG   |   annual RePoRt 2010manaGement RePoRt on the GRouP

the considerably flatter business performance in the third quarter could not be completely made up by 
the end-of-year spurt that has customarily occurred in prior years. therefore, the annual revenues of euR 
636 million were slightly less than forecast. on the other hand, the 25.9 percent of total revenues gener-
ated in the Group’s international markets exceeded expectations. thanks to stable gross profit margins 
in the trading and project business, as well as modified expenditure policies, the ebit of euR 36.4 million 
fell within the forecast range.

forecast 2010 
 € m

Actual 2010 
€ m

Revenues Group 660 – 700 636

international revenues 130 – 140 165

international share 20 % 25.9 %

EBIt 36 – 40 36.4

1.5.7  SIGnIfICAnt EvEntS In tHE fInAnCIAL yEAR 2010 
Inauguration of Singapore’s biggest thin-film photovoltaic plant  on 13 april 2010, our subsidiary 
Phoenix solar Pte. ltd. (singapore) finished building singapore’s biggest photovoltaic plant based on 
thin-film modules, with a capacity of 380 kwp, on the new corporate headquarters of applied materials 
inc. the building was inaugurated on the same day and singapore’s building authority honoured it with 
the “Green mark Platinum” medal, in recognition of its green building design.

Construction of three solar parks for KGAL in Germany and Italy  we announced on 19 may 2010 
that Phoenix solar aG would build three photovoltaic power plants with a total peak capacity of roughly 
21 mw, including two solar parks in italy and one solar park in moos, near würzburg, for kGal Gmbh 
& Co. kG. with a peak capacity of 15.8 mw, the solar park in moos was the biggest that Phoenix solar 
had built until that time. 

Capital  increase  under  Authorised  Capital  2010  on 13 July 2010, Phoenix solar aG successfully 
conducted a capital increase, making partial use of the authorised Capital 2010 and excluding the 
shareholders’ subscription rights. in total, the company issued 670,200 new no-par bearer shares for 
a placement price of euR 32.00 per share. the gross issue proceeds amounted to euR 21,446,400. the 
proceeds will be used to finance the company’s planned business growth and further internationalisa-
tion. the new shares qualify for dividends as of 1 January 2010.

Market entry in Malaysia  in mid-september 2010, Phoenix solar Pte. ltd. formed a subsidiary based in 
kuala lumpur (malaysia), which will primarily develop and build turnkey photovoltaic plants for solar 
fields and rooftop systems. the new subsidiary will also offer photovoltaic island systems and building-
integrated solar power plants.

Personnel change in the Executive Board  effective 31 december 2010, manfred bächler, who had 
been Chief technology officer, resigned from the company’s executive board for personal reasons. the 
management divisions for which mr. bächler had been responsible were assigned to other members of 
the executive board. in particular, executive board Chairman dr. andreas hänel has assumed responsi-
bility for the technology division.

1.5.8  SHARE PRICE 
a description of the development of the company’s share price in 2010, along with other key indicators 
and information related to the share of Phoenix solar aG, can be found in the section on the Phoenix 
solar share.
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2   Results of oPeRations, Cash flows and finanCial Position

2.1  Results of oPeRations

HIGHLIGHtS
  Revenues increased by 34.4 percent to euR 635.7 million 
  ebit nearly tripled to euR 36.4 million 
  ebit margin improved from 2.6 percent to 5.7 percent 

2.1.1  DEvELoPMEnt of EBIt

development of ebit 2006 – 2010 in € m

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

33.8

12.2

36.4

22.3

4.8

despite a market environment that was sometimes difficult, especially in the second half of 2010, the 
Phoenix solar Group generated revenues of euR 635.7 million, thereby surpassing the record prior-
year figure by euR 162.7 million or 34.4 percent. the ebit for 2010 was 198.4 percent higher than the 
corresponding figure for 2009, indicative of a substantially greater increase than the revenue growth 
achieved in 2010. Consequently, the ebit margin, which is one of the company’s key indicators for man-
agerial purposes, more than doubled from 2.6 percent in the prior year to 5.7 percent in 2010. at euR 
24.1 million, the consolidated net profit for 2010 was 180.2 percent higher than the prior-year figure.

2.1.2  AnALySIS of REvEnuES

development of revenues 2006 – 2010 in € m

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

403

473

636

260

119



066 Phoenix solaR aG   |   annual RePoRt 2010manaGement RePoRt on the GRouP

the Group’s revenue performance in 2010 was heavily influenced by strong revenues in the first half 
of the year. especially in the second quarter, the core market of Germany was stimulated by powerful 
pull-forward effects resulting from the unscheduled reduction in photovoltaic subsidies, to take effect 
halfway through the year. the Group’s total revenues of euR 364.0 million in the first half were 138.7 
percent higher than the corresponding year-ago figure. because the otherwise customary end-of-year 
rally did not materialise in the fourth quarter, as a result of lower demand and the unusually early and 
harsh onset of winter, the revenues of euR 271.7 million generated in the period from July to december 
2010 fell short of the corresponding year-ago figure (July to december 2009: euR 320.5 million). 

at euR 164.5 million, the Group’s international revenues accounted for 25.9 percent of total revenues 
and were nearly six times higher than the corresponding prior-year figure (euR 27.6 million). an amount 
of euR 119.8 million, representing three quarters of the full year’s international revenues, was generated 
in the second half of 2010. in Germany, on the other hand, the company generated most of its revenues, 
or 67.8 percent to be exact, in the first half of the year. at euR 471.2 million, total domestic revenues 
were 5.8 percent higher than the prior-year figure (Py: euR 445.4 million). 

the revenues contributed by all the international subsidiaries combined accounted for 12.5 percent of 
the Group’s total revenues. 

the Components & systems segment contributed euR 368.4 million or 58.0 percent of total revenues. 
the revenues generated in this segment were 23.2 percent higher than the corresponding prior-year 
figure (euR 299.0 million). the Power Plants segment contributed euR 267.2 million or 42.0 percent of 
total revenues. the revenues generated in this segment were 53.6 percent higher than the prior-year 
figure of euR 174.0 million. 

in financial year 2010, the Phoenix solar Group sold modules representing a total capacity of 110.8 
mwp in its Power Plants segment and additional modules representing a total capacity of 202.4 mwp in 
its Components & systems segment.

2.1.3  SItuAtIon of oRDERS
as of 31 december 2010, total orders on hand amounted to euR 158.3 million, as compared to euR 
296.1 million at 31 december 2009. this amount includes euR 134.9 million worth of orders that have 
already been filled (Py: euR 61.8 million). the Power Plants segment accounted for 85.2 percent of total 
orders on hand. at euR 71.8 million, domestic business accounted for 45.3 percent of orders on hand. 
orders on hand in the international business amounted to euR 86.5 million, representing 55 percent of 
total orders, as of 31 december 2010. 

the currently low level of orders on hand can be attributed to the debates and uncertainties concerning 
subsidy programs in various markets, which have caused investors to take a wait-and-see attitude, as 
well as the reduced level of demand that was clearly evident at the end of 2010. 

2.1.4  DEvELoPMEnt of KEy ItEMS of tHE InCoME StAtEMEnt 
Changes in inventory  the change in inventories amounted to euR 0.2 million in financial year 2010 
(Py: euR - 16.9 million). as of 31 december 2010, the item of inventories included two projects in italy 
and france (euR 0.2 million) for which the commencement of construction work had been moved up. 
the only costs incurred to date are costs of developing the construction site.

other operating income  the other operating income of euR 4.8 million consisted mainly of electricity 
income (euR 1.3 million), income from the reversal of provisions (euR 1.5 million) and a value-added tax 
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refund for a permanent business establishment (euR 1.1 million). the other operating income for 2010 
was euR 0.9 million higher than the corresponding prior-year figure (euR 3.9 million).

Purchased goods and services/gross profit  at euR 554.4 million, the purchased goods and services 
were 33.8 percent higher than the prior-year figure (Py: euR 414.4 million). as a percentage of rev-
enues, purchased goods and services declined from 87.6 percent in 2009 to 87.2 percent in 2010. as a 
percentage of total operating performance, purchased goods and services declined even more, from 
90.8 percent in 2009 to 87.2 percent in 2010. expressed as a percentage of the Group’s total operating 
performance, the gross profit margin improved from 9.2 percent in 2009 to 12.8 percent in 2010. 

an especially positive effect resulted from a temporary adjustment of procurement prices under a long-
term supply contract with a module manufacturer, which has been done since financial year 2009 to 
adapt the prices to reflect current market conditions. the cost of modules purchased from this manufac-
turer was lowered significantly by means of appropriate supplementary contracts, thereby improving 
the company’s gross profit margin.

Personnel expenses  the Phoenix solar Group continued to pursue its long-term growth strategy with 
firm resolve in financial year 2010; in that connection, the Group continued to invest in the expansion 
of its personnel capacities. in total, the Group hired 80 new employees, including 19 in its international 
subsidiaries. that represents a 29.0 percent increase over the workforce as of year-end 2009. as of 31 
december 2010, therefore, Phoenix solar had a total of 356 employees (excluding temporary workers 
and freelance workers).

as a result of this considerable increase in the Group’s workforce, personnel expenses rose by 47.5 
percent to euR 23.6 million (Py: euR 16.0 million). Consequently, the ratio of personnel expenses to 
revenues increased from 3.4 percent in the prior year to 3.7 percent in 2010.

the average number of employees (including members of the executive board) in 2010 was 313 (Py: 
240). Revenues per full-time equivalent (fte) came to euR 1,995 thousand in financial year 2010 (Py: 
euR 1,974 thousand).

Depreciation and amortisation  depreciation and amortisation of intangible assets and property, plant 
and equipment increased from euR 0.7 million in 2009 to euR 1.1 million in 2010. because the business 
model of the Phoenix solar Group entails only a small level of asset intensity, the item of property, plant 
and equipment consists mainly of operational and office equipment and leasehold improvements in the 
company’s business premises.

other operating expenses  at euR 25.3 million, the other operating expenses were 50.6 percent higher 
than the corresponding prior-year figure (Py: euR 16.8 million). this development resulted primarily 
from the stepped-up international expansion.

the parent company incurred higher costs compared to the prior level, particularly in the areas of 
recruitment (euR 0.8 million), expenses for freelance employees (euR 0.4 million), outward freight (euR 
1.1 million), legal and consulting expenses (euR 1.1 million) and travel expenses (euR 0.6 million). the 
personnel expenses of the subsidiary in the united states amounted to euR 0.6 million. 

Result from associated companies  Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG b1, in which Phoenix solar 
aG holds a 31.2 percent equity interest, has been accounted for at equity as an associated company 
since financial year 2009. the percentage of this company’s profit that accrues to the Phoenix solar 
Group amounted to euR 58.1 thousand in financial year 2010 (Py: euR 17.8 thousand).
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financial result  Compared to the prior year (euR - 1.2 million), the financial result decreased by euR 1.1 
million to euR - 2.3 million in 2010. financial income, which consisted mainly of interest income on cur-
rent accounts and call money deposits, declined from euR 0.4 million to euR 0.2 million. the financial 
expenses of euR 2.5 million (Py: euR 1.7 million) consisted mainly of guarantee fees (euR 0.4 million) 
and interest expenses on the amounts drawn down from short-term credit facilities (euR 1.3 million) on 
the level of the parent company.

tax rate  the stated expenses for income taxes for the period from January to december 2010 amounted 
to euR 10.0 million (Py: euR 2.4 million), corresponding to a tax rate of 29.3 percent (Py: 21.8 percent).

Consolidated profit  as a result of the substantially higher revenues, which were approximately 34 
percent higher than the prior-year figure, and the ebit of euR 36.4 million, the Group’s consolidated 
profit in 2010 improved to euR 24.1 million, nearly three times higher than the consolidated profit for 
2009 (euR 8.6 million). based on the average 7,372,700 shares outstanding in 2010, the basic earnings 
per share amounted to euR 3.44 (Py: euR 1.28). because no significant diluting factors were in effect as 
of 31 december 2010, the diluted earnings per share are only slightly different from the basic earnings 
per share.

2.1.5  DEvELoPMEnt of tHE BuSInESS SEGMEntS 
Components & Systems (domestic and international)  as a result of the wintry weather conditions in 
Germany and in the other core markets of europe, the Components & systems segment generated only 
weak revenues in the early part of the year, as in prior years. by contrast, the second quarter was char-
acterised by booming demand, under the influence of powerful pull-forward effects resulting from the 
premature reduction in German feed-in remuneration rates, which took effect as of 1 July 2010. market 
demand cooled off considerably in the second half of the year, especially in Germany, and the traditional 
end-of-year rally was rather weak, due to the early onset of winter.

at euR 368.4 million, the revenues generated by the Components & systems segment in financial year 
2010 rose by 23.2 percent (Py: euR 299.0 million). accordingly, the distribution business contributed 
58.0 percent of the Group’s total revenues (Py: 63.2 percent). at euR 278.8 million, the revenues gen-
erated in Germany were nearly unchanged from the prior year (euR 280.3 million). thus, the revenue 
growth of the Components & systems segment occurred in the international markets, in which the 
Group generated revenues of euR 89.7 million in 2010, as compared to euR 18.8 million in 2009. 

as of 31 december 2010, orders on hand amounted to euR 23.4 million, as compared to euR 183.6 
million in the prior year. orders on hand in the international business rose to euR 6.6 million (Py: euR 
0.4 million). in Germany, on the other hand, orders on hand were still rather low, at euR 16.8 million 
(Py: euR 183.2 million). 

Power Plants (domestic and international)  after a rather weak revenue performance in the prior year, 
the Power Plants segment increased its revenues by 53.6 percent to euR 267.2 million in 2010. thus, the 
Power Plants segment accounted for 42.0 percent of the Group’s total revenues. at euR 74.8 million, the 
revenues generated in the international business represented 28.0 percent of total segment revenues, 
that being considerably higher than the euR 8.9 million or 5.1 percent of segment revenues generated 
internationally in 2009. in Germany, the Power Plants segment generated revenues of euR 192.4 mil-
lion, representing 72.0 percent of total segment revenues (Py: euR 165.1 million or 94.9 percent). the 
development of domestic revenues was held back by the unscheduled reductions in subsidy rates under 
the German Renewable energies act (eeG), which will continue to have an adverse effect on supply and 
demand in Germany in the future as well.
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including orders which the Group had already begun to execute, orders on hand in the Power Plants 
segment amounted to euR 134.9 million as of the reporting date (Py: euR 112.5 million); excluding 
orders which the Group had already begun to execute, orders on hand amounted to euR 19.0 million 
(Py: euR 50.7 million). at euR 55.0 million, orders on hand in the domestic business were lower than in 
2009 (euR 84.3 million); at euR 79.9 million, orders on hand in the international business were consid-
erably higher than the prior-year figure of euR 28.2 million. 

2.2  Cash flows

2.2.1  BASIC PRInCIPLES AnD oBJECtIvES of fInAnCIAL MAnAGEMEnt
the financial policy and financial management system of the Phoenix solar Group are closely aligned 
with the Group’s growth objectives. the overriding goal of the Group’s financial policy is to ensure that 
the Group disposes of sufficient financial reserves to meet its payment obligations at all times. Prefer-
ence is given to internal financing, as opposed to borrowing, for the purpose of providing necessary 
financial resources in a timely and cost-efficient manner. another key objective is to manage working 
capital with the highest possible degree of precision.

as a general rule, Phoenix solar aG conducts the Group’s financial management activities on a central-
ised basis, so as to minimise financing costs and observe the conditions of loan covenants. the financial 
management system is based on a multi-year financing plan and a rolling three-month liquidity plan, 
which is updated on a weekly basis. the central treasury department is responsible for planning, man-
aging and monitoring financial risks in the interest of protecting the Group’s operating performance.

suitable hedging instruments are employed to hedge against possible exchange rate risks under long-term 
supply agreements for modules, especially in relation to the Japanese yen and the us dollar. such hedging 
activities are always conducted in respect of underlying transactions, never for speculative purposes.

a detailed description of interest rate hedging activities and default risk can be found in section f, note 
(39) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

2.2.2  fInAnCInG AnALySIS
in 2008, the Phoenix solar Group entered into a syndicated loan agreement for euR 150 million for the 
purpose of financing its working capital requirements and to secure greater liquidity protection for the 
Group. the loan agreement has a term of three years, until 19 november 2011. the credit facility can 
be utilised in the form of both cash drawdowns and guarantees. the loan agreement entails additional 
clauses known as covenants, the fulfilment of which is monitored on a continuing basis, as are the main 
factors influencing the fulfilment of the covenants.

the Group took out another credit facility for euR 20 million, with a term until 30 June 2011, to provide 
interim financing for a power plant project.

in addition to the syndicated loan facility, the Group also disposes of additional guarantee lines in the 
amount of euR 42.5 million, bringing the total available credit line, excluding the above-mentioned 
interim financing credit facility, to euR 192.5 million. of that total, the Group had utilised an amount of 
euR 116.6 million as of year-end 2010. the syndicated credit facility is limited in time until 19 november 
2011, while the additional guarantee facilities are in effect until further notice.

at euR 9.6 million, the cash and cash equivalents of the Phoenix solar Group as of 31 december 2010 
were euR 14.9 million less than the prior-year-figure (31 december 2009: euR 24.5 million), whereas 
current financial liabilities in the amount of euR five thousand seven hundred rose to euR 52.6 million. 
the Group’s solvency was assured at all times in the past financial year.
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development of cash flows from operating activities 2006 – 2010 in k€ 

- 23,628

21,583

- 84,498

4,788

- 14,907 2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2.2.3  CASH fLow fRoM oPERAtInG ACtIvItIES 
the cash flow from operating activities in financial year 2010 was negative, at euR - 84.5 million (Py: 
positive cash flow of euR 21.6 million). this figure includes interest paid and income taxes withheld in 
the amount of euR 14.6 million (Py: euR 6.4 million). this development resulted from changes in work-
ing capital, specifically in the area of inventories and receivables, which exerted a pronounced negative 
effect on the cash flow from operating activities in 2010. Greater liquidity was tied up in the form of 
heightened start-up costs related to the preparation and construction of larger power plants. 

2.2.4  CASH fLow fRoM InvEStInG ACtIvItIES 
at euR - 2.8 million, the cash flow from investing activities was little changed from 2009 (euR - 3.1 million). 
this figure is mainly composed of customary acquisitions of tangible noncurrent assets such as opera-
tional and office equipment, motor vehicles and low-value assets. in addition, the Group continued to 
invest in intangible assets, including, for example, additional licenses related to the project for introducing 
an eRP solution (eRP = enterprise Resource Planning), which was launched in financial year 2009.

2.2.5  CASH fLow fRoM fInAnCInG ACtIvItIES 
the cash flow from financing activities of the Phoenix solar Group was positive in 2010, at euR 72.5 
million, as compared to the negative figure of euR - 1.6 million in 2009. the main factors contributing 
to this development were the capital increase, which led to net proceeds of euR 21.1 million, and the 
borrowing of current financial liabilities in the amount of euR 52.6 million.

2.2.6  CAPItAL EXPEnDItuRES, DEPRECIAtIon AnD AMoRtISAtIon 
information on the development of noncurrent assets is provided in Chapter d of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, and particularly in the statement of Changes in noncurrent assets 
presented therein (see note (15)).
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Changes in noncurrent assets for 2010 and prior year

2010 Balance as of 
01/01/

Acquisition and production costs Balance as of 
31/12/Acquisitions  

in the  
financial year

k€

Disposals  
in the  

financial year
k€

Currency  
translation

k€ k€k€

internally generated intangible 
assets 29 0 0 0 29

intangible assets 2,887 1,747 0 0 4,634

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 533

Property, plant and equipment 4,157 1,141 159 11 5,150

total noncurrent assets 7,606 2,888 159 11 10,346

2009 Balance as of 
01/01/

Acquisition and production costs Balance as of 
31/12/Acquisitions  

in the  
financial year

k€

Disposals  
in the  

financial year
k€

Currency  
translation

k€ k€k€

internally generated intangible 
assets 29 0 0 0 29

intangible assets 1,161 1,739 13 0 4,634

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 533

Property, plant and equipment 2,642 1,518 8 5 4,157

total noncurrent assets 4,365 3,257 21 5 7,606

2.3  finanCial Position

2.3.1  StRuCtuRE of ASSEtS AnD CAPItAL 
as of 31 december 2010, the total assets of the Phoenix solar Group amounted to euR 313.3 million, 
indicative of a substantial increase of almost 72 percent, or euR 131.1 million, over the corresponding 
figure as of 31 december 2009 (euR 182.2 million).

at euR 10.9 million, noncurrent assets were slightly higher, by euR 1.6 million, than the prior-year fig-
ure, mainly due to acquisitions of intangible assets (euR 1.4 million) and property, plant and equipment 
(euR 0.4 million).

Current assets rose by euR 129.5 million to euR 302,4 million. this increase occurred primarily in the 
item of inventories, which rose by euR 80.4 million to euR 149.5 million, due to project delays into the 
year 2011 and the early onset of winter in the core market of Germany. necessary value adjustments 
were charged against inventories to account for the expected lower sales proceeds. Receivables due 
from customers (receivables under long-term construction contracts and trade receivables) rose from 
euR 65.6 million as of year-end 2009 to euR 113.4 million as of year-end 2010, due to the strong revenue 
growth experienced in 2010. in addition, the category of other assets (financial and non-financial) rose 
by euR 16.7 million to euR 24.8 million. significant decreases occurred only in the category of cash and 
cash equivalents, which declined by euR 14.9 million to euR 9.6 million. 

as of 31 december 2010, the equity of the Phoenix solar Group amounted to euR 142.4 million, indica-
tive of an increase of euR 45.1 million over the corresponding figure as of year-end 2009 (euR 97.3 
million). this increase resulted in part from the consolidated profit for the year in the amount of euR 
24.1 million and in part from the capital increase conducted in mid-July under partial utilisation of the 
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authorised Capital 2010, which raised gross issue proceeds of euR 21.4 million. in consideration of the 
now substantially higher amount of total assets, the equity ratio as of 31 december 2010 was 45.5 per-
cent (31 december 2009: 53.4 percent).

the increase in debt capital from euR 85.0 million to euR 170.9 million resulted primarily from the devel-
opment of current financial liabilities, which amounted to euR 52.6 million as of 31 december 2010 
(31 december 2009: euR 5.7 thousand). of that amount, euR 52.6 million consisted of liabilities due 
to banks, which serve the purpose of financing working capital. other items experiencing significant 
increases were trade payables, which rose by euR 32.8 million to euR 84.5 million, due to the height-
ened level of construction activity under power plant projects at the end of the year. tax liabilities, on 
the other hand, declined by euR 3.3 million to euR 6.3 million.

Concise cash flow statement for 2010 and prior years

2010
k€

2009
k€

2008
k€

2007
k€

2006
k€

Consolidated profit/loss before 
income taxes 34,148 10,934 33,446 21,572 4,972

Cash flow from operating activities - 84,498 21,583 - 23,628 4,789 - 14,907

Cash flow from investing activities - 2,832 - 3,064 - 2,459 - 1,537 - 1,016

Cash flow from financing activities 72,457 - 1,593 19,620 - 420 7,022

net change in cash and cash  
equivalents - 14,873 16,926 - 6,465 2,831 - 8,900

Concise statement of financial position for 2010 and prior years

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

k€ % k€ % k€ % k€ % k€ %

Assets

noncurrent assets 11,762 3.8 9,346 5.1 5,333 4.2 5,331 6.9 3,145 5.8

Current assets 301,529 96.2 172,886 94.9 122,43 95.8 71,771 93.1 50,864 94.2

total assets 313,291 100.0 182,232 100.0 127,763 100.0 77,102 100.0 54,009 100.0

Equity and liabilities

equity 142,429 45.5 97,264 53.4 89,311 69.9 47,326 61.4 33,346 61.7

noncurrent liabilities and  
provisions 5,346 1.7 3,083 1.7 2,307 1.8 4,089 5.3 758 1.4

Current liabilities and provisions 165,516 52.8 81,885 44.9 36,145 28.3 25,687 33.3 19,905 36.9

total equity and liabilities 313,291 100.0 182,232 100.0 127,763 100.0 77,102 100.0 54,009 100.0

the solid liquidity of Phoenix solar aG was also confirmed externally by the ratings agency Credit Risk 
monitor inc., new york, which assesses the company’s credit quality on a continuing basis. in connec-
tion with its assessments, this agency has consistently given Phoenix solar its highest score of 10 since 
april 2010. that means, the probability of insolvency on the part of Phoenix solar aG is not higher than 
0.11 percent over a twelve-month period.

2.3.2    ASSEtS not RECoGnISED In tHE StAtEMEnt of fInAnCIAL PoSItIon AnD off-BALAnCE SHEEt 
fInAnCInG InStRuMEtnS 

the company has no off-balance sheet financing instruments.

2.3.3  notES on CoMPAny ACQuISItIonS 
no companies were acquired in financial year 2010. 
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3   emPloyees

again in 2010, our employees made an invaluable contribution to the growth and successful conduct 
of our business. we consider our employees to be a crucial success factor amid an increasingly com-
plex market environment. employee satisfaction, entrepreneurial spirit and identification with Phoenix 
solar as an employer are extremely important to us; therefore, those attributes form the basis for all our 
employee programs, now and in the future. 

despite the considerably stiffer competition in the labour market, Phoenix solar successfully expanded 
its workforce again in 2010, so as to accommodate the growing volume of business. as of 31 december 
2010, the Phoenix solar Group had a total of 356 employees (excluding freelance workers and tempo-
rary workers), 80 more than at the end of 2009. in Germany, the company hired 61 new employees 
(members of the executive board, permanent employees and temporary workers) and our international 
subsidiaries added a total of 19 employees. thus, the Group’s international workforce increased by 49 
percent, considerably higher than the increase within Germany (26 percent). this development resulted 
in part from the fact that the Group’s existing international subsidiaries expanded their business further 
and also in part from the formation of new companies outside of Germany. also in financial year 2011, 
we intend to recruit more employees internationally, in order to press forward with the Group’s inter-
nationalisation plans. 

3.1  voCational tRaininG and ContinuinG eduCation

the sustained increase in the Group’s workforce requires forward-looking personnel planning. for that 
reason, we further increased the number of vocational training positions available within the company 
in 2010. thus, Phoenix solar provided vocational training to nine young people in five different voca-
tions in 2010 (Py: six). all vocational trainees were offered and accepted permanent positions with 
the company upon completion of their vocational training programs. in addition, we offered a large 
number of internships and master’s degree thesis topics for university students and further intensified 
our university marketing activities. 

aside from the vocational training provided to young people, Phoenix solar also places a high priority 
on the continuing education of its experienced employees and managers. Phoenix solar offers them the 
opportunity to further develop their professional and personal capabilities. to that end, our employees 
can make use of a wide range of internal training courses, as well as external continuing education facili-
ties and coaching programs, depending on their respective goals. the Phoenix Competence Centre, 
which coordinates professional employee development in close consultation with the managers of all 
departments, plays a crucial role. the Phoenix Competence Centre also develops suitable continuing 
education programs and provides advice and support in matters of training contents and methodology. 
in addition, Phoenix solar launched a Groupwide knowledge management program in 2010, so as to 
secure specialised expertise and conceptually process it for dissemination within the company.

3.2  CoRPoRate CultuRe and PeRsonnel stRateGy

the corporate culture of Phoenix solar is rooted in the tremendous dedication of every employee, 
the style of personal interaction with each other and the diversity of our employees. in 2010, we had 
employees from more than 20 nations, from all age groups and from a wide range of different back-
grounds. as of 31 december 2010, women accounted for 33 percent of the company’s workforce and 
more than 20 percent of the company’s managers. despite the massive growth of the last few years and 
constantly changing organisational structures, we have successfully preserved the “Phoenix spirit” and 
quickly integrated the large number of new employees. the Phoenix Competence Centre has played 
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a crucial role in those efforts. to ensure the continuation of this success in the future, Phoenix solar 
aligned its personnel strategy even more closely with its business strategy in 2010. in the future, even 
greater emphasis will be placed on employee-centred issues at Phoenix solar. our goal for the coming 
years is to make our company one of the most attractive employers in the photovoltaic industry. we 
intend to achieve that goal by means of the following steps, among others: 

  treating all employees with openness and respect; 
  Providing interesting and challenging work activities; 
  identifying development potential and actively supporting career advancement steps; 
  Paying compensation that is competitive in the market and geared to the employee’s performance; and
  supporting change processes in a transparent and proactive manner.   

the executive board of Phoenix solar aG wishes to thank all employees for their hard work and tremen-
dous dedication in 2010.

4   enviRonmental PRoteCtion and soCial enGaGement

the Phoenix solar Group strives for sustainable business development in its international activities. thus, 
we accept responsibility for the company and its employees, shareholders and customers. sustainable 
management practices help us avoid risks and take advantage of opportunities in the development of 
our business. by that means, we seek to create competitive advantages and secure the long-term suc-
cess of Phoenix solar. we respect international human rights as a company and employer. we always 
seek to protect the environment, as our most precious resource. 

4.1  PRoduCts, seRviCes and suPPlieR RelationshiPs

throughout the world, the Phoenix solar Group distributes only products, the use of which contributes 
to climate and environmental protection. Photovoltaic systems generate electrical energy from sunlight. 
they are virtually silent and do not emit pollutants. thus, no carbon dioxide (Co2) is released into the 
environment from the operation of a photovoltaic plant. therefore, photovoltaic systems are an impor-
tant element of an energy mix that is geared to the reduction of Co2 emissions. solar power systems 
generate enough energy to compensate for the energy required to manufacture them in three to five 
years of operation, depending on the module technology employed; after that, they produce a positive 
energy footprint. based on the current standard, photovoltaic plants can be expected to operate for 
more than 30 years.

in building large-scale photovoltaic power plants, the Phoenix solar Group fulfils and monitors all 
nature and environmental protection requirements set forth in the land-use plans. in fact, the Group 
over-fulfils environmental standards. for example, the assembly frame used to build solar field systems 
does not require a cement foundation. Consequently, no land is sealed over and it can be used for other 
purposes once the plant has been completely dismantled, leaving no residues. we observe the building 
standards of the nature and biodiversity Conservation union in Germany (nabu) and the German solar 
industry association (bsw).

the Power Plants segment of Phoenix solar aG was certified under din en iso 9001:2008 (Quality man-
agement system) and din en iso 14001:2005 (environmental management system) for the first time in 
december 2009. thus, Phoenix solar meets the highest industry standard. furthermore, we extended, 
upgraded and optimised our processes during the course of financial year 2010. the annual follow-up 
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audit was conducted both internally and externally, by an outside monitoring institution. the audit 
demonstrated that the relevant standards have been implemented and are effective in the company’s 
power plant building activities. in connection with the “health safety environment Procedures” for 
international projects, Phoenix solar plans to expand its management system and introduce the interna-
tional standard ohsas 18001 (occupational health and safety assessment series) in 2011. in addition, 
sub-contractors that perform construction work for Phoenix solar aG must also prove that they employ 
a quality assurance process and appropriate occupational health and safety measures.

suppliers with which the company maintains long-term cooperation relationships are selected on the 
basis of criteria that go beyond product quality to also include the manufacturing process, working 
conditions and corporate governance. when module shortages arise, however, it is not always possible 
to enforce all the criteria. supply paths and delivery intervals are analysed also from the perspective of 
reducing Co2 emissions. nearly all the module manufacturers with which Phoenix solar collaborates 
either participate in professional take-back programs for photovoltaic modules (Pv CyCle) or have insti-
tuted their own take-back programs. these programs guarantee the acceptance of used products even 
if the manufacturer would no longer be in business.

accessories for the complete systems of Phoenix solar are pre-manufactured in two workshops that 
employ severely handicapped persons in the areas of dachau and fürstenfeldbruck.

4.2  inteRnal enviRonmental PeRfoRmanCe

the Phoenix solar Group places the highest priority on the responsible and sustainable use of energy 
and raw materials in its day-to-day business. at all the company’s operating locations, garbage is sorted 
on the basis of strict criteria, with most of it sent for recycling. but even greater care is taken to avoid 
waste in the first place.

at the German locations in sulzemoos and ulm, where 270 employees worked in 2010, electricity 
for the company’s own use is purchased from a certified eco-electricity vendor. at least 90 percent 
of this supplier’s electricity mix is generated from renewable energies and no more than 10 percent 
derives from highly efficient, natural gas-powered co-generation plants. all of the company’s offices are 
equipped with modern, energy-efficient equipment. the power supply to all office equipment can be 
shut off from a central control panel, so as to avoid unnecessary stand-by power consumption at night 
and on the weekend.

the sulzemoos location consumed roughly 180,000 kilowatt-hours of energy in financial year 2010. as 
the number of employees continues to grow, the company’s energy consumption can be expected to 
increase as well. however, Phoenix solar is continually implementing new measures to keep the energy 
consumption per person to the lowest possible level. the environmental performance indicators will be 
measured and analysed on an annual basis in the future.

the building in sulzemoos has been heated by means of a wood chip-fuelled thermal power plant since 
march 2007. in 2009, moreover, the company put into service an air conditioning system that draws its 
cooling energy from existing ground wells at the location, which cannot be used for any other purpose. 

the company uses environmentally compatible building materials, for the most part, in new construc-
tion and renovations of its office buildings. the materials used must be certifiably environmentally 
compatible and meet ecological criteria. for example, the lumber used for such purposes must be pur-
chased from sustainable local forestry companies. the insulation used inside the buildings is made of 
cellulose fibres or flax.
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the Groupwide motor vehicle fleet is required to meet guidelines relative to cylinder capacity, fuel 
consumption and Co2 emissions. in addition, the company’s drivers are trained to reduce fuel con-
sumption. Phoenix solar fared very well in a nationwide comparison of the Co2 emissions of company 
car fleets conducted by the environmental aid association deutsche umwelthilfe. in a comparison of 
the company cars driven by Chief executive officers, Phoenix solar aG had the most environmentally 
friendly car in 2010. we plan to add more electric cars to our existing motor vehicle fleet. a charging sta-
tion available to both employees and guests was put into service on the company’s grounds in decem-
ber 2010. a first electric car was delivered in January 2011, to be used as a pool car. the company plans 
to purchase additional electric cars during the course of 2011.

Phoenix solar also takes steps to reduce its paper consumption. in addition, we apply great care in 
selecting the paper we use in all our printed materials, including the annual report and our catalogues, 
for example. Paper manufacturers must bear the seal of the forest stewardship Council (fsC). this seal 
is a reliable sign that the paper was produced in accordance with responsible forestry practices. it must 
be demonstrated, moreover, that the paper products were not mixed with non-certified, untraceable 
wood or paper at any stage of the processing and distribution chain.

aside from paper quality, Phoenix solar also places demands on the environmental compatibility of the 
printing process. after conducting a tender procedure, the company selected a new printing company 
in 2010, one that is both fsC-certified and capable of producing print products in a climate-neutral man-
ner; furthermore, it conducts its operations in a manner that is demonstrably environmentally friendly. 
since that time, Phoenix solar has placed nearly all its printing orders with this company. in addition, 
Phoenix solar procures most of its basic office supplies from an ecologically oriented distributor.

4.3  soCial enGaGement

the environment, renewable energies and photovoltaics are the focal points of the social engagement 
activities of Phoenix solar aG. through our donations, we mainly support organisations that aid chil-
dren and young people in the regions of fürstenfeldbruck and dachau. in addition to the financial 
assistance we provide to youth athletic associations, we also support projects like the “youth mobile” 
of the dachau kreisjugendring and the nationwide educational project “haus der kleinen forscher”, the 
aim of which is to teach science and technology to pre-school children in a playful, hands-on manner. 
furthermore, Phoenix solar has supported the mekaela academies in kenya by donating a photovoltaic 
system with a capacity of 20 kwp, which supplies the lulu high school and its dormitory with environ-
mentally friendly electricity.

Phoenix solar aG plans to publish its first environmental and social Report in financial year 2011.

5   GeneRal assessment of the CuRRent eConomiC situation 

5.1  manaGement’s assessment of the eConomiC situation

the situation in the German market, which is still our most important sales market, deteriorated markedly 
over the course of 2010. after an unusually strong second quarter, the unscheduled reductions in feed-in 
rates that took effect as of 1 July and then again as of 1 october 2010 caused the market to slow down 
considerably in the second half of the year. as a result, industry analysts again downgraded their forecasts 
of new photovoltaic capacities to be installed during the year 2010. those estimates are currently around 
7 Gwp, which would nonetheless represent a doubling of new installed capacity compared to 2009.
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despite the difficult market conditions, the Phoenix solar Group performed very well in 2011, posting 
new record values in its key performance indicators. both business segments contributed to the Group’s 
positive development, laying a strong foundation for future growth. Phoenix solar also laid the ground-
work for the planned further international expansion of its business by forming subsidiaries in malaysia 
and the united states.

as expected, the Group’s business development has been restrained in the first two months of the cur-
rent year, as the demand for building photovoltaic plants is traditionally subdued in the winter months. 
as the wintry conditions subside, we expect the demand for photovoltaic systems to pick up consider-
ably around the start of the second quarter 2011.

5.2  estimate-sensitive aCCountinG methods

Certain estimates and assumptions need to be made for the purpose of presenting the company’s finan-
cial position, cash flows and results of operations on the basis of ias/ifRs financial reporting standards. 
such estimates and assumptions are made to the best of our knowledge and belief, so as to present the 
most realistic view of the economic situation of Phoenix solar aG as of the reporting date. 
 
estimates and assumptions that can be especially relevant to the financial position, cash flows and 
results of operations of Phoenix solar aG relate to the following matters, in particular: 

  stage of completion and total costs in connection with the percentage-of-completion method;
  saleability of module inventories;
  deferred tax assets to be recognised in respect of tax loss carry-forwards;
  necessity of recognising impairment losses (estimation of expected sale proceeds in 2011);
  measurement of financial instruments; 
  Recognition and measurement of provisions and/or contingent liabilities.

more detailed information on the legislative environment and the possible effects on the presentation of 
the Group’s financial position, cash flows and results of operations can be found in section a, note (2) 
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

6   events afteR the RePoRtinG date 

6.1  imPoRtant events afteR the RePoRtinG date

in a press conference held on 20 January 2011, the German federal minister for the environment, dr. nor-
bert Röttgen, and the President of the German solar industry association, Günther Cramer, announced an 
accelerated reduction in the photovoltaic subsidy rates under the German Renewable energies act (eeG), 
to take effect as of 1 July 2011. this reduction, which had originally been planned for the beginning of 2012, 
can be anywhere from 3 to 15 percent, depending on the level of market growth in the period from march 
to may 2011. if the full-year estimate for 2011 points to market growth of less than 3.5 Gwp, however, the 
next adjustment of subsidy rates will take place as of the originally planned date of 1 January 2012.

on 14 february 2011, Phoenix solar announced that its subsidiary in oman, Phoenix solar l.l.C., will 
build a solar park with a peak capacity of 3.5 mw for saudi arabian oil Company (saudi aramco). the 
new solar park, to be located close to the saudi arabian capital of Riyadh, is expected to be completed 
by the end of september 2011. 
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6.2   Possible effeCts of these events on the Results of oPeRations, Cash flows and 
finanCial Position of the GRouP

at the time of the present annual Report, the computation basis for the accelerated reduction in photo-
voltaic subsidy rates cannot be estimated reliably. at this early stage, therefore, the effects of the acceler-
ated reduction on the results of operations, cash flows and financial position of the Phoenix solar Group 
cannot be quantified reliably. nonetheless, the company has carefully studied the associated opportuni-
ties and risks and resolved to step up considerably the expansion of its international business, also in the 
current financial year 2011. by that means, the Group will seek to make its business even less dependent 
on the German market.

the activities of the subsidiary Phoenix solar l.l.C. in saudi arabia are integrally related to the Group’s 
business strategy and are proceeding according to plan.

7   RePoRt on oPPoRtunities and Risks 

7.1  manaGement of oPPoRtunities and Risks

7.1.1  PoLICy on oPPoRtunItIES AnD RISKS
the goal of our policy on opportunities and risks is to assure the continued operation of the Phoenix 
solar Group as a going concern and to systematically and sustainably increase the company’s value. 
in accordance with these basic principles, business decisions are always made only on the basis of a 
detailed analysis and assessment of the associated risks. because all business activity necessarily entails 
opportunities and risks, the Group’s risk strategy covers both elements. in the areas of our core compe-
tence, therefore, we consciously take on manageable, assessable risks when the income to be generated 
by assuming such risks is appropriate. we avoid risks in all other areas, as a matter of principle.

7.1.2  RISK AnD oPPoRtunIty MAnAGEMEnt SyStEM
the Group’s risk and opportunity management system is designed to identify individual risks, present 
them in a transparent manner and determine ways of managing them appropriately. aside from risks 
that would endanger the company’s continued operation as a going concern, we also monitor those 
activities, events and developments that could have a significant influence on the Group’s future busi-
ness success. the corresponding goals and procedures and the division of responsibilities within the risk 
management system are documented in the Risk management handbook of Phoenix solar aG.

in connection with the strategy process, we analyse the company’s strengths and weaknesses within 
the market environment, also by means of benchmark analysis, and identify ways of exploiting optimi-
sation potential and sales opportunities. for more information on this subject, please refer to our com-
ments in section 1.2 “management, Goals, strategy” and in section 8.7 “opportunities in the business 
segments”. in that regard, we are guided by the goal of simplifying our processes, so as to achieve bet-
ter results more quickly and efficiently. we employ an instrument known as the “balanced scorecard” 
for the purpose of managing and evaluating the measures taken to exploit opportunities. we employ 
the same instrument for the purpose of recognising undesired developments in the implementation of 
the Group’s business strategy, as a means of detecting risks at an early stage.
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using a standardised risk inventory, a defined group of employees with bearing responsibility for risks 
in interface functions reports all existing risks, newly detected risks and potential risks to the Risk man-
ager on a regular basis. each such risk is classified according to the criteria “probability of occurrence”, 
“potential loss amount” and “ability to influence”. the Risk manager analyses, assesses and docu-
ments all such risks at regular intervals of time and keeps both the Risk officers and the executive board 
informed. the Risk officers review the risk assessment and adopt appropriate counter-measures. the 
Risk manager then communicates these measures to all relevant organisational units and to the persons 
bearing responsibility for risks. 

insurance policies are maintained, to the extent they are available and economically tenable, to mini-
mise the financial repercussions of a potential loss. the extent and amount of such insurance policies are 
reviewed on a regular basis.

7.1.3   IntERnAL ContRoL AnD MAnAGEMEnt SyStEM RELAtIvE to tHE ConSoLIDAtED fInAnCIAL 
REPoRtInG PRoCESS 

our internal control and risk management system relative to the (consolidated) financial reporting proc-
ess is designed to ensure that the Group’s accounting system is uniform and conformant with applica-
ble laws and regulations, German generally accepted accounting principles und international financial 
Reporting standards (ifRs). the objective of this control system is to provide reasonable assurance that 
the consolidated financial statements are prepared correctly, in conformity with all applicable laws, 
regulations and guidelines. that goal is achieved by means of various control and review mechanisms, 
including plausibility checks and the strict application of the dual control principle on all levels of the 
company.

the task of the internal control system is to identify key risks and monitor the measures implemented to 
counteract them. to that end, key elements such as process descriptions, job descriptions and alternate 
representation arrangements are reviewed by different entities, including the internal audit function, to 
verify that they are complete and up-to-date, using a risk control matrix for that purpose.

in addition to automated system controls, we also conduct manual controls and analytical audit activi-
ties, with due consideration given to the respective control environment and the relevance of the given 
accounting matters to the information provided in the financial statements.

the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements is based on uniform, Groupwide 
accounting policies. the Group companies first prepare their separate financial statements in accord-
ance with the national laws and regulations applicable to them; they then convert their local financial 
statements to what are called the “Commercial financial statements ii”, drawn up in accordance with 
ifRs, and submit the corresponding data to Corporate accounting in a uniform, predefined format 
(“reporting package”). Corporate accounting uses this data to perform the consolidation measures. 
Group companies are required to observe Groupwide accounting policies and are responsible for the 
adequate and timely conduct of their accounting-related processes and systems. Corporate accounting 
supports the Group companies throughout the entire accounting process. 

7.2  RePoRt on Risks Related to finanCial instRuments

a detailed description of the risks related to financial instruments is provided in section f, note (39) of 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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7.3  siGnifiCant Risk aReas

7.3.1  IntERnAtIonAL EXPAnSIon 
Phoenix solar aG takes advantage of opportunities to establish a foothold in international markets, also 
through its worldwide network of subsidiaries, in order to achieve its growth goals by generating a 
higher proportion of its business in international markets.

the further expansion of the Phoenix solar Group, including project development and the construc-
tion of photovoltaic power plants in foreign countries in particular, entails considerably higher risks 
than those associated with the Group’s business in Germany. such risks relate primarily to develop-
ment expenses and times and to the completion of photovoltaic power plants. especially in the case of 
increased activities in new markets, therefore, project delays and cost overruns compared to the origi-
nal, deliberately conservative plans cannot be ruled out.

in addition, the formation of new subsidiaries in foreign countries heightens the need for local man-
agers. that necessarily entails longer integration and acclimatisation times, during which optimal 
effectiveness still needs to be developed. furthermore, an expansion of the company’s business into 
countries beyond the european union entails considerably higher risks arising from legal and political 
aspects. Generally speaking, there is also a risk that the potential of foreign markets could be misjudged, 
with the result that the company would become involved in foreign markets with very little potential. 
such risks are difficult to assess and can lead to unforeseen cost burdens.

7.3.2  PoLItICAL fACtoRS 
the condition and development of national photovoltaic markets are promoted or impeded to varying 
degrees by the laws and regulations in force. in the case of laws designed to create long-term economies 
of scale, such as the German Renewable energies act, every reduction in feed-in remuneration rates that 
cannot be offset by lower-cost procurement prices or lower sales prices lowers the achievable return of 
new photovoltaic plants, which reduces the attractiveness of such plants for potential buyers. Radical 
changes in the legislative framework could restrict further market growth or even cause markets to con-
tract, which would endanger the continued operation of the company as a going concern. in order to 
mitigate the risks associated with dependencies on individual markets, Phoenix solar aG systematically 
pursues a strategy of internationalisation. by that means, the company also counters the risks associ-
ated with the ongoing debate concerning further cut-backs under the German Renewable energies act, 
which can be expected to have adverse effects on the development of the German market, which is still 
the most important market for Phoenix solar aG.

7.3.3  MARKEt, CoMPEtItIon AnD EXtERnAL fACtoRS 
Global population growth and the rising demand for energy in emerging-markets and developing 
countries are leading to higher global energy demand. that trend, coupled with the projected scarcity 
of fossil fuels, will cause the price of fossil fuels to rise, creating a situation that is conductive to the 
expanded use of regenerative energy sources, which is an important opportunity for solar industry 
companies like Phoenix solar aG.

a favourable effect can be expected to result from the continuous reduction of the costs of generating solar 
power, to be achieved through technical innovations in modules and components and through the exploi-
tation of purchasing advantages arising from the bundling of procurement volumes within the Group.

Rising interest rates reduce the return of photovoltaic plants, which tend to be financed through bor-
rowing to a considerable extent. if interest rates remain high for a longer period of time, that could 
dampen investors’ interest in financing photovoltaic power plants.
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another factor affecting the availability of credit to finance photovoltaic power plants is the more restric-
tive lending practices of banks, which have become more risk-averse. this trend is causing considerable 
delays, in some cases, in the execution of planned projects. it can also be expected, moreover, that the 
process of finding suitable investors will become more difficult and time-consuming. if the financing 
promised to investors in photovoltaic power plants cannot be verified in accordance with plan, Phoenix 
solar reserves the right to keep the corresponding power plants temporarily in its own portfolio and sell 
them to other investors, in consideration of all possible consequences. 

if lengthier delays would occur in the process of selling large photovoltaic plants, leading to delayed 
cash flows, that could pose a risk to the liquidity management efforts of Phoenix solar aG. the Group 
counters such risks by means of active working capital management and by employing funds from 
bridge financing facilities.

the strong expansion of the Group’s business engenders high capital needs. the Phoenix solar Group 
conducts rigorous liquidity controlling to limit the risk of liquidity shortfalls that could result from varia-
tions in future cash flows. to secure the Group’s medium-term financing needs, moreover, Phoenix solar 
took out a syndicated credit facility with a term of three years in financial year 2008. if the covenants 
associated with this loan are not fulfilled, the lending syndicate would be entitled to cancel the credit 
facility. the term of the existing loan agreement expires in november 2011. negotiations on renewing 
the syndicated loan were begun in february 2011. as part of those negotiations, the Group is seeking 
to integrate the us subsidiary into its financing structure. if, contrary to expectations, the syndicated 
loan cannot be renewed by the end of november 2011, the Group’s business strategy would have to be 
adjusted or the need for liquidity satisfied by alternative financing instruments.

7.3.4  PRoCuREMEnt
due to the considerable lead times in production and the long delivery routes, especially for modules 
and inverters, procurement decisions need to be made at an early stage. however, the inherent volatility 
of the Group’s sales markets, which is exacerbated in some cases by persistent political debates concern-
ing changes to feed-in remuneration rates, makes it considerably more difficult to plan purchases of 
necessary goods at the exact time they will be needed. if errors of judgment are made in this process, 
therefore, the Group could end up with insufficient inventories or excessively high inventories. for that 
reason, the trend of weakening demand, especially in the German market as a result of the anticipated 
changes under the German Renewable energies act as of mid-2011, which would lead to lower remu-
neration rates, poses the risk of higher inventories. 

in addition, the higher level of inventories presented in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Phoenix solar Group as of 31 december 2010 poses a potential risk for financial year 2011. in considera-
tion of the weak demand conditions that are normally in effect at the beginning of the year, resulting in 
a low level of new orders, the Group cannot expect to reduce these inventories quickly. furthermore, 
both the general market trend and the trend of module prices are currently difficult to predict. if prices 
would decline suddenly and quickly, Phoenix solar would be compelled to charge appropriate value 
adjustments against its inventories, in order to offer its products at market prices. such a development 
would have negative effects on the Group’s cash flows, financial position and results of operations.

to secure an appropriate supply of modules, Phoenix solar has maintained a long-term supply contract 
with a module manufacturer for many years. if the parent company would be obligated under that con-
tract to meet minimum purchase obligations at below-market prices, without being able to resell the 
delivered components at prices higher than its own procurement costs, that would have a substantially 
negative effect on the results of operations, cash flows and financial position of the Group. furthermore, 
if the Group’s contract partners would prove to be insufficiently flexible in renegotiating long-term con-
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tracts, the existing module supply contracts could become so onerous for Phoenix solar that it would 
have to recognise provisions for that purpose.

7.3.5  LEGAL AnD tAX ASPECtS 
in the fourth quarter of 2009, the competent tax authorities began to conduct a routine tax audit of 
Phoenix solar aG for the period from 2005 to 2008. this tax audit, which is still being conducted, could 
lead to financial risks for the Group.

7.3.6  BuSInESS StRAtEGy RISKS 
the constantly growing competition by module manufacturers and energy utilities in the power plant 
business poses the risk that Phoenix solar would only be able to offer partial services in this area or that 
it would be pushed out of the market, in full or in part, thereby eliminating part of the company’s value 
chain. such a development could also pose a sales risk for modules, especially in the case of modules 
purchased under long-term supply contracts. due to uncertainties in the market, moreover, customer 
demand could decline markedly or customers could cancel their orders to a greater extent.

Continued strong market growth in Germany could lead to calls already in the near future to modify 
or even eliminate the German subsidy system for photovoltaic power plants. in view of the importance 
of the German market for the entire industry and particularly for the Phoenix solar Group, the interna-
tional revenues of which are still relatively low, such a development could pose a great risk.

7.3.7  BuSInESS GRowtH
the rapid growth of our Group associated with increased business volumes poses greater demands on the 
Group’s financing and organisational structure, specifically with regard to centralised administrative func-
tions. because it is not always possible to expand appropriate administrative resources at the same rate as 
the company’s operational growth, temporary organisational risks cannot be completely ruled out.

Phoenix solar counters such risks by means of conceptual process management and internal control 
mechanisms. the internal audit function is exercised by an independent corporate staff department 
within the executive board division of finance. the audits conducted by internal audit are meant to 
verify the effectiveness of the internal control system (iCs). aside from its past-directed audit activities, 
the internal audit function also performs an advisory and precedent-setting role, in that it also assesses 
the usefulness of the company’s processes.

the vital processes of the entire Group (including its subsidiaries) are highly dependent on the reliability 
of it systems. because data security is a constant issue, the Group continuously reviews, updates and 
further develops its it infrastructure. the introduction of a new eRP system during the course of finan-
cial year 2011 will help to link all the Group’s divisions and functions more closely together and further 
optimise information processing. 

in order to achieve the growth objectives of the Phoenix solar Group, the successful recruitment of 
qualified employees at all the company’s locations will continue to be a matter of fundamental impor-
tance in the future as well. as an increasing proportion of the Group’s business is shifted away from the 
German core market to international markets, there is a heightened need for qualified employees at all 
the Group’s international locations. thus, successful recruitment is vitally important to the achievement 
of the Group’s growth objectives. if the Group encounters setbacks in that area, that could have nega-
tive consequences for achieving the Group’s objectives.
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7.4  GeneRal assessment of the GRouP’s Risk situation

the general assessment of the above-mentioned risk areas leads to the conclusion that the Group is 
mainly exposed to market risks, risks related to its dependency on political developments and risks 
related to the development of prices and business quantities, both on the procurement side and the 
sales side. by comparison, the risks associated with internal production processes are considerably less 
important. the general risk situation of the Phoenix solar Group continues to be limited and manage-
able, although the fact that the future development of market prices for photovoltaic modules and 
systems cannot be reliably estimated at the present time could increase the risk potential considerably. 
based on the information currently available to the company, no risks that could endanger the contin-
ued operation of the Phoenix Group as a going concern, either individually or in combination with each 
other, can be identified at the present time.

8   foReCast RePoRt

8.1  futuRe stRateGiC oRientation of the GRouP

the business model of the Phoenix solar Group, which is rooted in the two segments of Components 
& systems and Power Plants, has proven to be successful also in times of financial and economic crisis. 
therefore, this focus will characterise the Group’s strategic orientation in the future as well. Phoenix 
solar monitors and further develops its positioning in these two segments on a continuous basis, in the 
context of both strategy development and business performance. examples of such measures include 
products developed specifically for the purpose of exploiting the self-consumption regulation under 
the German Renewable energies act and the products and services developed in connection with the 
market introduction of electric cars, for which photovoltaic solutions are ideally suited as a decentralised 
and Co2-free energy source.

the overriding objective pursued by every further development of our business model, as well as in our 
research and development activities, is to lower the costs of solar power systems. long-term success in 
the energy market absolutely depends on the ability of the photovoltaic industry to lower costs at every 
stage of the value chain. as the cost of photovoltaic electricity continues to fall, photovoltaic power 
plants approach the point of being economical. a study conducted by the management consulting 
firm a.t. kearney, which was commissioned by Phoenix solar, demonstrated that it will be possible to 
generate solar power (with due consideration given to the true value of photovoltaic electricity) on a 
competitive basis compared to electricity generated from natural gas-fired and coal-fired power plants 
already in five to eight years. therefore, it is our goal to continually improve the economic efficiency of 
photovoltaic power plants. 

aside from lowering the cost of photovoltaic electricity, the Phoenix solar Group also places a high pri-
ority on internationalising its business. in addition to the subsidiaries that have already been established 
in europe, the united states, asia, australia and the middle east, the Group intends to expand into other 
attractive international markets. for the year 2010, Phoenix solar has set itself the goal of increasing 
the percentage of total revenues generated in its international markets to 65 percent. at the present 
time, we see attractive markets in the countries of Great britain, Canada, india, malaysia and thailand. 
another motivation for tapping new sales markets relates to the growing uncertainties in some of the 
Group’s existing markets, including spain and the Czech Republic, where the local markets could pos-
sibly grind to a halt. we will also seek to meet the challenges of our markets by developing product 
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innovations. with regard to solar modules and inverters, the Phoenix solar Group already disposes of a 
broad-based product portfolio. the further development of Phoenix’s own products, such as assembly 
dollies for solar field power plants and mounting systems for rooftop systems mounted on slanted or flat 
roofs, will play an increasingly important role in the coming years.

8.2  GeneRal eConomiC Conditions

8.2.1  EConoMIC outLooK
experts predict that the world economy will continue to expand in 2011, albeit at a more moderate 
pace than in 2010. the international monetary fund (imf) estimates that global economic output will 
increase at a rate of 4.4 percent, with the emerging market countries providing the main impetus, as in 
the prior year. with regard to the industrialised nations, the experts are considerably more cautious, pre-
dicting a growth rate of only 2.5 percent. the economic growth of certain key industrialised nations will 
be hobbled by high levels of government debt. imf experts predict that the us economy, for example, 
will expand at a rate of 3.0 percent in 2011. for europe, the experts predict a growth rate of 1.5 per-
cent. as for the emerging-market countries of asia, the imf anticipates continued strong growth of 8.4 
percent, with the Chinese economy growing by 9.6 percent and the indian economy by 8.4 percent. 
experts predict that commodity costs and oil prices will continue to rise considerably in 2011, thereby 
raising the cost of conventional energy sources. such development could pose a threat to the further 
economic recovery; on the other hand, it would also narrow the cost difference with renewable ener-
gies, making it more lucrative to use them. 

8.2.2  InDuStRy outLooK
the global demand for energy is set to rise in the years ahead as well and with it the importance of 
renewable energies. from today’s standpoint, it is difficult to predict the extent to which the current 
events ensuing from the catastrophe in Japan will impact the future development of the photovoltaic 
sector. an increasingly critical stance towards nuclear energy generation could, however, result in ear-
lier further growth and expansion of renewable energies and thus of photovoltaics.

in our view, the German market for new installations peaked in 2010 and can be expected to decline 
in the coming years. the German photovoltaic market will be considerably influenced by the reduced 
feed-in rates in 2011. the market volume could fall to 5 to 6 Gwp in 2011. business volumes have been 
subdued in the first two months of the current financial year, as can be expected in view of the fact that 
demand for the construction of photovoltaic power plants is typically low as a result of wintry weather 
conditions. we expect a significant increase in demand for photovoltaic systems at the start of the sec-
ond quarter of 2011. the German Renewable energies act will be amended with respect to all renew-
able energy sources during the course of 2011. as a reaction to the high rates of new capacity installa-
tion in the past few years, a growing number of politicians and business people are calling for a fixed 
upper limit on the market. therefore, the current year 2011 will be decisive for the photovoltaic industry 
in Germany. Consequently, the market volume could decline further to 3 to 4 Gwp in 2012. 

industry experts expect the french government to place an upper limit of 500 mwp on the french 
market. because there is currently a backlog of projects under construction, however, the french market 
could reach a volume of 1 to 1.5 Gwp in both 2011 and 2012. 

after the strong growth experienced in 2010, the global market is expected to stagnate in 2011. in view 
of the difficult market situation, we expect module prices to deteriorate in the second half of 2011 at the 
latest. however, the medium-term outlook for the industry remains positive. as costs continue to fall, 
photovoltaic power plants will approach the profitability threshold. the global market is expected to 
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resume growth already in 2012. according to the goals set by the european union, renewable energies 
are supposed to account for 20 percent of total energy production by the year 2010. the national action 
plans devised on this basis point to the necessity of further expanding the use of renewable energies. 
the German federal government, for example, plans to increase the total installed photovoltaic capacity 
to 51.8 Gwp in the year 2020. in many markets and market segments, photovoltaic power will be just as 
economical as conventional energy by the year 2020.

in consideration of the trends mentioned above, we anticipate a long-term trend of global market 
growth at annual rates of more than 20 percent through the year 2020. 

8.3  antiCiPated develoPment of Revenues and eaRninGs in the business seGments

the Components & systems and Power Plants segments complement each other ideally, making it 
possible to re-balance solar module allotments if one of the two segments encounters a weak phase. 
with an eye to preserving this flexibility, the executive board considers it unhelpful to publish detailed 
segment forecasts.

we anticipate that the development in both business segments will remain persistently stable, with 
revenues stagnating or rising slightly in 2011. even if module prices should sink in the medium term, in 
view of the earnings situation in the project business we expect margins to widen, as opposed to the 
Components &systems segment where they will narrow. against the background of the steadily declin-
ing significance of the German market for photovoltaics, Phoenix solar will continue to shift its focus 
to its activities in the trading and project business in international markets. Compared with 2010, a sig-
nificantly larger proportion of revenues is already to be generated from international business in 2011.

8.4  antiCiPated develoPment of Revenues and eaRninGs on the GRouP level 

the development of our core markets will have lasting effects on the Group’s revenues and operating 
results. the anticipated drop in business volumes and the resulting decline in operating results in the 
German home market necessitate an expansion into international markets. the Group will pursue that 
goal, both in the near future and beyond, by progressively increasing the proportion of revenues gener-
ated in its international markets.

after the strong growth experienced in 2010, the executive board of Phoenix solar aG expects the world 
market to stagnate in the current financial year. the German market was again the world’s lead market 
in 2010, but is thought to have reached its peak. starting in 2011, the market volume is expected to 
diminish. in its international business, Phoenix solar aG anticipates rising proportional revenue con-
tributions from the markets of italy, france and Greece, as well as the middle east, asia and the united 
states, in both 2011 and 2012.

8.5 antiCiPated develoPment of Cash flows and liQuidity

in the financial year 2011, we expect stagnation or an only slight increase in revenues as against with 
2010. no current, specific figures can yet be predicted for revenues or ebit as the new conditions for 
promoting solar energy in a number of european markets, including italy as the world’s second largest 
in 2010, are still unknown. we expect revenues and ebit to climb again in 2012.

the chief success factor for achieving these goals will be to further increase the proportional share of 
international revenues in both business segments.
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the term of the current syndicated loan agreement will expire in the fourth quarter of 2011. at the time 
of the present annual Report, however, negotiations are already being conducted on a new syndicated 
loan agreement for an upwardly adjusted amount, to allow for further business growth.

due to the weak business volumes that are customarily encountered in the first quarter, the liquidity 
situation will not improve at first. the liquidity situation will begin to improve only during the course 
of the second quarter, when business volumes are expected to pick up considerably, leading to higher 
cash flows in both segments.

liquidity will increase further during the course of the second half, due to higher cash inflows in both 
segments resulting from the strong business volumes anticipated in the second quarter, which will be 
driven primarily by pull-forward effects in Germany, in view of the upcoming reduction in subsidy rates 
under the German Renewable energies act, expected to take effect on 1 July 2011.

by means of careful and comprehensive financial and liquidity planning, Phoenix solar is in a position to 
manage the allocation and use of financial resources in such a way as to assure sufficient liquidity at all 
times to conduct its business activities.

8.6  dividend PoliCy

the goal of the dividend policy of Phoenix solar aG is to maintain the investment value of the company’s 
share, while also accommodating the need to finance the company’s growth and meeting the needs of 
the current business situation. Phoenix solar is one of the few exchange-listed companies in the photo-
voltaic industry that has regularly distributed a dividend to shareholders. even for the difficult financial 
year 2009, Phoenix solar paid a dividend of euR 0.20 per share. 

based on the preliminary figures for 2010, the executive board has resolved to propose to the annual 
General meeting that the company pay a dividend of euR 0.35 per share for financial year 2010 (Py: euR 
0.20). this resolution is conditioned on the adoption of the financial statements for financial year 2010 
and the approval of the supervisory board. 

8.7  oPPoRtunities in the business seGments

in the Components & systems segment, Phoenix solar continues to see good growth opportuni-
ties, especially in the markets outside of Germany. as logistical capacities are extended to previously 
untapped markets, distributors of modules and accessories can enter new markets quickly. in its existing 
markets in europe, Phoenix solar is very well represented by an established network of distributors and 
partners; therefore, it can market the company’s products intensively and accommodate the demand of 
those markets.

Phoenix solar also sees growth opportunities in the Power Plants segment, even in the German market. 
in all markets, we believe that revenue-generating potential can be tapped by stepping up our activities 
in the area of rooftop systems and by marketing various services. similar potential is seen for centrally 
performed maintenance and monitoring services for existing photovoltaic plants for third-party cus-
tomers.
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with regard to the construction of large-scale photovoltaic plants, the market conditions in europe, 
outside of Germany, are very conducive to the growth of Phoenix solar’s business. we also see good 
opportunities in overseas markets, including the arab world and asia.

8.8   GeneRal assessment of the exeCutive boaRd ReGaRdinG the antiCiPated develoP-
ment of the GRouP 

in terms of revenues, the executive board expects stagnation or a marginal increase in 2011, to be fol-
lowed in 2012 by a stronger growth in revenues and ebit, with the associated continued profitable 
expansion of the Phoenix solar Group. in anticipation of a more difficult market environment in the lead 
market of Germany, the Group will continue to pursue its internationalisation strategy with focused 
intensity. furthermore, Phoenix solar expects to generate its first revenues in the united states in the 
current year. 

Given the known dynamism of the photovoltaic market, it is possible that future results will differ from 
the current expectations of the executive board of Phoenix solar aG.

sulzemoos, 15 march 2011
Phoenix solar aktiengesellschaft
the executive board

Dr. Andreas Hänel  Sabine Kauper
(Chief executive officer) (Chief financial officer)

ulrich Reidenbach   Dr. Murray Cameron 
(Chief sales officer) (Chief operating officer)

Sabine Kauper

Dr. Murray Cameronulrich Reidenbach  
(Chief sales officer)
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Deciduous forest in the region of Lazio, Italy

The power of the sun as a process engine: Around two 
tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2) a year are converted  
through photosynthesis into oxygen by every square 
kilometre of deciduous forest in Italy. To put this poten-
tial from the sun to economic use as well, Phoenix Solar 
promoted photovoltaics in Italy – on rooftops, carports 
and in open spaces. 



Our Italian subsidiary achieved a signi  ficant 
increase in its revenues in 2010. Measured by 
market maturity, growth potential and return, 
 analysts believe that Italy will continue to be one of 
Europe’s most attractive photovoltaic markets  in 2011 
despite announced cuts in promotional programmes.

Attractive government funding conditions and a good administrative environment 
led to strong growth in the Italian solar market in 2010. With an installed capacity 
of 3.8 GWp, the country had the second-largest volume of photovoltaic capacity 
additions worldwide, beaten only by Germany, at least according to preliminary 
estimates. We intend to forge ahead with internationalisation and anticipate rising 
revenues from our international business in Italy in 2011 and 2012 as well.

Phoenix Solar participated in the solar boom in this southern European country in 
2010 and won a number of interesting solar power plant projects from different 
customers.

PoWer Plant ProjectS for international enerGY SUPPlierS
Following the completion of the first megawatt solar power plant for E.ON Climate 
& Renewable in France in 2009, the energy supplier commissioned us with other 
power plant projects  in  Italy. On schedule at the end of the year, Phoenix Solar 
had two photovoltaic power plants with a total peak power of 8.9 MW connected 
to  the  grid.  The  team  used  crystalline  solar  modules  for  the  6.1  MWp  power 
plant close to Taranto in Apulia and the 2.8 MWp power plant near Alessandria in 
 Piemonte.

We also carried out work on behalf of the international energy company Etrion. 
In  its  capacity  as  general  contractor,  Phoenix  Solar  built  a  ground-mounted 
photovoltaic solar park with a peak power of 3.5 MW in Borgo Piave in the lazio 
region in spring 2011.

<  Deciduous forest in the region of Lazio, Italy

vehicles are protected 
from wind and rain 
under a Phoenix Solar 
photovoltaic carport 
which also produces 
green energy in 
 Piadena.

Christophe Jurczak, head of E.ON Climate & Renewables Solar Unit

in Phoenix Solar we have found a flexible and reliable partner with 
long-standing experience and know-how in planning and building  
of large-scale solar power plants.

6,000

see p. 21



Convincing combina-
tion of functionality 
and sustainable busi-
ness management: the 
photovoltaic power 
plant on a  carport in 
Piadena.

three Solar ParkS for kGal 
On behalf of German investor KGAl, we completed three projects worth EUR 55 
million in total in 2010: Amongst others, two solar parks with a total peak power 
of 5 MW were built in Italy, one in Montalto, lazio, and one in Guglionesi, Molise. 
Phoenix Solar also acted as general contractor for both these projects and, upon 
completion of the power plants, took over their operation and maintenance.

PhotovoltaicS makeS carPortS doUblY USefUl 
As  early  as  2009,  Phoenix  Solar  had  already  delivered  proof  that  carports  are 
ideal  for generating solar electricity  through  its construction of one of  the  larg-
est photovoltaic power plants on a carport in Berlin. In 2010, we built one of the 
world’s largest solar carports in Italy: In Piadena, only 40 kilometres south of lake 
Garda in  lombardy, we installed around 24,700 crystalline modules on a surface 
area of around 30,000 square metres. The 5.9 MWp power plant now produces 
around 6.4 million kWh of clean electricity per year and protects 6,000 vehicles 
against the elements, be it rain, hail, or dirt. Phoenix Solar takes care of both at the 
same time – clean cars and clean electricity.
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Source: EuPD Research, November 2010

Photovoltaic market volume in Italy by plant size until 2013 in kWp

2010e

2011e

2012e

1,517

2013e

198 160 280 459 420

2,037
258 190 379 615 594

2,135
327 219 419 596 574

2,172
390 249 511 517 505

  < 10
  10 – 50
  50 – 250
  250 – 995
  > 995

see p. 60
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Consolidated inCome statement

for the period from 01/01/ until 31/12/2010 notes 
C. & D.

2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Revenues  (1) 635,676 473,032 

Change in inventory of work in process  (2) 163 - 16,872 

overall performance 635,839  456,160 

other operating income  (3) 4,848 3,897 

Cost of materials  (4) 554,372 414,371 

Personnel expenses  (5) 23,586 16,017 

depreciation and amortisation  (6) 1,094 667 

other operating expenses  (7) 25,293 16,844 

operating result 36,342  12,158 

Result from associated companies  (8) 58 18 

EBIt 36,400  12,176 

financial income 231 418 

financial costs 2,483 1,660 

financial result  (9) - 2,252  - 1,242 

Consolidated net income before income taxes (EBt) 34,148  10,934 

income taxes  (10) 10,014 2,379 

Consolidated net income for the period 24,134  8,555 

– of which due to minority interest  (27) - 19 0 

– of which due to majority shareholders  (27) 24,153 8,555 

Earnings per share

earnings per share (basic)  (11) 3.44 1.28

earnings per share (diluted)  (11) 3.44 1.28 

Consolidated statement of ComPRehensive inCome

for the period from 01/01/ until 31/12/2010 notes 
D.

2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Consolidated net income for the period 24,134  8,555 

transactions associated with minority interests 0 75 

differences from currency translation - 38 - 59 

income taxes recognised directly under equity 0 0 

Changes in value recognised directly under equity  (27) - 38 16 

overall performance 24,096 8,571

– of which due to minority interest - 19 75 

– of which due to majority shareholders 24,115 8,496 
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Consolidated balanCe sheet 
as per 31 december 2010

ASSEtS notes 
C. & D.

2010 
k€

2009 
k€

noncurrent assets

intangible assets  (12) 3,471 2,072 

Goodwill  (13) 533 533 

Property, plant and equipment  (14) 3,110 2,705 

investments in associates  (16) 418 404 

other participating interests  (17) 160 160 

noncurrent receivables  (18) 688 687 

deferred tax assets  (10) 1,799 1,341 

noncurrent other financial assets  (23) 725 1,444 

total noncurrent assets 10,904 9,346

Current assets

inventories  (19) 149,536 69,185 

Prepayments  (20) 3,346 4,040 

Receivables from long-term construction contracts  (21) 82,227 41,072 

trade receivables  (22) 31,140 24,507 

Current other financial assets  (23) 6,816 1,161 

Current other non-financial assets  (25) 18,015 6,926 

Current income tax assets  (10) 1,735 1,534 

Cash and cash equivalents  (26) 9,588 24,461 

total current assets 302,403 172,886 

total assets 313,307  182,232 
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LIABILItIES AnD SHAREHoLDERS’ EQuIty notes 
C. & D.

2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Equity

subscribed capital  (27) 7,373 6,701 

Capital reserve  (27) 63,559 41,805 

accumulated other equity 71,453 48,679 

Share of majority shareholders in consolidated equity 142,385  97,185 

share of minority interest in consolidated equity 60 79 

total equity  (27) 142,445  97,264 

noncurrent liabilities and provisions

noncurrent financial liabilities  (28) 37 47 

noncurrent provisions  (29) 2,196 1,522 

deferred tax liabilities  (10) 3,113 1,514 

total noncurrent liabilities and provisions 5,346  3,083 

Current liabilities and provisions

Current financial liabilities  (28) 52,642 6 

liabilities from long-term construction contracts  (21) 267 302 

trade payables  (30) 84,538 51,705 

other financial liabilities  (31) 7,044 4,324 

other non-financial liabilities  (31) 13,047 14,165 

Current provisions  (29) 1,693 1,828 

Current income tax liabilities  (10) 6,285 9,555 

total current liabilities and provisions 165,516  81,885 

total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 313,307 182,232 
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Consolidated statement of ChanGes in eQuity

for the period  
from 01/01/  
until 31/12/2010

notes
D. & f.

Subscribed 
capital

k€

Capital 
reserve

k€

Accumu- 
lated other  

equity

k€

Share of 
majority  

shareholders 
 in consoli- 

dated equity
k€

Share of 
minority 
 interest  

in consoli - 
dated equity

k€

total 
equity

k€

As per 01/01/2009 6,685  40,433  42,191  89,309  2  89,311 

Purchase of remaining 
shares in scarlatti srl, 
italy 0 - 2 - 2 

Consolidation of Phoenix 
solar l.l.C., muscat 0 79 79 

Reserve for share options
 (27) 
(40) 1,075 1,075 1,075 

exercise of share options
 (27) 
(40) 16 297 313 313 

dividend payment  (27) - 2,005 - 2,005 - 2,005 

difference from  
currency translation  (27) - 62 - 62 - 62 

Consolidated net income 
in 2009 8,555 8,555 8,555 

As per 31/12/2009 6,701  41,805  48,679  97,185  79  97,264 

As per 01/01/2010 6,701  41,805  48,679  97,185  79  97,264 

Reserve for share options
 (27) 
(40) 1,264 1,264 1,264 

exercise of share options
 (27) 
(40) 1 33 34 34 

dividend payment  (27) - 1,341 - 1,341 - 1,341 

increase in share capital  (27) 671 20,457 21,128 21,128 

difference from  
currency translation  (27) - 38 - 38 0 - 38 

Consolidated net income 
in 2010 24,153 24,153 - 19 24,134 

As per 31/12/2010 7,373  63,559  71,453  142,385  60  142,445 
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Consolidated Cash flow statement

for the period from 01/01/ until 31/12/2010 notes 
C. – E.

2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Consolidated income before income taxes 34,148 10,934 

depreciation and amortisation  (6) 1,094 667 

other non-cash income (-) and expenses (+) 
(including result from associated companies)  (33) 4,346 - 37 

Profit/loss from disposal of intangible assets and equipments  (3) - 3 1 

financial income  (9) - 231 - 418 

financial costs  (9) 2,483 1,660 

Sub-total 41,837  12,807 

increase/decrease in provisions  
(net of discounting effects and non-cash releases)  (29) 634 335 

increase/decrease in inventories  (19) - 84,790 5,414 

increase/decrease in prepayments  (20) 695 - 2,597 

increase/decrease in receivables from long-term construction contracts  (21) - 41,155 - 40,337 

increase/decrease in trade receivables (excl. non-cash transactions)  (22) - 6,736 1,075 

increase/decrease in assets  (23), (25) - 16,166 3,570 

increase/decrease in liabilities  (30), (31) 35,797 47,680 

funds generated by operating activities - 69,884  27,947 

interest paid  (9) - 1,857 - 1,513 

income taxes paid  (10) - 12,757 - 4,851 

Cash flow from operating activities - 84,498  21,583 

Proceeds from associated companies  (16) 45 50 

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and equipment  (3) 3 2 

Purchase of intangible assets and equipment  (12), (14) - 2,880 - 3,116 

Cash flow from investing activities - 2,832  - 3,064 

Payments in connection with increases in subscribed capital  (27) 21,050 313 

dividends paid  (27) - 1,341 - 2,005 

Payments in connection with financial liabilities  (28) 52,627 - 1 

interest income  (9) 121 100 

Cash flow from financing activities 72,457  - 1,593 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents - 14,873 16,926 

Currency-induced changes in cash and cash equivalents 0 0 

Consolidation-related changes in cash and cash equivalents 0 0 

net change in cash and cash equivalents - 14,873  16,926 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period  (26) 24,461 7,535 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  (26) 9,588 24,461 

Increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents - 14,873  16,926 
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a. basiC PRinCiPles and methods

(1)  GeneRal

as of 31 december 2010, the Phoenix solar Group (also referred to hereinafter as the Phoenix Group) 
consisted of 20 companies with a total of 319 (Py: 271) employees (including members of the executive 
board).

the ultimate parent company of the Group is a corporation (stock corporation). in accordance with the 
resolution adopted by the annual general meeting of the former Phönix sonnenstrom aktiengesells-
chaft of 25 may 2007, the company is named Phoenix solar aktiengesellschaft (referred to hereinafter 
as Phoenix solar aG), with its head office at hirschbergstraße 8, in 85254 sulzemoos, Germany; it is 
registered in the Commercial Register of the munich local Court under the register number hRb 129117.

the parent company has been included in the German stock index tecdax since 25 march 2008. 
tecdax is assigned to the Prime standard segment of the German stock exchange run by deutsche 
börse aG, where it represents 30 medium-sized German stock corporations in the technology sector 
below the level of the 30 dax stocks. Companies are included in this index on the basis of market capi-
talisation and order book revenues.

the business object of Phoenix Group comprises the development, production, sales, operation and 
administration of plants for generating energy from renewable energy sources, and the construction 
and maintenance of such plants. the Phoenix Group also distributes components and systems for gen-
erating energy from renewable energy sources. most of the Group’s business activities were conducted 
in the euro zone in 2010.

(2)  infoRmation on aCCountinG standaRds

the shares of Phoenix solar aG are traded on the official market of the Prime standard sub-segment of 
the frankfurt stock exchange. Consequently, the consolidated financial statements must be prepared 
in accordance with international accounting standards according to article 4 of directive (eC) no. 
1606/2002 of the european Parliament and Council of 19 July 2002, as amended.

therefore, Phoenix solar aG prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the pro-
visions of the international financial Reporting standards (ifRs) or international accounting stand-
ards (ias) adopted by the international accounting standards board (iasb) in london, which are to be 
applied as of 31 december 2010, and taken over by the eu as of the date of preparation of the present 
consolidated financial statements. all interpretations of the international financial Reporting interpreta-
tions Committee (ifRiC) applicable to financial year 2010 and the earlier interpretations of the standing 
interpretations Committee (siC), to the extent they were taken over by the eu as of the date of prepara-
tion of the present consolidated financial statements, as well as the supplementary provisions of sec-
tion 315a (1) of the German Commercial Code (hGb) have been observed in the present consolidated 
financial statements. accordingly, the financial statements consist of the consolidated income state-
ment plus the statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of financial position, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements and the obligatory Group management report. the consolidated 
financial statements were prepared on the basis of the going-concern principle and the historical cost 
principle, with the exception of the fair model value applied for purposes of measuring the value of 
derivative financial instruments.
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the consolidated financial statements are denominated in euros, as the reporting currency of the 
Group. in accordance with the functional currency concept, the balance sheet items of the respective 
Group companies are always denominated in the currency used in the primary economic environment 
in which the company operates. transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional cur-
rency are translated at the spot rate between the functional currency and the non-functional currency 
applicable on the respective transaction date. any currency translation differences are recognised in 
income.

when a measurement unit different than the euro is used, such as thousand €, for example, such fact 
will be indicated in the respective denomination.

the preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions 
that influence the amounts of assets, liabilities and financial commitments as of the reporting date and 
the amounts of income and expenses during the financial year. the actual amounts can differ from 
these estimates. in particular, the management is required to make estimates and assumptions relative 
to the adoption of uniform recognition and measurement principles to be applied in the consolidated 
financial statements. such estimates and assumptions are continually reviewed and adjusted whenever 
past experiences, other factors and reasonable estimations of future developments necessitate a differ-
ent assessment of specific topics by the management. the effects of any changes in the estimates or 
assumptions applied are recognised in profit or loss prospectively in the period in which such changes 
are made.

the principal estimates and assumptions that can be particularly important for the Group’s financial 
position, cash flows and results of operations are the following:

  tHE StAGE of CoMPLEtIon unDER tHE PERCEntAGE-of-CoMPLEtIon MEtHoD
the Group employs qualified definition criteria in determining whether to apply the percentage-of-
completion method or the zero-profit method according to ias 11. as a result of developments in the 
industry and the continual evolution of contract types associated with those developments, it is neces-
sary in some cases to estimate the future fulfilment of contractual conditions precedent as of the report-
ing date. although the Construction Controlling department of the Phoenix Group applies the most 
probable outcome of a contract to the greatest possible extent as the basis for assessing the applicability 
of the percentage-of-completion method, it is nonetheless possible that rather improbable scenarios 
may come into effect, making it necessary to reclassify a construction contract as a zero-profit method 
contract according to the principles of pro-rated profit recognition. such a reclassification could lead to 
a different presentation of the results of operations and financial position.

because the cost-to-cost method is applied, future project costs need to be estimated in order to deter-
mine the percentage of completion as of the reporting date and therefore also the recognition of receiv-
ables under long-term construction contracts. in such cases, it cannot be ruled out that estimation 
errors could lead to imprecise results with regard to the recognition of period profits.
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  EStIMAtIon of tHE SALEABILIty of MoDuLE InvEntoRIES
as a wholesaler, it is necessary to keep certain products in sufficient reserve quantities in order to quickly 
fill individual release orders by customers. the portfolio of products is constantly monitored and peri-
odically adjusted. adjustments are made on the basis of the company’s estimates of the marketability 
of products and the anticipated demand. in making such estimations, it cannot be ruled out that the 
demand may be estimated incorrectly. this can result in the creation of inventories that run the risk of 
becoming obsolete due to technological progress and would therefore have to be written down to the 
lower net realisable value. the relevant values are forecast by sales.

  EStIMAtIon of InCoME tAXES
the determining factor for recognising deferred tax assets is always an estimation of the future perform-
ance of the respective taxpaying entity. in determining the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, the management needs to make important assumptions regarding the expected timing 
and amount of future taxable income, as well as future tax planning strategies.

  EStIMAtIon of tHE EnfoRCEABILIty of ContRACtuAL PuRCHASInG AnD SALES tERMS
the Phoenix Group places a high priority on the appropriateness and balance of purchasing and sell-
ing terms. in a very dynamic market like the photovoltaics market, this fundamental approach could 
lead to the result that contractual agreements and terms are agreed in part with the goal of influencing 
purchasing and selling prices, which entails the consideration of future events. to predict the outcome 
of such events, which cannot be influenced by the Phoenix Group in every respect, an estimation of the 
future occurrence of events needs to be made for period accrual purposes. such estimates can differ 
from the actual outcome of events.

  DEtERMInInG tHE nEED foR IMPAIRMEnt LoSSES
in conducting impairment tests of goodwill, the Group applies calculations based on the discounted 
cash flow method. for this purpose, the expected cash flows over the next three years are derived from 
the financial plan for the cash-generating units being tested; excluded from these calculations are 
restructuring measures to which the Group has not yet committed itself and future expansion invest-
ments that will increase the income-generating capacity of the tested cash-generating units, but are not 
yet being implemented. the recoverable amount is highly dependent on the discount factor applied in 
connection with the discounted cash flow method, as well as the estimated expected future cash inflows 
and outflows and the growth rate applied.

  MEASuREMEnt of fInAnCIAL InStRuMEntS
in those cases in which no active market exists, the fair value of financial instruments must be deter-
mined either with reference to a surrogate market price or through the use of recognised valuation 
technique such as the discounted cash flow method. model inputs are determined to the greatest extent 
possible on the basis of observable market data. when that is not possible, the fair values must be deter-
mined by means of discretionary judgments, to some extent. such discretionary judgments relate to 
parameters such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in the assumptions underlying such 
factors can have an effect on the recognised fair values of financial instruments.
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  MEASuREMEnt of StoCK oPtIonS 
ifRs 2 is applied for the accounting treatment of stock option plans, as particular forms of compensa-
tion under which the company will be obligated to deliver its own shares to the beneficiaries when the 
stock options are exercised. the fair value of the stock options at the grant date is determined on the 
basis of market prices (quoted prices of deutsche börse aG, frankfurt), in consideration of the issue 
terms and conditions and by application of generally recognised measurement techniques for financial 
instruments. the factors considered in measuring the value of stock options are the exercise price, the 
term, the current market value of the underlying (the share of Phoenix solar aG), the expected volatil-
ity of the market price based on historical volatilities, the expected dividends to be paid on the shares 
and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the stock options. other factors taken into consideration, as 
particular aspects of the exercise possibility, are the necessary waiting period (vesting period) and the 
potential exercise of the stock options, based on historical exercise patterns. in subsequent periods, the 
calculated value of the stock options is recognised as expenses over the term, in consideration of the 
assumed length of service or the assumed turnover among the beneficiaries. because the corresponding 
amounts are presented in personnel expenses and in the additional paid-in capital reserves, changes in 
estimates relative to the quantity structure can lead to discontinuous capital appropriations.

  MEASuREMEnt of LonG-tERM InCEntIvES 
in connection with the implementation of the German executive board Compensation act, the Group 
revised the rules applicable to success-dependent compensation components with a long-term incen-
tive effect. as a general rule, a dual system comprising both personal (qualitative) goals and company-
specific (quantitative goals) is applied. to ensure that the compensation system is appropriately geared 
to long-term success, long-term incentives were installed in the form of an ebit hurdle for the quan-
titative goals and a bonus index system based on a multiplier concept. the bonus index is applied to 
calculate the recommended disbursement levels of target bonuses on the basis of the indexed operating 
performance of exchange-listed companies and their principal business segments, known as the peer 
group. because the indexation is finally effected on the basis of published company data, the company 
can only make index-relevant estimates as of the balance sheet date, which may differ from the final 
claims. because earned bonuses are paid on two different due dates, the measured value also reflects 
the corresponding interest effect.

  RECoGnItIon AnD MEASuREMEnt of PRovISIonS AnD/oR ContInGEnt LIABILItIES
due to the Group’s business activity in the Power Plants segment and the generally assumed role of gen-
eral contractor, the Group may be exposed to special warranty risks in some cases. although the Group 
requires adherence to quality standards (such as iso 9001 certification for sub-contractors and suppli-
ers, for example) in selecting materials and sub-contractors, as well as the appropriate training of the 
Phoenix employees involved, warranty provisions for completed projects cannot be entirely avoided. 
for lack of industry-specific long-term experience values, statistical methods must be applied to a 
heightened extent for determining the best estimate of a provision. due to the absence of a basic popu-
lation of statistically analysable data at the present time, it must be assumed that the reliability of such 
estimates is limited. therefore, it cannot be ruled out that such provisions can follow an asynchronous 
development with respect to revenue growth or materials and purchased services in future periods.
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a) new Standards, amendments and Interpretations to be applied in 2010
on 16 april 2009, the international accounting standards board (iasb) published its second standard, 
known as annual improvements 2007 – 2009, in connection with the annual improvements Process 
(aiP) project. this standard entails amendments to ten ifRs and two ifRiC interpretations. unless other-
wise noted, the amendments are to be applied in financial years that begin on or after 1 January 2010. 
these amendments have been adopted as european law by the european union. the amendments to this 
standard have been implemented to the extent that they are relevant to the Phoenix Group. these amend-
ments did not necessitate any significant changes to the consolidated financial statements.

on 18 June 2009, the iasb also published amendments to ifRs 2 share-based Payment, which clarify the 
Group’s accounting treatment of cash-settled share-based payments. in this connection, the iasb with-
drew ifRiC 8 and ifRiC 11. these amendments take effect in reporting periods that begin on or after 
1 January 2010. they must be applied retroactively. earlier application is allowed. for the Phoenix Group it 
has not been necessary to modify its previous accounting methods as a result of the first-time application 
of this amendment. these amendments have also been adopted as european law by the european union.

b) Applicable Standards, amendments and Interpretations that are not relevant to the Group
the following standards, amendments and interpretations were published by the iasb in the past and 
must be applied, as a general rule, in financial years that begin on or after 1 January 2010. however, 
these rules are not relevant to the consolidated financial statements of the Phoenix Group.

on 28 January 2010, the iasb published a minor amendment to ifRs 1 first-time adoption of interna-
tional financial Reporting standards. however, these changes, which apply to financial years that begin 
after 1 July 2010, are not relevant to the Phoenix Group. this amendment has been adopted as euro-
pean law by the european union.

c)  Standards, amendments and Interpretations, application of which is not obligatory and which 
have not been applied ahead of obligatory application

the following standards, amendments and interpretations were published on or before the reporting 
date and must be applied as of 1 January 2011 at the earliest.

on 8 october 2009, the iasb again published amendments to ias 32 financial instruments: Presenta-
tion. the amendments relate to the accounting treatment by the issuers of subscription rights, options 
and warrants for the purchase of a fixed number of equity instruments, which are denominated in a 
different currency than the functional currency of the issuer. the amendments must be applied in fis-
cal years that begin on or after 1 february 2010. earlier application of these amendments, which have 
been adopted as european law, is allowed. because the equity instruments issued by Phoenix solar aG 
are denominated in the functional currency of Phoenix solar aG, this amendment is not relevant to the 
Phoenix Group.

on 4 november 2009, the iasb published an amended version of ias 24 Related Party disclosures. 
the amended standard is to be applied in reporting periods that begin on or after 1 January 2011. the 
Phoenix Group expects no changes or additions to the current disclosures as a result of this amendment, 
which has been adopted as european law.

on 6 may 2010, the iasb published its annual improvements to ifRs 2008-2010, which entailed amend-
ments to six ifRs and one interpretation (ifRiC). unless otherwise noted, the amendments that have 
been adopted as european law must be applied in financial years that begin on or after 1 January 2011. 
earlier application is allowed. the amendments will not have any significant effects on the accounting 
practices of the Phoenix Group.
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on 7 october 2010, the iasb published amendments to ifRs 7 financial instruments: disclosures. the 
amendments serve to largely harmonise the corresponding disclosure obligations under international 
financial Reporting standards (ifRs) and us Generally accepted accounting Principles (us-GaaP). the 
amendments to ifRs 7 increase the disclosure requirements relative to the transfer of financial assets and 
are meant to convey a better understanding of the effects of the risks remaining with the company for 
the users of financial statements. enterprises are required to apply the amendments in financial years 
that begin on or after 1 July 2011. early application is possible. Comparison data can be omitted in the 
first year of application. the Phoenix Group is examining the resulting effects on the Group’s financial 
position and results or cash flow. these amendments have not yet been adopted as european law.

on 28 october 2010, the iasb published supplementary provisions to ifRs 9 on the accounting treat-
ment of financial liabilities. ifRs 9 (2009), which was published by the iasb on 12 november 2009, only 
prescribed rules relative to the classification and measurement of financial assets. as a supplement to 
ifRs 9 (2009), ifRs 9 (2010) also prescribes rules for the classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities and for the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities. with the exception of the fair value 
option, ifRs 9 (2010) does not contain any significant amendments relative to the accounting treatment 
of financial liabilities. under the fair value option, fair value changes resulting from the enterprise’s own 
credit risk must be recognised in other Comprehensive income (oCi) and all other fair value changes 
must be recognised in the income statement (“one-step approach”). with regard to derecognition, ifRs 
9 (2010) incorporates the rule from the currently valid ias 39. ifRs 9 must be applied in financial years 
that begin on or after 1 January 2013. earlier application already in 2010 is allowed. ifRs 9 has not yet 
been incorporated into european law.

on 20 december 2010, the iasb again published amendments to ifRs 1 first-time adoption of interna-
tional financial Reporting standards. in the new version, the previous references to 1 January 2004 were 
replaced with a reference to the date of first-time adoption to ifRs. in addition, rules were introduced for 
those cases in which an enterprise is not able to fulfil all ifRs requirements, due to hyperinflation. the 
amendments must be applied in financial years that begin on or after 1 July 2011. these amendments 
have not yet been adopted as european law and they are not relevant to the Phoenix Group.

on the same date, the iasb also published amendments to ias 12 income taxes. these amendments 
also entailed changes in the scope of application of siC-21 income taxes: Recovery of Revalued non-
depreciable assets. the amendment provides a partial clarification of the accounting treatment of tem-
porary tax differences in connection with the application of the fair value model of ias 40. in the case 
of investment property, it is often difficult to assess whether existing differences will reverse through 
continued use or sale. therefore, the published amendment introduces the presumption that such dif-
ferences will normally reverse through sale. the amendment must be applied retrospectively in financial 
years that begin on or after 1 January 2012. these amendments have not yet been adopted as european 
law and the Phoenix Group does not anticipate any effects on the consolidated financial statements.
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d) Interpretations that are neither obligatory nor relevant to the Group
the following interpretations were published by ifRiC on or before the reporting date and must be 
applied at the earliest in financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2011. these interpretations relate 
to matters that were not relevant to the Phoenix Group as of the reporting date.

on 26 november 2009, the iasb published an amendment to ifRiC 14 the limit on a defined benefit 
asset, minimum funding Requirements and their interaction and the draft of an amendment to ifRs 1 
first-time adoption of international financial Reporting standards. the amendment to ifRiC 14 is only 
relevant in those rare cases in which an enterprise is subject to minimum funding requirements and 
makes advance contribution payments to fulfil them. the amendment to ifRiC 14 must be applied as of 
1 January 2011; earlier application in financial statements at 31 december 2010 is allowed. this amend-
ment has been adopted as european law. because the Phoenix Group did not owe any defined benefit 
obligations to its employees at the reporting date, this amendment has no effect on the Group’s account-
ing practices. 

on 26 november 2009, the ifRiC published ifRiC 19 extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instru-
ments, an interpretation that provides guidance relative to the accounting treatment of so-called “debt-
for-equity swaps.” ifRiC 19 must be applied in reporting periods that begin on or after 1 July 2010; earlier 
application is allowed. because the Phoenix Group does not extinguish any financial liabilities by issuing 
shares or other equity instruments, either in full or in part, this interpretation, which has been adopted as 
european law, is not relevant to the Phoenix Group. 

(3)  RePoRtinG date

the reporting date of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is 31 december 
of every year. the accounting period covered by the financial statements is the period from 1 January 
to 31 december.

(4)  date of authoRisation foR issue

the financial statements have been issued for authorisation on 30 march 2011. the executive board 
approved the release and forwarded it to the supervisory board for their approval.
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(5)  Consolidation PRinCiPles

GRouP of ConSoLIDAtED CoMPAnIES
all subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements of Phoenix solar aG according to 
the principles of ias 27. Compared to the status as of 31 december 2009, eight companies were added 
to the consolidation group of the Phoenix Group (two companies in the previous year).
 
in addition to the parent company, therefore, the following 19 companies were consolidated – 11 last-
ing sales subsidiaries and 8 subsidiaries for projects:

name of subsidiary

type of consolidation Share of equity/ 
voting rights 

Phoenix solar s.l., madrid, spain full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix solar s.r.l., Rome, italy full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix solar e.P.e., athens, Greece full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix solar sas, lyon, france full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix solar Pty ltd, adelaide, australia full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix solar incorporated, new Castle/delaware, usa full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore, singapore full consolidation 75 %

Phoenix solar sdn bhd, kuala lumpur, malaysia full consolidation 75 %

Phoenix solar l.l.C., muscat, oman full consolidation 70 %

Phoenix solar fonds verwaltung Gmbh, sulzemoos, Germany full consolidation 100 %

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG d4, sulzemoos, Germany full consolidation 100 %

Project companies

somi Gmbh, Geroldshausen, Germany full consolidation 100 %

scarlatti srl., eppan an der weinstraße, italy full consolidation 100 %

horus s.r.l., Ragusa, italy full consolidation 100 %

tPC Photoenergy srl, eppan an der weinstraße, italy full consolidation 100 %

Plaxo solar s.l., madrid, spain full consolidation 100 %

abalia solar s.l., madrid, spain full consolidation 100 %

hexasolar s.l., madrid, spain full consolidation 100 %

PsfR001 saRl, strasbourg, france full consolidation 100 %

the company somi Gmbh, with its head office in Geroldshausen, Germany, was formed in march 2010. 
the subsidiary serves as a project company in the power plant business. the formation costs amounted 
to approximately euR 13 thousand.

in order to fulfil the prerequisites for the planned entry of the Phoenix Group into the us photovolta-
ics market, Phoenix solar incorporated, with its head office in new Castle/delaware, united states of 
america, was founded on 12 may 2010. the capital contribution to be paid is 100 thousand us dollar 
(usd); it was paid in full in July of the past financial year.

in may 2010, scarlatti srl., eppan an der weinstraße, italy, acquired the equity shares of the project 
company horus s.r.l., in Ragusa, italy. the shares were purchased by way of two instalments. the first 
instalment on the purchase price obligation, in the amount of euR 438 thousand, was due upon sign-
ing of the contract and was paid then; the second instalment on the purchase price obligation, in the 
amount of euR 812 thousand, is contingent upon certain project-related preconditions, which were not 
yet fulfilled at the reporting date and must still be fulfilled in full by the sellers of the shares. the pur-
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chase of shares in the project company is not a business combination in the sense of ifRs 3 because the 
company so purchased is not a “business” according to the definition of ifRs 3; instead, the purchase is 
a structured acquisition of a “project right” asset. the Phoenix Group anticipates that the second instal-
ment, which has not yet been recognised in the financial statements, will be due and payable in the 
next seven months. the business object of the project company comprises the holding and exercise of 
project rights for the construction of photovoltaic plants. 

in June 2010, the spanish subsidiary Phoenix solar s.l. formed three project companies, Plaxo solar s.l., 
abalia solar s.l. and hexasolar s.l., with their head offices in madrid, spain. the main business object 
of the project companies is to hold project rights and the right to market those rights. a total amount of 
euR 9 thousand was expended as formation capital.

on 12 July 2010, the majority-owned subsidiary Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore, formed a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Phoenix solar sdn bhd, kuala lumpur/malaysia, for the purposes of the Group’s busi-
ness activities in the asian region. the main purpose of the subsidiary is to market the portfolio of the 
Phoenix Group and to serve customers in malaysia. the formation capital amounted to approximately 
euR 38 thousand.

on 20 october 2010, moreover, a french project company, PsfR001 saRl, was purchased for the pur-
pose of operationalising and implementing a larger photovoltaic project in france. the purchase price 
equals the minimum formation capital of euR 1 thousand which was fully paid in.

the following company was included in the consolidated financial statements as an associated com-
pany by application of the equity method.

Company name type of  
consolidation

Share of  
equity/

voting rights

Equity as of
31/12/2010

k€

Profit/loss  
2010 

k€

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG b1,  
sulzemoos, Germany at-equity 31.2 % 847 43

several limited partner companies for which Phoenix solar fonds verwaltung Gmbh serves as the gen-
eral partner (without holding an equity stake in any case) are not consolidated because the relevant 
provisions of the articles of incorporation of these companies do not allow the general partner to exert 
a controlling influence on them.

non-consolidated limited partner companies for which Phoenix solar fonds verwaltung Gmbh serves 
as the general partner:

Company name total assets
31/12/2010

(HGB)
k€

total liabilities
31/12/2010

 (HGB)
k€

Income
2010

(HGB)
k€

Period
profit or loss
2010 (HGB)

k€

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a1/2 west 379 128 79 31

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a1/2 ost 378 128 79 30

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a3/4 west 378 128 79 31

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a3/4 ost 372 128 76 29

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a5/6 west 374 128 78 30

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a5/6 ost 370 127 76 30
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Company name total assets
31/12/2009

(HGB)
k€

total liabilities
31/12/2009

 (HGB)
k€

Income
2009

(HGB)
k€

Period
profit or loss
2009 (HGB)

k€

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a1/2 west 424 191 89 45

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a1/2 ost 421 191 88 44

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a3/4 west 422 191 89 45

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a3/4 ost 417 191 86 43

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a5/6 west 418 189 87 44

Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG a5/6 ost 413 190 83 41

by application of ias 32.18b), the capital accounts of the owners of the unincorporated entities would 
have to be included in the total liabilities. the chosen presentation fulfils the new requirements of ias 32 
(amended), financial instruments: Presentation and ias 1 (amended), Presentation of financial state-
ments, which largely allow the option of presenting economic equity.

an existing 50 percent investment in solaR GRieChenland beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh & Co. kG 
is not included in the consolidated financial statements, either as a joint venture or as an associated 
company. due to the absence of different provisions in the articles of incorporation, Phoenix solar aG as 
the limited partner has no influence whatsoever on the financial and operating policies of the company. 

Company name type of  
consolidation

Share of  
equity/

voting rights

Equity as of
31/12/2010

k€

Profit/loss
2010

k€

solaR GRieChenland beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh 
& Co. kG, Grünwald, deutschland n/a 50 % 298 8

the shares in non-consolidated companies are presented under “other investments”.

ConSoLIDAtIon PRInCIPLES
a) Subsidiaries
subsidiaries are included in the consolidation group of the parent company when the Group has the 
power to govern their financial and operating policies and derive economic benefits, which generally 
results from holding more than 50 percent of the voting rights in those companies. the existence and 
effects of potential voting rights that currently can be exercised or converted are taken into considera-
tion for the purpose of evaluating control according to the definition of ias 27.

the purchase method is applied to account for business combinations. the cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets provided, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities 
assumed on the date when control is obtained. upon initial recognition, the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are measured at their fair value as of the acquisition 
date. if the acquisition cost is higher than the Group’s proportional share of the remeasured net assets, 
the difference is recognised as goodwill in the consolidated statement of financial position; in the rare 
case when the acquisition cost is less than the Group’s proportional share of the remeasured net assets, 
this difference is recognised immediately as a gain in profit or loss.

Companies acquired during the financial year are included in the consolidated financial statements as 
of the acquisition date.
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to allow for uniform accounting practices within the Group, the recognition and measurement meth-
ods of the individual subsidiaries have been harmonised with those of the Group.

intragroup balances are eliminated in accordance with ias 27. therefore, receivables and payables 
between companies included in the consolidated financial statements are eliminated in full.

expenses and income are consolidated in accordance with ias 27. therefore, intragroup expenses and 
income are eliminated in full as of the date of initial consolidation.

in accordance with ias 27, gains or losses on intragroup transactions that are contained in the carrying 
amounts of assets are eliminated in full. an intragroup loss is regarded as an indication of a possible 
impairment.

the income tax effects of consolidation measures that have an impact on profit and loss are taken into 
consideration and deferred taxes are recognised when necessary.

b) Companies consolidated for the first time
one subsidiary, Phoenix solar incorporated, with its registered head office in new Castle/delaware, 
united states of america, and one sub-subsidiary, Phoenix solar sdn bhd, kuala lumpur, malaysia, were 
included as permanent members of the consolidation group for the first time in financial year 2010. 

in addition, six project companies were formed or acquired in Germany and abroad during the year 
for the purpose of promoting the project business in the respective regions. the business object of the 
project companies comprises the holding and exercise of project rights for the construction of photo-
voltaic plants. the following project companies were added to the consolidation group in 2010:

  somi Gmbh, with its registered head office in Geroldshausen, Germany
  horus s.r.l. with its registered head office in Ragusa, italy
  Plaxo solar s.l., with its registered head office in madrid, spain
  abalia solar s.l., with its registered head office in madrid, spain
  hexasolar s.l., with its registered head office in madrid, spain
  PsfR001 saRl, with its registered head office in strasbourg, france

details on the formation and acquisition of these companies are provided in note (5) Group of Consoli-
dated Companies.

due to the fact that the project companies acquired are shell companies, the fair values and carrying 
amounts as of the date of initial consolidation were calculated as follows:

Horus  
S.r.l.

k€

Plaxo Solar 
S.L.
k€

Abalia Solar 
S.L.
k€

Hexasolar 
S.L.
k€

PSfR001 
SARL

k€

noncurrent assets 0 0 0 0 0

Current assets 12 3 3 3 1

equity 12 3 3 3 1

noncurrent liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Current liabilities 0 0 0 0 0
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the current assets are composed exclusively of cash and cash equivalents in the form of the capital con-
tributions acquired in every case. only the acquisition of shareholdings PsfR001 saRl led to a realization 
of hidden reserves in the inventory (project rights) amounting to euR 115 thousand and corresponding 
deferred tax assets of euR 39 thousand. if the affiliated companies had been included in the group of 
consolidated companies, to the extent possible, since the beginning of the reporting period, their cumu-
lative revenues of euR 0 thousand and their cumulative profit or loss contribution of euR - 8 thousand 
would have been unchanged.

c) Associated companies
associated companies are companies over which the Group is able to exert significant influence by 
virtue of an equity holding, but over which it does not exercise control. normally, there is a rebuttable 
presumption that a 20 to 50 percent investment in the equity or voting rights of a company confers sig-
nificant influence. investments in associated companies are accounted for at equity. upon initial recog-
nition as an associated company, the investment in that company is measured at acquisition cost. if the 
acquisition cost is higher than the Group’s proportional share of equity, as remeasured at the acquisition 
date, goodwill is recognised in the amount of the difference. any necessary impairments are deducted 
from goodwill in subsequent periods. moreover, the accumulated changes in equity are credited or 
charged to the carrying amount of the investment in subsequent periods.

the Group’s share in the profit or loss of the associated company is recognised and presented separately 
in the consolidated income statement. if the proportional share of losses to be absorbed is higher than 
the acquisition cost and the unsecured receivables due from the associated company, no further impair-
ment losses are recognised, unless the Group assumes additional commitments from the associated 
company.

as a general rule, intermediate profits and losses between the Group and the associated company are 
eliminated in the amount of the share of equity held in that company. for reporting purposes, the uni-
form recognition and/or measurement methods of the Group are applied to the financial statements of 
the associated companies.

the company Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG b1, in which the Group holds an equity interest of 
31.2 percent, is organised as a German commercial partnership in the legal form of a limited partnership 
with a limited liability company as general partner (Gmbh & Co. kG). for purposes of calculating the 
at-equity profit or loss, the separate financial statements prepared in accordance with the regulations of 
German commercial law were converted to ifRs. along with ias 32.18b), any recognition and measure-
ment differences were observed in the corresponding ancillary statement.
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b.   ReCoGnition and measuRement methods

(1)  Revenue ReCoGnition and ConstRuCtion ContRaCts

REvEnuE RECoGnItIon
in the case of purchase agreements, revenue is recognised (ias 18) when the goods are delivered (pas-
sage of risk); in the case of contracts for work and services, revenue is recognised when the work is 
accepted by the ordering entity. delivery and acceptance are deemed to have occurred when, in accord-
ance with the contractual agreements, the risks of ownership have been transferred to the buyer or 
accepting entity, the amount of consideration has been contractually stipulated and payment of the 
receivable is probable.

service revenues are recognised when the service is rendered. the stage of completion is determined in 
accordance with the percentage-of-completion method, provided that the outcome can be measured 
reliably. if the outcome of a service cannot be measured reliably, the costs incurred are recognised to 
the extent that they are expected to be recoverable (zero-profit method). in those cases in which a loss 
is anticipated, that loss is recognised in the income statement.

Revenues are presented on a net basis, before value-added tax and after deduction of returns, rebates 
and discounts, and after elimination of intragroup transactions. they are measured as the payments 
received or the fair value of receivables recognised (i.e., the payments expected in respect of such receiv-
ables).

interest income is accrued by application of the effective interest method. dividends are recognised 
when a legal claim to dividends is constituted.

ConStRuCtIon ContRACtS
Construction contracts are defined as customer orders that have not been completely filled. in accord-
ance with ias 11, the percentage-of-completion (PoC) method is used to account for construction con-
tracts, provided that the result can be estimated reliably. under that method, contract revenues and 
profits are recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion in the periods 
in which the work is performed. thus, revenues and profits under fixed-price contracts are recognised 
on the basis of the stage of completion. specifically, they are recognised in proportion to the ratio of the 
internal and external costs incurred at the reporting date to the total estimated costs of each contract 
(cost-to-cost method).

in those cases in which contract revenue cannot be estimated reliably, revenues are recognised in the 
amount of probably recoverable costs incurred (zero profit method). such contracts are presented as 
receivables and payables under long-term construction contracts. if the capitalisable work performed 
exceeds the down payments received, construction contracts are presented as receivables under long-
term construction contracts. if the balance after deduction of down payments received is negative, 
construction contracts are presented as payables under long-term construction contracts. anticipated 
contract losses are recognised in full; in determining such losses, due consideration is given to discern-
ible risks.

borrowing costs that can be attributed directly to the acquisition or production of specific assets are 
added to the carrying amount of those assets, either as incidental acquisition costs or production costs. 
under the PoC method, the corresponding interest costs reduce the profits from customer-specific con-
struction contracts, as a component of production costs.
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(2)  sPeCifiC balanCe sheet items

IntAnGIBLE ASSEtS
in accordance with ias 38, purchased intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost and amortised 
on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, provided that a useful life can be determined. 
there were no indications of a possible impairment in the trademark comprised within this item.

internally generated intangible assets are capitalised only when the corresponding expenditures can 
be attributed to the development phase of the intangible assets in question. the costs must be clearly 
attributable to a development from which the Group can expect to receive future economic benefits; 
such inflow of benefits must last longer than one financial year. in addition, there must be an intention to 
complete the asset, it must be technologically feasible and the necessary resources for that purpose must 
be available. Production cost includes all directly allocable costs of development. once recognised as 
expenses, development costs can no longer be capitalised. until such time as the asset is completed, the 
capitalised development costs are subjected to an annual impairment test. as soon as the asset is ready 
for its intended use, internally generated intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives. Research 
expenses are not capitalised, but recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

in the case of intangible assets with determinable useful lives, the useful lives and the amortisation 
method applied are reviewed and adjusted, when necessary, at least as of every reporting date. any 
such adjustment is made in connection with an estimation change, which is recognised in income in 
accordance with ias 8.

intangible assets have useful lives ranging from three to 15 years.

GooDwILL
Goodwill is the amount by which the cost of an acquisition exceeds the purchased proportion of the 
fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) on the acquisition date. 
by application of ifRs 3 in conjunction with ias 38, goodwill is not subjected to straight-line amortisa-
tion. at the end of the financial year, recognised items of goodwill were subjected to impairment tests 
to confirm the carrying amounts of those assets; in this connection, no need for impairment losses was 
discovered. for purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units that 
are expected to derive economic benefits from the synergies arising from the underlying business com-
binations, regardless of whether other assets or liabilities have been assigned to these cash-generating 
units; the cash-generating units may correspond to the operating segments as the highest level.

PRoPERty, PLAnt AnD EQuIPMEnt
in accordance with ias 16, items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition cost less 
accumulated straight-line depreciation and impairments. the depreciation period is determined with 
reference to the expected economic useful life. items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
pro rata temporis from the acquisition date. the residual carrying amounts, useful lives and deprecia-
tion method applied are reviewed at least at every year-end reporting date. if the expectations at that 
time differ from the previously applied estimates, the corresponding adjustments are made as changes 
of estimates in accordance with ias 8. the acquisition or production cost comprises the purchase price, 
directly allocable costs required to bring the asset to its present location and condition as intended by 
the management, the estimated costs of demolition and clearance of the asset and the restoration of the 
site at which it was located. if an item of property, plant and equipment consists of more than one com-
ponent with different useful lives, such material components are depreciated over their individual useful 
lives. maintenance and repair costs are recognised in income in the period in which they are incurred. 
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borrowing costs are capitalised to the extent that they are individually allocable to the acquisition of a 
qualifying asset. when an item of property, plant and equipment is retired or when no further economic 
benefits are expected from its continued use or retirement, the carrying amount of that asset is derec-
ognised. the gain or loss on the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, which is 
the difference between the net selling price and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised as other 
operating income or other operating expenses as of the date of derecognition.

depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis pro rata temporis over the useful lives, which currently 
range from three to 14 years.

IMPAIRMEnt of IntAnGIBLE ASSEtS AnD PRoPERty, PLAnt AnD EQuIPMEnt (EXCLuDInG GooDwILL)
an impairment test is conducted when there are indications of possible impairments of the carrying 
amounts of intangible assets with definite useful lives or property, plant and equipment. in such cases, 
the recoverable amount of the corresponding asset is determined in order to determine the extent of a 
possibly necessary writedown. the recoverable amount is equal to the fair value less costs to sell, or the 
value-in-use, whichever is higher. the value-in-use is equal to the present value of the expected future 
cash flows. if no recoverable amount can be determined for an individual asset, it is determined for the 
smallest identifiable group of assets (cash-generating unit) to which the asset in question can be attrib-
uted. for that purpose, the projected cash flows to be generated over the estimated useful life of the asset 
or cash-generating unit are estimated. the discount factor applied is determined on the basis of the risks 
associated with the asset or cash-generating unit. the estimated cash flows reflect the assumptions made 
by the management and are corroborated by external information sources. if the recoverable amount 
of an asset is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is immediately recognised in income. if 
the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit for which an impairment loss had been rec-
ognised would be higher in subsequent periods, the earlier impairment loss is reversed; the maximum 
carrying amount of an asset after reversal of an impairment loss is the amortised cost that would have 
resulted without an impairment loss. such reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in income.

LEASES
leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership 
of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. all other leases are classified as operating leases.

the rental and lease payments paid in connection with operating leases are determined once for the 
entire lease term, with due consideration given to contractually stipulated future changes in lease instal-
ments. this determination is made as of the date of lease inception. the corresponding payments are 
recognised as expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the entire term of the lease. 
if the original estimation of contractual elements, such as the exercise or non-exercise of a lease renewal 
option, changes during the lease term, such changes are recognised appropriately as a change of esti-
mates.

the Phoenix companies rent buildings, company cars and operational and business equipment for their 
own use. these leases are classified as operating leases. the lease terms for buildings range from one to 
17 years; the lease terms for company cars and copy machines range from one to four years.

otHER InvEStMEntS
other investments are noncurrent financial investments in equity instruments for which there is no 
active market with listed prices and the fair values of which cannot be determined reliably. other invest-
ments are measured at cost, due to the range of variation of reasonable estimates of the fair value and 
the probabilities of occurrence of the different estimates.
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InvEntoRIES
in accordance with ias 2, inventories are measured upon initial recognition at acquisition or produc-
tion cost plus incidental costs and less purchase price deductions. Production cost comprises all directly 
allocable costs.

the acquisition costs of assets presented as trading stock were measured at weighted average prices.

in subsequent periods, items of reduced marketability are written down to the net realisable value if that 
amount is less than the acquisition or production cost.

the item of “work in progress” comprises unfinished structures on non-owned land which do not qual-
ify for the accounting treatment according to ias 11. if the net realisable value at the reporting date does 
not cover the production costs, the carrying amount presented in the balance sheet is written down to 
the net realisable value.

the expenses for write-downs of trading stock have been recognised in the income statement under the 
item of “Purchased goods and services”. write-downs of “work in progress” are recognised directly in 
the item of “Change in inventories”.

borrowing costs that can be directly attributed to the acquisition or production of individual assets are 
capitalised as incidental acquisition costs.

ADvAnCE PAyMEntS REnDERED
advance payments rendered are recognised as non-financial assets and measured at fair value at the 
acquisition date, which is usually equal to the amount of monetary consideration provided. in subse-
quent periods, the measurement of advance payments rendered depends on whether the correspond-
ing supplier is capable on the reporting date of satisfying the advance payment with delivery of the 
corresponding non-monetary items.

non-DERIvAtIvE fInAnCIAL InStRuMEntS
non-derivative financial instruments include, in particular, trade receivables, other receivables, loans, 
financial assets, securities and liquid assets, as well as financial liabilities and trade payables.

upon initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. transaction 
costs in the course of the purchase of financial instruments (which are not carried at fair value) are 
capitalized. transaction costs that are incurred by the purchase of financial instruments at fair value are 
recorded directly as expenses. in subsequent periods, non-derivative financial instruments are always 
measured at fair value or amortised cost, depending on the category to which they belong. the man-
agement determines the categorisation of non-derivative financial instruments at the time of initial rec-
ognition. if no separate market value is indicated in the notes to the financial statements, the market 
value is approximately equal to the carrying amount.



115Phoenix solaR aG   |   annual RePoRt 2010 notes

the following categories are applied for this purpose:

  held-for-trading (hft) assets are measured at fair value. if no market value is available, the fair value is 
determined with the aid of adequate measurement methods, such as discounted cash flow methods, 
for example. in the Phoenix Group, such financial instruments occur only in connection with hedging 
transactions (derivatives). the gains or losses arising on revaluation are recorded directly in income.
  held-to-maturity (htm) financial investments are measured at amortised cost. they generally do not 
occur in the Phoenix Group.
  loans and receivables (laR), which are not held for trading purposes, are measured upon initial rec-
ognition at fair value, as a general rule, and in subsequent periods at amortised cost. in the Phoenix 
Group, such assets include all receivables due from customers, other receivables and loans. non-inter-
est-bearing and low-interest receivables due in more than one year are discounted to present value, as 
a general rule, by application of the effective interest method. a risk-appropriate, customary market 
rate of interest was applied as the discount factor. specific write-downs are charged, if necessary up to 
the full amount, against receivables which are not expected to be recoverable, with due consideration 
given to credit risks, interest rate risks and cash discount risks. General credit risk is accounted for by 
charging writedowns, which are determined on the basis of past experience values, as a general rule, 
against the receivables portfolio.
  as a general rule, available-for-sale (afs) financial assets are measured at fair value. in the Phoenix 
Group, this category is mainly composed of the assets presented under “other investments.” the 
difference between the acquisition cost and fair value is recognised directly in equity, with due con-
sideration given to deferred taxes. if the fair value is permanently or materially less than the carrying 
amount of such assets, the impairment loss is recognised in income. other investments for which no 
market prices are available and the fair value of which cannot be determined reliably are measured at 
amortised cost. when there are indications of an impairment, an impairment test is conducted and 
any necessary impairment loss is recognised in income.
  financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (amC) are measured upon initial recognition at acqui-
sition cost. in subsequent periods, such liabilities (with the exception of derivative financial instru-
ments) are measured at amortised cost, which is usually equal to the settlement amount.

a financial asset or a component of a financial asset is derecognised when the company loses control 
over the contractual rights to receive cash flows related to the asset or when such contractual rights 
expire. that is usually the case when:

  the rights have been exercised; 
  the rights have expired; 
  the company has relinquished the rights or transferred them to a third party in connection with a sale;
  Contracts expire.

for the purpose of determining whether a loss of control has occurred, the legal and economic posi-
tions of both parties are taken into consideration. if there are indications to the effect that the Phoenix 
Group, as the transferring party, has retained control, the company will continue to recognise the asset 
in its consolidated statement of financial position. any profit or loss on disposal is recognised in income.
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DERIvAtIvE fInAnCIAL InStRuMEntS
the Phoenix Group employs various derivative financial instruments to hedge existing or planned 
underlying transactions against currency risks, interest rate risks and market price risks; the most impor-
tant of these are forward exchange deals, currency swaps and currency options, and interest rate swaps 
and interest rate caps. no derivative financial instruments are held or issued for speculation purposes.

in accordance with ias 39, derivative financial instruments that are not integrated with an effective 
hedge instrument must be categorised as “held for trading” and therefore measured at fair value at the 
trade date, with changes in fair value recognised in income. the fair value of traded derivative financial 
instruments is equal to the market value. as a rule, the Phoenix Group only employs traded deriva-
tive financial instruments; if, however, market pricing is not possible and therefore no market values 
are available, the current market values are calculated by means of recognised financial-mathematical 
models, with due consideration given to the relevant exchange rates, interest rates and credit ratings 
of the counterparties. middle exchange rates are applied for such calculations. at the present time, the 
Phoenix Group does not employ hedge accounting, so that changes in fair value of derivative financial 
instruments are recognised immediately in income.

the fair value of forward exchange deals, currency swaps and interest rate swaps is calculated as the 
difference between the forward exchange rate for the same final maturity applicable as of the report-
ing date and the contracted forward exchange rate. the fair value of currency options is determined 
with the aid of recognised option price models. important input factors include the remaining life of 
the option, the risk-free interest rate, the fixing rate, the current exchange rate and the volatility. the 
fair value of interest rate caps is calculated as the present value of future interest payments, discounted 
by application of a market interest rate that is appropriate for the remaining term to maturity as of the 
reporting date. they are based on the euribor liquid money market rate and have terms of several years, 
which are sub-divided into interest rate adjustment periods. the interest rate is the difference between 
the excess over the corresponding money market rate and the contractual cap rate.

derivative financial instruments with positive fair values are presented as noncurrent or current “other 
current financial assets” and those with negative fair values are presented as noncurrent or current 
“other financial liabilities”, depending on their respective maturities.

derivative financial instruments are derecognised only when the company loses control over the con-
tractual rights to receive cash flows related to the asset or when such contractual rights have expired, in 
accordance with the accounting treatment applied for non-derivative financial instruments.

CASH AnD CASH EQuIvALEntS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise demand deposits, cash on hand and cash in current accounts.

the changes in cash and cash equivalents according to ias 7 are presented in the Cash flow statement.

SuBSCRIBED CAPItAL AnD ADDItIonAL PAID-In CAPItAL RESERvES
equity instruments without auxiliary conditions are always presented as equity.

Costs incurred in connection with an issue of equity instruments are deducted from equity along with 
any income tax advantage (“net-of-tax”).
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SHARE-BASED PAyMEnt tRAnSACtIonS
share-based payment transactions are accounted for in accordance with ifRs 2. thus, share-based com-
pensation is measured at the fair value of the consideration provided, as a general rule. all transactions 
with employees under which equity instruments in the company are issued as consideration for goods 
or services received are deemed to be share-based payment transactions. because the fair value of work 
provided usually cannot be determined, the fair value of the equity instruments granted in exchange for 
such work is applied instead. the Phoenix Group applies the rules applicable to “equity-settled share-
based payment transactions,” so that the fair value is determined with reference to the date of granting 
of the equity instrument, on the one hand, and the exclusively share-based performance targets, on the 
other hand. the associated personnel expenses are distributed on a straight-line basis over the lock-up 
period or vesting period and recognised in equity.

all stock option plans are described in note (40).

non-ContRoLLInG IntEREStS
in accordance with ias 27, non-controlling interests (minority interests) are presented as a separate line 
item within equity in the consolidated balance sheet. Pro-rated losses are charged to the respective non-
controlling interests in proportion to the percentage of Group equity they hold, even when that leads to 
a negative balance for non-controlling interests.

PRovISIonS
in accordance with ias 37, “other provisions” are recognised when a present obligation, legal or con-
structive, has arisen as a result of a past event, and when the probability that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation is greater than 50 percent and 
when the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. the “other provisions” cover all discern-
ible obligations. Provisions for one-off events are measured on the basis of the best estimate and provi-
sions for large populations of events are measured on the basis of an expected value.

other provisions are recognised for all discernible risks and uncertain obligations in the amount of their 
probable occurrence based on best estimates. noncurrent provisions are discounted to present value 
by application of a market rate of interest. Compounding amounts and the effects of changes in interest 
rates are presented within the financial result.

a recovery associated with a provision is capitalised as a separate asset when necessary, provided that 
collection of that amount is as good as certain. Presentation of netted amounts within the provisions is 
not permitted. depending on the circumstances, advance payments rendered at the reporting date are 
deducted from the provisions.

unconditional obligations resulting from the site restoration of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised as liabilities, provided that a reliable estimate is possible, in the period in which they are 
incurred and are measured at the present value of the associated settlement amounts. at the same time, 
the carrying amounts of the corresponding items of property, plant and equipment are increased by 
the same amount. in subsequent periods, the capitalised site restoration costs are amortised over the 
expected remaining useful life of the corresponding asset, while the provision is compounded annually.

Changes in estimates concerning the amount or timing of cash outflows are recognised in income as of 
every reporting date.
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fInAnCIAL LIABILItIES
upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value, which is usually equal to the set-
tlement amount.

trade payables and other non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost by applica-
tion of the effective interest method, as a general rule. with respect to financial liabilities, the Group has 
not exercised the option of designating them as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
upon initial recognition.

financial liabilities are derecognised when the payment obligations related to them have expired.

non-fInAnCIAL LIABILItIES
as a general rule, liabilities are measured at fair value, which is equal to the settlement amount in the 
majority of cases. liabilities due in more than one year are discounted to present value by application of 
the effective interest method.

liabilities for outstanding costs and for other business-related obligations are measured on the basis of 
the expected goods or services still to be provided.

ContInGEnt LIABILItIES/ASSEtS
Contingent liabilities are defined as possible obligations to third parties, the actual existence of which, 
however, depends on the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, which cannot be com-
pletely influenced. they are also defined as obligations that will probably not lead to an outflow of 
economic benefits, or when the amount of such an outflow cannot be reliably measured. in accordance 
with ias 37, contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet; contingent liabilities related to 
a business combination are measured at fair value upon initial recognition.

Possible assets, the recovery of which depends on future events that are not under the control of the 
Phoenix Group (contingent assets) are not recognised as assets.

InCoME tAXES
a) Current taxes
the tax bases for current taxes are determined on the basis of the respective taxpaying entities; they are 
measured at the tax rate in effect on the reporting date. they are presented within the item of “Current 
tax liabilities or assets.”

Changes in current tax liabilities or assets are recognised in income.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only netted when one of the Phoenix companies has a 
legal right and the intention to settle on a net basis.

when taxes refer to line items that have been directly credited to or charged against equity in accord-
ance with ifRs requirements, such taxes are likewise recognised in equity, with no effect on the income 
statement.
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b) Deferred taxes
ias 12 requires application of the liability method and balance sheet approach for determining deferred 
taxes. accordingly, deferred tax assets and/or liabilities must be recognised for temporary differences 
between the tax bases and the carrying amounts of the respective assets and liabilities, which will 
reverse in the future and give rise to income tax effects, and for consolidation transactions to be recog-
nised in income and tax loss carry-forwards.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured with reference to the tax rates that are 
expected to be in effect when an asset is recovered or a liability settled. only those tax rates that are in 
effect or have been announced as of the reporting date are applied for this purpose.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not discounted to present value.

deferred taxes are recognised as income or expenses and in profit or loss for the period, with the excep-
tion of the following transactions:

  a transaction was recognised directly in equity;
  in the case of a business combination;
  in the case of temporary differences between the tax base of an investment and the corresponding 
proportional ifRs equity, if it is expected that this difference will not change in the near future, as by 
way of a dividend payment, for example.

in cases when the tax arises on a business combination accounted for as an acquisition, it is recognised 
as an identifiable asset or liability on the acquisition date, in conformity with ifRs 3.

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted only when one of the Phoenix companies has 
a legal right to settle on a net basis and when they are levied by the same taxing authority on the same 
entity that intends to realise the asset and settle the liability at the same time.

deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the associated tax reductions are likely to occur 
in the future.

(3)  dividend distRibution

to the extent that the Phoenix Group makes its proposals concerning the utilisation of profit or concrete 
dividends accessible to the public after the reporting date, such dividends are presented not as a liability 
at the reporting date because the dividend payment is not to be recognised in the balance sheet.
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(4)  foReiGn CuRRenCy tRanslation

foreign currency transactions, meaning those that are not the functional currency of the respective 
Group company, are translated at the exchange rates applicable on the transaction date. monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate on the report-
ing date. foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in income. non-monetary items (in the 
Phoenix Group consisting mainly of inventories and advance payments rendered on inventories), which 
are measured at historical acquisition cost, are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date, 
in accordance with ias 21.23b).

for purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the separate financial statements of 
the subsidiaries Phoenix solar incorporated, Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., Phoenix solar Pty ltd and Phoenix 
solar l.l.C. are translated in accordance with the functional currency concept. the functional cur-
rency of these companies is the us dollar (usd), the australian dollar (aud) and the omani rial (omR), 
respectively; the corresponding items are translated into euros for purposes of their inclusion in the 
consolidated financial statements. with the exception of equity, balance sheet items are translated at 
the exchange rate on the reporting date and income statement items are translated at the average 
exchange rate for the year. the average exchange rate for the year is calculated by means of weighting 
the respective exchange rates on the last day of every month. equity is carried forward on the basis of 
the exchange rate applied upon initial recognition. the currency difference resulting from the transla-
tion of equity is recognised not in income, but directly in the “currency translation reserve” and pre-
sented separately in the balance sheet.

exchange rates applied in the consolidated financial statements:

Currency pair  Exchange rate on 
reporting date 2010

Average exchange  
rate in 2010

Exchange rate on 
reporting date 2009

Average exchange  
rate in 2009

usd / euR 1.3252 1.3275 1.4406 1.3963

aud / euR 1.3039 1.4448 1.6008 1.7656

JPy / euR 108.53 110.12 133.16 130.34

omR / euR 0.5083 0.5088 0.5497 0.5663

sGd / euR 1.7102 1.8088 2.0218 2.3071

myR / euR 4.0800 4.2634 – –
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C.   notes to the Consolidated inCome statement

the consolidated income statement was prepared in accordance with the cost summary method.

(1)  Revenues

the total revenues, including revenues from long-term construction contracts, were divided among the 
operating segments as follows:

Revenues 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Components & systems 368,412 299,004

Power Plants 267,220 173,974

other 44 54

total 635,676 473,032

Revenues and the breakdown of revenues by operating segments and regions are presented in the seg-
ment report in these notes to the consolidated financial statements (see note (34)).

as of the reporting date, total revenues included revenues from long-term construction contracts 
(according to ias 11) which had not yet been finally invoiced, in the amount of euR 115,906 thousand 
(Py: euR 61,845 thousand).

(2)  inCRease oR deCRease in woRk in PRoGRess

this item presents the increase or decrease in inventories related to work in progress, for those projects 
that are not to be classified as customer-specific contract construction according to ias 11. this item 
comprises two foreign projects that are in the starting phase. 
 
(3)  otheR oPeRatinG inCome

other operating income 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

income from payment of claims for damages 275 13

Remuneration in kind 214 176

income from reversal of provisions and liabilities 817 1,249

electricity income 1,452 1,103

income from disposal of property, plant and equipment 3 2

income from reversal of writedowns 86 625

income from foreign exchange gains 0 230

licensing income 34 0

Consulting income 333 0

other 1,634 499

total 4,848 3,897
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electricity income consisted of remuneration for power grid feeds attributed to the Phoenix Group in 
connection with project-related pilot operations on the basis of contractual agreements.

the income from foreign exchange gains consisted of income from the translation of transactions 
denominated in foreign currency to the functional currency and income from the realisation of the for-
ward exchange deals, swaps and options serving as hedges for such transactions.

the income from the reversal of provisions and liabilities pertained to a large number of provisions 
recognised in prior years, which have not been fully consumed. they are usually recognised for period 
accrual purposes in connection with individual project completion stages and the anticipated specific 
project expenses. the total costs, as well as any additional costs or cost reductions to be included in the 
price, can only be concretised during the course of the projects in question. a significant proportion 
of the reversals were related to market entries, for which the Group still does not possess the necessary 
data for estimating the project costs. on the other hand, the expenses of provisions that had not been 
adequately funded in prior years are assigned to the respective primary cost type.

the income from payments of claims for damages consisted mainly of payments received in connection 
with the adjustment of claims related to contractual relationships in the project business, dealings with 
shipping companies, etc. 

licensing income consisted of remuneration for the use of a joint technological development for base 
frames between the Phoenix Group and a supplier from the year 2007. the agreement stipulates that 
in case of the usage or sale of this development in projects in which Phoenix is not involved, Phoenix is 
entitled to a fixed revenue percentage.

the other operating income comprised items that cannot be assigned to any of the foregoing items, 
including income from training services and other services of the Group , and the result of a value-added 
tax audit, in the amount of euR 1,115 thousand.

(4)  PuRChased Goods and seRviCes

Purchased goods and services have been stated net of discounts granted, rebates and other deductions. 
they were divided among purchased goods and services as follows:

Purchased goods and services 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

expenses of purchased goods 470,481 369,022

expenses of purchased services 83,892 45,349

total 554,373 414,371

the expenses of purchased goods consisted mainly of expenses for the procurement of solar modules, 
inverters and other materials related to the operation of photovoltaic systems.

the expenses of purchased services resulted mainly from the procurement of third-party input services 
for key components, as well as services related to the construction of photovoltaic power plants under 
long-term construction contracts.
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(5)  PeRsonnel exPenses

the personnel expenses break down as follows:

Personnel expenses 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

wages and salaries 19,082 12,631

expenses of stock option plans 1,264 1,074

social security 3,199 2,276

Pension and other benefits 41 36

total 23,586 16,017

since 1 July 2008, the company has offered all its employees a defined contribution pension plan based 
on salary deferral. the company makes matching payments on the contributions of the participating 
employees in accordance with the regulations of tax law and social security law. in the past financial 
year, an employer contribution of euR 41 thousand (Py: euR 36 thousand) was recognised as an expense 
in the income statement. the Group has not extended any defined benefit pension commitments.

the expenses for other pension benefits amounted to euR 4 thousand (Py: euR 4 thousand). these 
expenses resulted from direct insurance plans and contributions under the Capital formation act.

other stock options were issued in the reporting year (see note (40)). the expenses presented in the 
income statement include the expenses of stock option plans to be recognised rateably over the service 
period.

the average number of employees during the financial year is presented in the table below:

Employees (m/f) 2010 2009

members of the executive board (parent company) 5 5

Permanent employees (m/f) (full-time and part-time) 283 211

temporary employees 25 24

total 313 240

(6)  dePReCiation and amoRtisation

depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets amounted to euR 
1,094 thousand in financial year 2010 (Py: euR 667 thousand). a detailed presentation can be found in 
the statement of Changes in noncurrent assets in note (15).
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(7)  otheR oPeRatinG exPenses

other operating expenses 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

administrative expenses 12,081 8,243

selling expenses 9,784 6,638

operating expenses 2,344 1,143

other expenses 1,084 820

total 25,293 16,844

expenses from operating leases amounted to euR 2,763 thousand in financial year 2010 (Py: euR 
2,045 thousand).

the administrative expenses incurred in financial year 2010 included losses of euR 40 thousand on 
the translation of transactions denominated in foreign currencies to the reporting currency (Py: euR 
4 thousand).

selling expenses are composed of both direct sales expenses related to the performance of the sales 
function, primarily for sales commissions, packing for shipping, transport and transport insurance, 
freight, product-related and order-related market research, customer consulting services and bid 
preparation, as well as overhead sales expenses such as expenses of market research, advertising and 
promotion, including the participation in exhibitions and trade fairs, warehousing, sales offices, the 
processing of requests for quotes and orders, bid costing, statistics, invoicing, payment reminders 
and the management of the overall process.

Research and development costs in the amount of euR 163 thousand were recognised as expenses in 
financial year 2010 (Py: euR 18 thousand).

(8)  inCome fRom assoCiated ComPanies

income from associated companies amounted to euR 58 thousand in financial year 2010 (Py: euR 18 
thousand).

(9)  finanCial Result

the financial result was euR 1,010 thousand lower than the prior-year figure. interest expenses in the 
amount of euR 2,483 thousand (Py: euR 1,660 thousand) were incurred mainly for short-term financ-
ing credits and negative fair values of interest rate derivatives; interest income in the amount of euR 
231 thousand (Py: euR 418 thousand) was earned mainly on call money accounts. as in the prior year, 
no interest was capitalised in respect of qualifying assets in financial year 2010.

(10)  inCome taxes

Current and deferred tax expenses and income broke down as follows:

Income taxes 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Current taxes 8,874 2,294

deferred taxes 1,140 85

total 10,014 2,379
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the recognised income tax expenses of euR 10,014 thousand in financial year 2010 (Py: euR 2,379 thou-
sand) were euR 897 thousand higher than the expected income tax expenses of euR 9,117 thousand (Py: 
euR 2,919 thousand), which would have resulted theoretically from the application of the domestic tax 
rate of 26.7 percent (Py: 26.7 percent) to the consolidated profit before income taxes.

the difference between the expected and recognised income tax expenses can be attributed to the fol-
lowing causes:

Reconciliation Statement 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Profit before income taxes 34,148 10,934

income taxes calculated by application of theoretical tax rate 26.7 % (Py: 26.7 %) 9,117 2,919

Changes in income tax expenses as compared to the calculated income tax expenses 
resulting from:

– non-period income taxes 266 - 789

– tax effect of non-deductible expenses for stock options 338 290

– tax effect of other non-deductible expenses 41 175

– tax effect of differing tax rates 87 79

–  tax effect arising from the application of tax loss carry-forwards 
not previously recognised (-) and from the non-recognition of losses (+) - 88 37

– tax effect of differing tax bases 44 45

– other differences/ consolidation 208 - 377

total 10,014 2,379

effective tax rate 29.3 % 21.8 %

the calculated income tax rate resulted from the German local business income tax (10.92 percent), 
the application of the corporate income tax rate (15 percent) and the solidarity surtax (5.5 percent of 
corporate income tax).

the item “tax effect of differing tax rates” resulted mainly from the application of different tax rates for 
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries and business establishments. the foreign income tax rates range from 
12 percent to 40 percent.

income tax expenses and income are broken down as follows:

Income taxes 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Current taxes 8,874 2,294

– thereof in Germany 8,780 2,227

– thereof in foreign countries 94 67

deferred taxes 1,140 85

– thereof in Germany 1,866 498

– thereof in foreign countries - 726 - 583

total 10,014 2,379

the German court system made a ruling on the taxation of stock option plans with conditional capi-
tal increase clauses in 2010. under that ruling, “equity-settled” plans are completely ineligible for tax 
deductions, so that the Group will now incur a significant expenses that are not proportionally deduct-
ible for income taxes and its tax rate will be higher. (see note (40) for information on the Group’s stock 
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option Plan of the Group). the changed method of calculating the tax expenses of prior years gave rise 
to non-period tax expenses of euR 266 thousand. 

deferred taxes can be attributed to the following balance sheet items:

Deferred taxes by balance sheet item 2010 
k€

2009 
k€

Deferred tax assets

measurement of derivatives 50 135

loss carry-forwards capitalised 1,641 856

measurement of provisions 167 81

other 134 505

total 1,922 1,577

– thereof current 1,755 1,428

– thereof noncurrent 167 149

Deferred tax liabilities

internally generated intangible assets 2 1

Property, plant and equipment 30 17

PoC measurement of construction contracts 2,469 1,202

measurement of derivatives 0 38

measurement of inventories 602 265

accrued financing costs 49 102

other/ consolidation 84 126

total 3,236 1,751

– thereof current 3,170 1,458

– thereof noncurrent 66 293

in total, deferred taxes of euR 123 thousand (Py: euR 237 thousand) were netted with each other. all 
changes in deferred taxes in the reporting period 2010 and 2009 were recognized as tax income.

the subsidiaries of Phoenix solar aG generated a tax loss of euR 2,246 thousand in financial year 2010 
(Py: euR 3,423 thousand) for most of which deferred tax assets were recognised. the total amount of 
non-recognised losses was euR 65 thousand (Py: euR 338 thousand). loss carry-forwards that can be 
carried forward for no more than five years were recognised in the amount of euR 4,158 thousand (Py: 
euR 3,085 thousand); loss carry-forwards that can be carried forward for no more than 20 years were 
recognised in the amount of euR 1,447 thousand (Py: euR 0 thousand). for the above stated tax loss 
carry-forwards and temporary differences, deferred tax assets were formed, as the management expects 
to recover these tax assets in the foreseeable future due to sufficient planned taxable income. that 
applies particularly to the new subsidiary formed in the united states in financial year 2010, which rec-
ognised start-up losses in the amount of euR 1,447 thousand as of the reporting date.
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as in the prior year, no deferred taxes were recognised for outside basis differences in financial year 2010 
because most of the subsidiaries did not have net assets that would allow for dividend distributions as of 
the reporting date, or any such funds were intended for the purpose of internally funding the respective 
subsidiaries; outside basis differences of euR 1,815 thousand were calculated as of 31 december 2010 
(Py: euR 1.868 thousand).

by reason of the fact that the capital increase costs incurred in financial year 2010 are deductible, current 
income taxes of euR 118 thousand were recognised directly in equity.

(11)  eaRninGs PeR shaRe

in accordance with ias 33, the earnings per share are calculated from the consolidated profit after taxes 
and after non-controlling interests and from the average number of shares outstanding in the past finan-
cial year.

Basic earnings per share 2010 2009

Consolidated profit after taxes (in k€) 23,987 8,555

average number of shares outstanding in the financial year (in units) 7,017,008 6,697,368

Basic earnings per share (in €) 3,44 1,28

for purposes of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding is corrected by the number of potential diluting shares. the number of potentially dilut-
ing shares is calculated by determining the hypothetical number of bonus shares that would have to 
be granted on the basis of the ratio of the share price to the exercise price. the stock option Plan of 
the Phoenix solar Group causes such a potential dilution. the exercise of the stock options granted 
in connection with these plans depends on the price development of the shares of Phoenix solar aG. 
for calculating this share price development, certain performance criteria that are defined in the stock 
option Plan were applied. a detailed description of the stock option Plan of the Phoenix Group can be 
found in note (40).

Diluted earnings per share 2010 2009

Consolidated profit after taxes (in k€) 23,987 8,555

average number of shares outstanding (in units) 7,017,008 6,697,368

Correction for potentially diluting shares 0 4,716

average number of shares outstanding (including potentially diluting shares) 7,017,008 6,702,084

Diluted earnings per share (in €) 3.44 1.28

as of 31 december 2010, the Group disposed of authorised Capital after partial utilisation in the amount 
of euR 2,681,0 thousand, which was not included in the calculations, however, because no diluting 
effect will arise from that fact in the current period. the Contingent Capital of euR 2,814.0 thousand was 
included in the calculation of the diluted earnings per share only to the extent that stock options have 
already been issued.

the consolidated profit after taxes for 2010 was added to the distributable profit as of 31 december 2010. 
the executive board of Phoenix solar aG proposes the distribution of a dividend of euR 0.35 (Py: euR 
0.20) per share on 7,372,700 shares.



128 Phoenix solaR aG   |   annual RePoRt 2010notes

d.   notes to the Consolidated statement of finanCial Position

(12)   intanGible assets

for information on the development of carrying amounts, please refer to the Consolidated statement of 
Changes in noncurrent assets (note (15)).

Phoenix solar aG developed a new frame technology for mounting photovoltaic modules. this technol-
ogy is protected by a utility patent. it was recognised in the balance sheet as an internally generated 
intangible asset and measured at the production cost of euR 29 thousand. since the development was 
completed and the technology commissioned in 2007, amortisation was begun over a useful life of 
three years. two projects reached the stage of marketable development in financial year 2010, so that 
the corresponding costs were capitalised for the first time. one project relates to an assembly system 
for rooftop designs in connection with photovoltaic plants and the other project relates to a planning 
software program. anticipated beginning of useful life is planned for 2011 and each one of these items 
is expected to have a useful life of three years.

scheduled amortisation is presented in the income statement under the item of “depreciation and 
amortisation”. there was no need to recognise impairment losses either in financial year 2010 or in the 
previous year.

Significant intangible assets Carrying 
amount as of 

31/12/2010
k€

Carrying 
amount as of 

31/12/2009
k€

Remaining 
amortisation 

period

eRP software 2,376 1,234 5 years

“Phoenix” trademark 188 219 6 years

development costs 194 0 2 years

in addition, the purchased intangible assets comprise license rights to use the system software and 
application software products of various different vendors.
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(13)  Goodwill

the goodwill of the Phoenix solar energy investments aG (euR 272 thousand), which was acquired effec-
tive 15 march 2002, was recognised upon initial consolidation. Phoenix solar energy investments aG was 
merged with Phoenix solar aG on 31 december 2009.

as of 1 January 2008, the initial consolidation of the company Renewable energies development 2002 
(Red 2002) s.r.l. in Rome, which had formerly been accounted for at equity, gave rise to goodwill in the 
amount of euR 235 thousand. 

the allocation of goodwill amounts to cash-generating units (CGus) is presented in the table below:

Goodwill 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

Power Plants 272 272

Components & systems 235 235

other 26 26

total 533 533

in accordance with ifRs 3 in conjunction with ias 38, goodwill items are not subjected to systematic 
amortisation. instead, an annual impairment test is conducted to review the substantive value of good-
will. for that purpose, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit is compared with its future 
income value. the future income value is calculated by application of the discounted cash flow method. 
Current forecasts based on the three-year medium-term plan approved by the management and used 
also for internal purposes, which are mostly backed by external data on market trends, are applied for 
that purpose. significant assumptions applied by the management for the purpose of calculating the 
recoverable amounts include forecasts of market volumes, market prices and the availability of solar mod-
ules, inverters and other goods related to the company’s portfolio, as well as regulatory developments, 
growth rates and capital costs. the expected future cash flows of the cash-generating unit, which are 
based on the three-year medium-term plan, are discounted to present value by application of a weighted 
average capital cost rate before income taxes of 8.01 percent for the domestic business (Py: 7.76 percent), 
and of 9.57 to 10.84 percent for the foreign companies (Py: 10.21 percent). for purposes of calculating a 
perpetual annuity, a growth factor of 1 percent was assumed like the year before. an impairment loss is 
deemed to have occurred when the future income value is less than the carrying amount.

no impairment losses needed to be recognised in financial year 2010. even assuming that the revenues 
of one of the cash-generating units would be 5 percent less or that interest rates would be 10 percent 
higher, no need for impairment losses would arise.  in the Phoenix Group, the annual impairment test of 
goodwill on the level of the cash-generating units is conducted in the local currency in the fourth quarter 
of every financial year.

(14)  PRoPeRty, Plant and eQuiPment

for information on the development of carrying amounts, please refer to the Consolidated statement of 
Changes in noncurrent assets (note (15)).

this item was mainly composed of operational and office equipment and leasehold improvements.

as in the previous year, no impairment losses needed to be recognised in financial year 2010.
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(15)  Consolidated statement of ChanGes in nonCuRRent assets

Changes in noncurrent assets within the Phoenix Group:

(16)  shaRes in assoCiated ComPanies

as an associated company, Phönix sonnenfonds Gmbh & Co. kG b1 (kG b1) is accounted for by applica-
tion of the equity method. 

the carrying amounts showed the following development in financial year 2010:

2010
k€

2009
k€

Carrying amount at 01/01/ 404 436

+ acquisition 0 0

- disposal 0 0

- dividends - 44 - 50

+ Profit shares 58 18

Carrying amount at 31/12/ 418 404

Acquisition or production cost Accumulated amortisation and depreciation

2010

Balance at 
01/01/

k€

Acquisition  
in financial  

year 2010
k€

Disposal  
in financial 

year 2010
k€

Currency
translation

k€

Balance at 
31/12/

k€

Balance at 
01/01/

k€

Acquisition  
in financial  

year 2010
k€

Disposal  
in financial 

year 2010
k€

Currency
translation

k€

Balance at 
31/12/

k€

Carrying 
amounts

31/12/2010
k€

Carrying 
amounts

31/12/2009
k€

internally generated intangible assets 29 194 0 0 223 27 2 0 0 29 194 2

acquired intangible assets 2,887 1,553 0 0 4,440 818 348 2 0 1,164 3,276 2,069

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 533 0 0 0 0 0 533 533

operational and office equipment 2,995 1,098 159 11 3,945 1,264 640 159 2 1,747 2,199 1,731

fixtures and fittings 1,162 43 0 0 1,205 188 104 0 0 292 912 974

total noncurrent assets 7,606 2,888 159 11 10,346 2,297 1,094 161 2 3,232 7,114 5,309

2009 01/01/ 31/12/ 01/01/ 31/12/ 31/12/2009 31/12/2008

internally generated intangible assets 29 0 0 0 29 17 10 0 0 27 2 12

acquired intangible assets 1,161 1,739 13 0 2,887 626 195 3 0 818 2,069 535

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 533 0 0 0 0 0 533 533

operational and office equipment 2,041 957 8 5 2,995 879 386 2 1 1,264 1,731 1,162

fixtures and fittings 601 561 0 0 1,162 112 76 0 0 188 974 489

total noncurrent assets 4,365 3,257 21 5 7,606 1,634 667 5 1 2,297 5,309 2,731
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these items were measured on the basis of separate company financial statements, which were con-
verted to ifRs.

Aggregated financial information on the associated company 2010
k€

2009
k€

assets 851 951

liabilities 5 5

Revenues 142 167

equity * 846 946

total assets 851 951

Profit for the year 58 56

*  for presentation purposes, the capital of kG b1 was presented as equity although it would be classified as debt capital according to ias 32 if applicable, 
due in particular to the partners’ claim to payment of an indemnity.

Acquisition or production cost Accumulated amortisation and depreciation

2010

Balance at 
01/01/

k€

Acquisition  
in financial  

year 2010
k€

Disposal  
in financial 

year 2010
k€

Currency
translation

k€

Balance at 
31/12/

k€

Balance at 
01/01/

k€

Acquisition  
in financial  

year 2010
k€

Disposal  
in financial 

year 2010
k€

Currency
translation

k€

Balance at 
31/12/

k€

Carrying 
amounts

31/12/2010
k€

Carrying 
amounts

31/12/2009
k€

internally generated intangible assets 29 194 0 0 223 27 2 0 0 29 194 2

acquired intangible assets 2,887 1,553 0 0 4,440 818 348 2 0 1,164 3,276 2,069

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 533 0 0 0 0 0 533 533

operational and office equipment 2,995 1,098 159 11 3,945 1,264 640 159 2 1,747 2,199 1,731

fixtures and fittings 1,162 43 0 0 1,205 188 104 0 0 292 912 974

total noncurrent assets 7,606 2,888 159 11 10,346 2,297 1,094 161 2 3,232 7,114 5,309

2009 01/01/ 31/12/ 01/01/ 31/12/ 31/12/2009 31/12/2008

internally generated intangible assets 29 0 0 0 29 17 10 0 0 27 2 12

acquired intangible assets 1,161 1,739 13 0 2,887 626 195 3 0 818 2,069 535

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 533 0 0 0 0 0 533 533

operational and office equipment 2,041 957 8 5 2,995 879 386 2 1 1,264 1,731 1,162

fixtures and fittings 601 561 0 0 1,162 112 76 0 0 188 974 489

total noncurrent assets 4,365 3,257 21 5 7,606 1,634 667 5 1 2,297 5,309 2,731
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(17)  otheR investments

the item of “other investments” includes the cooperative share in a bank and a 50-percent share in 
the company solaR GRieChenland beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh & Co. kG, which was founded in 
financial year 2007. in 2010, that company had assets of euR 1,582 thousand (Py: euR 1,327 thousand), 
liabilities of euR 1,285 thousand (Py: euR 1,038 thousand), revenues of euR 0 thousand (Py: euR 0 thou-
sand) and a profit before taxes of euR 13 thousand (Py: euR 13 thousand). solaR GRieChenland beteili-
gungsgesellschaft mbh & Co. kG, in turn, holds a 100 percent equity stake in kalenta solar m.e.P.e. 
Greece, a shelf company for project planning work in Greece. Caused by the lack of an effective signifi-
cant influence, the company is measured at cost. due to the uncertainties inherent in the business model 
and the industry-specific regulations in Greece, the carrying amount of euR 160 thousand (Py: euR 160 
thousand) is largely equal to the fair value. 

(18)  nonCuRRent ReCeivables

the item of noncurrent receivables includes, among other things, a purchase price receivable in the 
amount of euR 450 thousand, which has been deferred until 31 december 2023. it bears interest at the 
rate of 5.5 percent p. a. until 31 december 2015 and at the rate of 6.0 percent p. a. from 1 January 2016 
to the date of payment in full.

this item also includes a prepaid lease expense item of euR 196  thousand (Py: euR 207 thousand) for 
land in italy. it also includes a loan in the amount of euR 30 thousand, which matures on 30 June 2012. it 
bears interest at the rate of 6.5 percent p. a.

(19)  inventoRies

the inventories broke down as follows:

2010
k€

2009
k€

trading stock 153,301 72,470

write-down - 3,928 - 3,285

net value of trading stock 149,373 69,185

work in progress 163 0

write-down 0 0

net carrying amount 163 0

Amount stated in the balance sheet 149,536 69,185

the trading stock inventory consisted mainly of photovoltaic modules, inverters and other components 
used in photovoltaic plant engineering. the inventory usually has duration of less of than a reporting 
period. of the total trading stock, an amount of euR 33,117 thousand (Py: euR 25,488 thousand) related 
to insured goods in transit.

based on the estimation of the executive board that certain sales revenues will probably be lower than 
acquisition costs, such inventories were written down to the lower net realisable value less costs to sell.

as of 31 december 2010, the carrying amount of trading stock measured at net realisable value less 
costs to sell amounted to euR 45,567 thousand (Py: euR 4,386 thousand). the expenses of the corre-
sponding write-downs amounted to euR 3,928 thousand (Py: euR 2,102 thousand).
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the carrying amount of inventories recognised as period expenses amounted to euR 470,481 thousand 
(Py: euR 369,022 thousand); at the same time, reversals of write-downs have been recognised in the 
amount of euR 1,723 thousand (Py: euR 0 thousand), to account for higher market prices.

the inventories presented in the balance sheet were subject to the (extended) retention-of-title arrange-
ments that are customary in the case of purchase agreements.

(20)  advanCe Payments RendeRed

the item of advance payments rendered consisted mainly of advance payments to sub-contractors and 
suppliers, which are secured by guarantees. all such payments are short-term, mostly project-related 
advance payments.

(21)  ReCeivables and Payables undeR lonG-teRm ConstRuCtion ContRaCts

as of the reporting date, gross receivables under long-term construction contracts amounted to euR 
120,790 thousand (Py: euR 58,943 thousand). most of these receivables relate to projects in Germany. 
Contract revenues of euR 116,138 thousand (Py: euR 61,845 thousand), contract costs of euR 105,591 
thousand (Py: euR 55,471 thousand) and profits of euR 10,547 thousand (Py: euR 4,944 thousand) were 
recognised. the profits included foreign currency effects in the amount of euR 77 thousand. losses in 
the amount of euR 47 thousand (Py: euR 1,164 thousand) were recognised as expenses in respect of 
contracts that are expected to conclude with a negative profit margin.

down payments of euR 61,332 thousand (Py: euR 17,871 thousand) were collected on account of con-
tracts and other down payments of euR 24,302 thousand (Py: euR 33,399 thousand) were requested on 
account of contracts.

in consideration of the requested and recognisable down payments and partial invoices, the presented 
amount of euR 82,227 thousand (Py: euR 41,072 thousand) breaks down as follows:

31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

Receivables under long-term construction contracts after deduction of partial invoices 
based on stage of completion 57,925 15,721

Plus requested and recognisable partial invoices 24,302 25,351

Amount presented in the balance sheet 82,227 41,072

the borrowing costs of euR 2,001 thousand (Py: euR 592 thousand) recognised in connection with 
long-term contract construction were capitalised as project costs; an interest rate of 3.4 to 3.5 percent 
(Py: 3.4 to 3.5 percent) was applied as the borrowing cost rate. 

Payments in respect of receivables under long-term construction contracts are expected in the time 
periods presented in the table below. in this regard, it was assumed firstly that work under contracts in 
progress will be completed in time for every one of the planned work stages (so-called “milestones”) 
stipulated in the payment agreements, and secondly that no significant delays will occur between the 
date of contractual fulfilment of the milestone conditions and the corresponding payment inflows. in 
that respect, the presentation differs from the presentation of delayed payment of trade receivables, for 
example (see note (22)).
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Expected receipt of payment

Per 31/12/2010

Carrying 
amount

k€

fewer  
than 30  

days
k€

Between  
31 and 90 

days
k€

Between  
91 and 360 

days
k€

More than 
360 

days
k€

Receivables under long-term construction 
contracts 82,227 285 1,552 80,390 0

Per 31/12/2009

Receivables under long-term construction 
contracts 41,072 0 1,189 39,883 0

for the security of receivables from long-term construction contracts the Phoenix Group demands in 
addition to the mandatory contractor lien, and usually agreed milestone payment amounts, in line with 
industry standards customer financing commitments funded by its financial institutions, bank guarantees 
or any proper security deposits. unpaid materials are also subject to the retention-of-title arrangements.

(22) tRade ReCeivables

the trade receivables break down as follows:

trade receivables 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

Gross receivables 33,822 26,368

less write-downs - 2,682 - 1,861

Amount presented in the balance sheet 31,140 24,507

the fair values of trade receivables are equal to their carrying amounts. although the payment terms 
applied are determined on the basis of customer-specific credit ratings and regional practices relatives 
to payment dates, write-downs charged against receivables that are expected to be uncollectible and 
write-downs charged on a portfolio basis were unavoidable.

in the table below, the maturity structure of receivables is presented without write-downs; in contrast to 
the presentation of receivables under long-term construction contracts (see note (21)) the amounts pre-
sented in the table below were past due according to the respective payment terms by the length of time 
indicated therein for the receivables realised, but not yet subjected to write-downs at the reporting date:

not written down and due for payment at the  
reporting date

As of 31/12/2010

total

k€

neither 
written down 

nor due for 
payment

k€

Since fewer 
than  

30 days

k€

Between  
31 and 90 

days

k€

Between  
91 and 360 

days

k€

Since more 
than  

360 days

k€

trade receivables 31,140 7,722 14,854 5,961 2,603 0

As of 31/12/2009

trade receivables 24,507 15,451 6,632 866 1,558 0
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the write-downs charged against trade receivables attributable to the measurement category “loans 
and Receivables” showed the following development in financial year 2010:

2010
k€

2009
k€

write-downs at 01/01/ 1,861 2,641

foreign exchange differences 0 0

utilisation - 121 - 169

Reversal 0 - 611

addition 942 0

write-downs at 31/12/ 2,682 1,861

the expenses for the complete charge-off of trade receivables and the income from the recovery of 
charged-off trade receivables are presented in the table below:

2010
k€

2009
k€

expenses for the charge-off of receivables 21 2

income from recovery of charged-off receivables 0 0

expenses for the charge-off of receivables are recognised at the time when the receivable is deemed to 
be definitively uncollectible. definitive uncollectibility is assumed at the time when the Group attains 
knowledge of proportional satisfaction from a bankruptcy estate.

(23)  otheR finanCial assets

a) noncurrent other financial assets
the subsidiary of Phoenix solar aG, solaR GRieChenland beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh & Co. kG, 
extended its interest-bearing bullet loan of euR 642 thousand (Py: euR 505 thousand) maturing at the 
end of 2012. based on the current project planning status in Greece, it is expected that most of the 
projects can be completed with an appropriate profit margin in 2011 and 2012. based on the fair market 
interest rate of 6.5 percent, Phoenix solar aG collected interest income of euR 32 thousand in 2010 (Py: 
euR 29 thousand).

the remaining amount consisted of security deposits in reputable banks, which have been pledged in 
favour of the Phoenix Group and bear interest at market terms.
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b) Current other financial assets
the current other financial assets break down as follows:

Current other financial assets 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

supplier credits 2,876 177

other receivables 1,469 0

advance payments 866 216

Creditors with debit balances 427 36

Receivables under financial transfer operations 180 377

derivatives 0 141

other 123 214

total 6,816 1,161

the supplier credits presented in the consolidated statement of financial position related mainly to 
goods that were the subject of complaints and were reimbursed in money. Current financial assets of 
this type are secured by way of retention-of-title clauses.

the current other receivables consisted mainly of a permanent advance to a supplier, in the amount of 
euR 875 thousand (Py: euR 875 thousand). the advance is secured by bank guarantees and is due and 
payable on 31 december 2011. this item also comprises advances to employees of the Phoenix Group, 
which are secured by salary deductions within the maximum garnishment limits.

c) other financial asset
the expected payment receipts of other financial assets are presented in the tables that follow:

Expected receipt of payment

As of 31/12/2010

Carrying 
amount

k€

fewer  
than 30  

days
k€

Between  
31 and 90 

days
k€

Between  
91 and 360 

days
k€

More than 
360 

days
k€

financial assets 7,541 553 4,920 1,343 725

due in one year or less 6,816 553 4,920 1,343 0

due in more than one year 725 0 0 0 725

As of 31/12/2009

financial assets 2,605 401 47 713 1,444

due in one year or less 1,161 401 47 713 0

due in more than one year 1,444 0 0 0 1,444
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(24)  infoRmation on finanCial instRuments by CateGoRy

in the table below, the carrying amounts and fair values of individual financial assets and liabilities are 
presented for each category of financial instruments. 

2010 Measurement
category as per 

IAS 39*

Carrying 
amounts

k€

total carrying 
amounts  

within the 
scope of IfRS 7

k€

fair
value

k€

other investments afs 160 160 160 1

noncurrent receivables laR 688 688 688

other noncurrent financial assets laR 725 725 725

liabilities under long-term construction contracts laR 82,227 82,227 82,227

trade receivables laR 31,140 31,140 31,140

other current financial assets laR 6,816 6,816 6,816 

derivatives not used for hedging hft 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents laR 9,588 9,588 9,588

total assets 131,344 131,344 131,344

noncurrent financial liabilities amC 37 37 37

Current financial liabilities amC 52,642 52,642 52,642

total financial liabilities 52,679 52,679 52,679

liabilities under long-term construction contracts amC 267 267 267

trade payables amC 84,538 84,538 84,538

other financial liabilities 6,859 6,859 6,859

derivatives not used for hedging hft 185 185 185

total financial liabilities  91,849 91,849 91,849

*  afs: available-for-sale; laR: loans and Receivables; hft: held-for-trading; amC: amortised Cost. for a description of measurement categories, please 
refer to note 2 “non-derivative financial instruments.”

1  the fair value of this investment was measured at cost due to the lack of an active market and the limited activity of the company in which the invest-
ment is held.
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2009 Measurement
category as per 

IAS 39*

Carrying 
amounts

k€

total carrying 
amounts  

within the 
scope of IfRS 7

k€

fair
value

k€

other investments afs 160 160 160 1

noncurrent receivables laR 687 687 687

other noncurrent financial assets laR 1,444 1,444 1,444

liabilities under long-term construction contracts laR 41,072 41,072 41,072

trade receivables laR 24,507 24,507 24,507

other current financial assets laR 2,464 2,464 2,464

derivatives not used for hedging hft 141 141 141

Cash and cash equivalents laR 24,461 24,461 24,461

total assets 94,936 94,936 94,936

noncurrent financial liabilities amC 47 47 47

Current financial liabilities amC 6 6 6

total financial liabilities 53 53 53

liabilities under long-term construction contracts amC 302 302 302

trade payables amC 51,705 51,705 51,705

other financial liabilities 3,824 3,824 3,824

derivatives not used for hedging hft 500 500 500

total financial liabilities 56,331 56,331 56,331

*  afs: available-for-sale; laR: loans and Receivables; hft: held-for-trading; amC: amortised Cost. for a description of measurement categories, please 
refer to note 2 “non-derivative financial instruments.”

1  the fair value of this investment was measured at cost due to the lack of an active market and the limited activity of the company in which the invest-
ment is held.

the fair value of loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial investments and non-derivative liabili-
ties is calculated as the present value of future cash inflows or outflows. these cash flows are discounted 
to present value by application of an appropriate discount factor for the maturity in question, updated 
at the reporting date, with due consideration given to the counterparty’s credit rating. in those cases in 
which an exchange-listed price is available, that price is applied as the fair value.

due to the mainly short-term maturity of trade receivables and payables, other receivables and liabilities 
and cash and cash equivalents, the carrying amounts at the reporting date are not significantly different 
from the fair values.

derivatives have been measured at its fair values.
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the expenses, income, losses and gains of financial instruments can be attributed to the following 
 categories:

2010 LaR
k€

AmC
k€

AfS
k€

Hft
k€

total
k€

interest income 231 0 0 0  231

interest expenses 0 - 2,483 0 0 - 2,483

Changes in fair value 0 0 0 220 220

expenses of impairment losses - 2,682 0 0 0 - 2,682

income from reversals of impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0

Gains on disposal 8 192 0 0 8

losses on disposal - 21 0 0 - 17 - 38

net result - 4,947 - 2,291 0 203 - 4,744

2009 LaR
k€

AmC
k€

AfS
k€

Hft
k€

total
k€

interest income 418 0 0 0 418

interest expenses 0 - 1,660 0 0 - 1,660

Changes in fair value 0 0 0 - 391 - 391

expenses of impairment losses - 3,025 0 0 0 - 3,025

income from reversals of impairment losses 0 0 0 0 0

Gains on disposal 760 0 0 89 849

losses on disposal - 627 0 0 - 4 - 631

net result - 4,019 - 1,660 0 - 306 - 4,440

the amounts presented in the “held-for-trading” (hft) column are composed almost exclusively of 
interest expenses and interest income from interest rate and interest rate-currency hedges, which are 
not part of an accounting hedge.

(25)  otheR non-finanCial assets

the other non-financial assets in the amount of euR 15,411 thousand (Py: euR 6,926 thousand) con-
sisted mainly of foreign sales tax receivables in the amount of euR 14,780 thousand (Py: euR 6,787 
thousand).

(26)  Cash and Cash eQuivalents

the cash and cash equivalents due in three months or less are presented in the table below:

Cash and cash equivalents 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

Cash on hand 5 7

Cash in banks 9,583 24,454

total 9,588 24,461

Cash on hand and cash in banks are stated at face value. Cash funds are not subject to any restrictions 
on disposal.
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Cash on hand and cash in banks in foreign currency are translated to the reporting currency at the mid-
dle exchange on the reporting date. measurement differences between acquisition costs and current 
market values are recognised in the income statement as other operating income or other operating 
expenses.

the interest rates in financial year 2010 were between 0.1 percent and 0.9 percent (Py: 0.1 percent and 
1.2 percent).

(27)  eQuity

for information on changes in equity, please refer to the statement of Changes in equity. 

as of 31 december 2010, the share capital amounted to euR 7,372.7 thousand (Py: euR 6,700.7 thou-
sand). it was divided into 7,372,700 (Py: 6,700,700) no-par bearer shares (common shares) and was 
fully paid-in at the reporting date for the consolidated financial statements. the increase in share capital 
resulted from the capital increase conducted on 13 July 2010 (670,200 common shares) and from the 
exercise during the financial year of 1,800 (Py: 16,200) stock options issued in 2007.

the annual general meeting of 16 June 2010 resolved to establish an authorised Capital 2010/i and a 
Conditional Capital. it also resolved to annul the authorised Capital 2006/i and make amendments to 
the company’s articles of incorporation. by resolution of the annual general meeting, the company’s 
share capital was increased by euR 2,814,000.00 on a conditional basis (Conditional Capital 2010/i). 

by resolution of the annual general meeting, the executive board is authorised to increase the com-
pany’s share capital, with the consent of the supervisory board, by up to euR 3,351,250.00 in exchange 
for cash and/or in-kind capital contributions on one or more occasions in the time until 15 June 2015, 
for which purpose the subscription right of shareholders can be excluded (authorised Capital 2010/i). 
following the capital increase conducted on 13 July 2010, the authorised Capital 2010/i after partial 
utilisation amounted to euR 2,681,050.00. 

in that connection, the executive board was authorised, with the consent of the supervisory board, to 
issue convertible bonds and/or bonds with warrants in bearer form, or a combination of those instru-
ments (referred to collectively as the “bonds”), in the total nominal amount of up to euR 200 million, 
with a term of no longer than five years, entitling the holders to purchase a total of up to 2,814,000 
bearer shares of Phoenix solar aG in the time until 15 June 2015, in accordance with the conversion or 
warrant terms and conditions (referred to hereinafter as the “terms and conditions”) to be resolved by 
the executive board, with the consent of the supervisory board. the bonds will be issued in exchange 
for cash or in-kind contributions. they can be issued on one or more occasions, all at once or in different 
parts or tranches subject to equivalent rights and obligations. the terms and conditions of the bonds 
may also stipulate obligatory conversions at the end of the term or on earlier dates, including the obliga-
tion to exercise the conversion and/or warrant right. the conversion or warrant price may not be less 
than 80 percent of the determining share price, which is the average closing price over the ten stock 
exchange days preceding the date of the resolution adopted by the executive board to make an offer of 
bonds for the Phoenix solar aG share in the xetra trading platform (or comparable successor system) of 
deutsche börse aG, frankfurt am main.
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the additional paid-in capital consists of issue premiums paid in connection with capital increases and 
the recognition of stock options. the capital increase conducted on 13 July 2010 at a placement price of 
euR 32.00 per share raised gross issue proceeds of euR 21,446.4 thousand. after deduction of the euR 
670.2 thousand appropriated to share capital and the net capital increase costs of euR 314.7 thousand, 
the additional paid-in capital was increased by euR 20,461.5 thousand. an additional amount of euR 
33.0 thousand consisting of premiums resulting from the exercise during the financial year of 1,800 
stock options issued in 2007 was appropriated to additional paid-in capital. furthermore, an amount 
of euR 1,294.7 thousand resulting from granted stock options was appropriated to additional paid-in 
capital in financial year 2010.

the annual general meeting of 7 July 2006 resolved to introduce a stock option plan for members of the 
executive board, members of the senior management of Group companies and other selected senior 
managers and key employees of the company. a Conditional Capital of euR 553 thousand was created 
for that purpose. by virtue of this authorisation, the executive board of Phoenix solar aG established a 
stock option plan (“stock option Plan 2006”, also referred to as “soP 2006”) on 10 september 2007. 
under this plan, a total of 330,850 stock options were issued in four tranches to members of the execu-
tive board, members of the senior management of Group companies and key employees of the com-
pany as of the reporting date. of that total, 47,950 stock options expired due to resignations and 18,000 
were exercised. as of the reporting date, therefore, there remained 264,900 stock options, which can 
be exercised by the beneficiaries only if they are still employed by the company or a Group company 
and the employment relationship has not been validly terminated by either party on the exercise date. 

of the 33,250 stock options issued in 2007, 6,250 (Py: 6,250) stock options expired due to resignations 
and 1,800 (Py: 16,200) stock options were exercised. each stock option under the soP 2006 (2007) 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share of the company at the exercise price of euR 19.32 per 
share (nominal value: euR 1). as of the reporting date, the corresponding capital contributions in the 
amount of euR 35 thousand (Py: euR 313 thousand) were paid into the company for its free disposal and 
were recognised accordingly in the items of share capital, in the amount of euR 1,800 (Py: euR 16,200), 
and additional paid-in capital, in the amount of euR 33 thousand (Py: euR  297 thousand).

under agenda item ii, the annual general meeting of 16 June 2010 adopted the resolution on the uti-
lisation of the accumulated distributable profit of Phoenix solar aG from financial year 2009 for the 
distribution of a dividend of euR 0.20 per share. a total amount of euR 1,341 thousand (Py: euR 2,005 
thousand) was paid to shareholders as a dividend in respect of the dividend-qualifying share capital of 
euR 6,700.7 thousand.

the accumulated other comprehensive income underwent the following changes in financial year 2010:

k€

balance at 01/01/2010 48,679

dividend distribution - 1,341

Currency difference - 38

Consolidated profit for 2010 - 24,153

Balance at 31/12/2010 71,453

the non-controlling interests in consolidated equity presented in the balance sheet are related to the 
direct investments in Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore, and Phoenix solar l.l.C., muscat, oman, and 
indirectly the investment in Phoenix solar sdn bhd, kuala lumpur, malaysia. 
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DISCLoSuRES ConCERnInG CAPItAL MAnAGEMEnt
Capital management is handled centrally for the Phoenix Group by Phoenix solar aG, at the main head-
quarters in sulzemoos, for itself and the subsidiaries.

the principal objectives of the centralised capital management of Phoenix solar aG are:

  assuring the necessary capital base to finance the company’s growth;
  managing working capital in the most exact way possible;
  monitoring the equity base; and
  assuring the company’s status as a going concern.

the capital managed by this means is balance sheet equity.

as a consequence of these goals, one essential task of capital management is to monitor compliance 
with minimum capital ratios and observance of the interest coverage ratio stipulated in the covenants to 
credit facility agreements with banks.

the obligation to demonstrate compliance with the required minimum equity ratio in the consolidated 
financial statements and to maintain a pre-defined interest coverage ratio was consistently fulfilled in 
financial year 2010. 

the results were the following:

31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

equity 142,445 97,264

total assets 313,307 182,232

equity ratio 45.5 % 53.4 %

the Phoenix Group scored as at 31 december 2010 an interest coverage ratio of 20 (Py: 10).

(28)  finanCial liabilities

financial liabilities are presented in the following balance sheet items:

financial liabilities 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

noncurrent financial liabilities (due in more than one year) 37 47

Current financial liabilities (due in one year or less) 52,642 6

total 52,679 53

the current financial liabilities were composed almost exclusively of unsecured drawdowns under the 
syndicated loan made available to the company. it is expected they will be repaid quickly using the 
proceeds from the sale of inventories and the payments received on outstanding receivables and project 
payment plans as of the reporting date.

information on the scope of the syndicated loan agreement is provided in note (39) on the subject of 
liquidity risk.
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Due in the following time ranges as of the reporting date

As of 31/12/2010

Carrying 
amount

k€

fewer  
than 30  

days
k€

Between  
31 and 90 

days
k€

Between  
91 and 360 

days
k€

More than 
360 

days
k€

financial liabilities 52,679 52,635 1 6 37

As of 31/12/2009

financial liabilities 53 0 2 5 46

noncurrent financial liabilities consists mainly of an annuity loan of a bank, which has been divided up 
in proportion to the maturity structure of the repayment instalments. the interest rate for this loan is 
4.6 percent p. a.

the loan is secured by rights in rem.

(29)  PRovisions

the provisions break down as follows:

noncurrent provisions Balance at
01/01/2010

k€

Reclassi-
fication

k€

utilisation

k€

Reversal

k€

Compoun-
ding

k€

Addition

k€

Balance at
31/12/2010

k€

warranty provisions 1,252 - 405 8 0 76 858 1,773

site restoration provisions 119 0 0 0 6 17 142

other 151 0 0 4 1 133 281

total 1,522 - 405 8 4 83 1,008 2,196

Current provisions

warranty provisions 1,014 405 575 108 14 68 818

litigation and arbitration 
costs 224 0 113 0 0 11 122

Complaints 90 0 0 90 0 0 0

other 500 0 500 0 0 753 753

total 1,828 405 1,188 198 14 832 1,693

the warranty provision has been established to account for statutory and contractual warranty obli-
gations and for accommodation payments to customers. nearly 100 percent of noncurrent warranty 
provisions related to the project business have a term of up to five years. 

the provisions for litigation and arbitration costs are composed of two kinds of costs: anticipated costs 
due to court proceedings against customers for unpaid invoices and claims asserted by customers as of 
the reporting date, which are at least partially unfounded from the Group’s perspective. these items are 
always evaluated on the basis of the prospects for out-of-court settlements. as of the reporting date, the 
management estimates a maximum additional cost for litigation and arbitration costs of 10 percent, at 
most; the period considered for that purpose is up to three years. 

Provisions for complaints have been established for customer complaints that had not yet been raised as 
of the reporting date, based on past experience values. 
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the other noncurrent provisions include, in particular, the provision for site restoration obligations and 
the provision for the obligation to archive business documents. otherwise, the other provisions have 
been established to account for matters involving amounts of subordinated importance in individual 
cases. the terms of the provisions range from 9 to 20 years.

(30)  tRade Payables

trade payables are measured at the settlement amount. due to the short-term payment terms of these 
liabilities, this amount is equal to the fair value of the corresponding liabilities.

all trade payables are due in less than one year.

(31)  otheR liabilities

the other liabilities presented in the balance sheet are sub-divided into financial and non-financial liabilities.

the non-financial liabilities include liabilities that are not based on contractual agreements between 
companies or that are not settled with cash or cash equivalents or financial assets.

the other financial liabilities break down as follows:

other financial liabilities 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

Personnel-related liabilities 3,857 1,687

other 3,187 2,636

total 7,044 4,323

the personnel-related liabilities consist mainly of employee bonuses and management bonuses.

in addition, the financial liabilities include interest rate swaps classified as “held-for-trading” in the 
amount of euR 185 thousand (Py: euR 500 thousand). 

under the interest rate swap, the variable or fixed interest rate of the underlying transaction is swapped 
over the entire term. if the interest rate of all interest rate hedges would have increased or decreased by 
100 basis points as of 31 december 2010, the financial result and the fair value of hedging transactions 
would have been higher by euR 173 thousand or lower by euR 228 thousand (31 december 2009: 
higher by euR 503 thousand or lower by euR 169 thousand).

other non-financial liabilities 31/12/2010
k€

31/12/2009
k€

sales tax liabilities 8,432 10,701

liabilities under wage tax and social security 506 387

Personnel-related liabilities 1,083 798

liabilities under advance payments received 2,978 2,268

other 70 11

total 13,047 14,165

the personnel-related liabilities consisted of arrearages for vacation not yet taken or overtime hours worked.
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e.   otheR notes to the Consolidated finanCial statements

(32)  Consolidated statement of ChanGes in eQuity

the equity of the Phoenix Group is divided into subscribed capital, additional paid-in capital reserves 
and accumulated other comprehensive income.

detailed information on the fully paid-up share capital of Phoenix solar aG and on transactions recog-
nised in additional paid-in capital, as well as detailed information on significant transactions that are not 
directly reflected in the respective line item of the consolidated statement of changes in equity, can be 
found in note (27) equity.

Generally speaking, the accumulated other comprehensive income represents the earned equity of the 
Group. it is composed of the prior-period profits and losses of the companies included in the con-
solidated financial statements, to the extent they were not distributed in the form of dividends, and the 
differences arising from the currency translation of the separate financial statements of foreign subsidi-
aries, in the amount of euR - 126 thousand (Py: euR - 88 thousand). no income taxes were incurred in 
respect of other comprehensive income (Py: euR 0 thousand).

(33)  Consolidated Cash flow statement

the cash flow statement presents the changes in the cash and cash equivalents of the Phoenix solar 
Group that occurred during the reporting period as a result of cash inflows and outflows. in accordance 
with ias 7, cash flows are divided into the cash flow from operating activities, the cash flow from invest-
ing activities and the cash flow from financing activities. in case of changes in the group of consolidated 
companies resulting from the acquisition or sale of companies, the purchase price paid (excluding lia-
bilities assumed), less the cash and cash equivalents acquired or sold, are recognised as cash flows from 
investing activities. the other accounting effects of the acquisition or sale are eliminated in the respec-
tive line items of the three different groups of cash flows.

the cash flow from operating activities is calculated by means of the indirect method. thus, the cash 
flow from operating activities is calculated by deducting non-cash items and changes in current assets 
and liabilities, as well as interest and tax payments, from the consolidated profit or loss before taxes.

significant changes in tied-up capital that have an effect on operating cash flow include the change in 
inventories (euR 80,130 thousand) and work completed in connection with the project business (euR 
40,396 thousand). factors that increased the operating cash flow included purchasing terms under 
which goods and services worth euR 34,858 thousand were received in financial year 2010, but will not 
lead to a corresponding cash outflow until the first quarter of 2011.

the cash flows from investing activities and financing activities are calculated by means of the direct 
method, based on the presentation of exclusively cash transactions.

the cash flow from investing activities was influenced mainly by acquisitions of noncurrent assets. 
detailed information on capital expenditures can be found in notes (12) and (14).
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the company financed its on-going operations in financial year 2010 by means of the capital increase 
conducted in July 2010, which raised net proceeds after income taxes of euR 21,050 thousand (see note 
(27)), and by means of drawdowns under the syndicated working capital credit facility (see notes (28) 
and (39)). the only transaction under financing activities that gave rise to a cash outflow was the pay-
ment in 2010 of the dividend for financial year 2009, which was resolved by the annual general meeting 
of 16 June 2010.

the cash funds shown in the cash flow statement (cash and cash equivalents) comprise all the cash and 
cash equivalents presented in the balance sheet, i.e., cash on hand and cash in banks, to the extent they 
will be available within three months (see note (26)). the cash and cash equivalents are not subject to 
restrictions on disposal.

significant non-cash transactions include changes in the measured value of inventories, in the amount 
of euR 3,928 thousand (Py: euR 1,375 thousand), personnel costs under the stock option plan in the 
amount of euR  1,264 thousand (Py: euR  1,074 thousand), adjustments to the fair value of derivative 
assets and liabilities, in the amount of euR 185 thousand, and investments in noncurrent assets, when 
the payment date for such investments is after the reporting date. 
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f.   otheR disClosuRes

(34)  seGment RePoRt

oPERAtInG SEGMEntS
disclosures regarding the operating segments according to ifRs 8 must be applied, as a rule, from the 
beginning of financial year 2009.

the Group executive board is the responsible governing body that makes decisions about the allocation 
of resources to the operating segments of the Phoenix Group and assesses their performance. in accord-
ance with the principles of the management approach, the management information system (mis) of 
the Group executive board forms the basis for identifying the relevant operating segments. the mis is 
based on the recognition and measurement regulations of the iasb, both originally and with respect to 
the data of the operating performance parameters of each operating segment. the relevant managerial 
indicators for each operating segment include revenues, earnings before interest and taxes, corrected 
for the income or expenses of associated companies (segment profit or loss).

the Group is managed via the two operating segments Power Plants and Components & systems. the 
principal activities are sub-divided as follows:

  Power Plants: Planning, distribution, construction and maintenance of photovoltaic plants
  Components & systems: distribution of trading stock

the operating profit or loss is segmented on the basis of cost accounting reports. the revenues of the 
Power Plants segment are related exclusively to project-related work, so that they also include the cor-
responding pro-rated profits recognised as of the reporting date.

the breakdown of the other indicators to be segmented by principal activities is conducted with regard 
to the Power Plants and Components & systems segments through the application of a distribution 
key that is derived from revenues or total operating performance in a fundamentally uniform manner. 
whenever a cost allocation based on the specific cost of goods sold is required, a key is applied on the 
basis of the materials and work used in the cost of goods sold.

the segment information for these operating segments is presented in the follwing tables:
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financial year 2010 Power Plants

k€

Components 
& Systems

k€

other

k€

Consoli- 
dation

k€

Group

k€

Segment profit or loss statement

external revenues 267,220 368,412 44 0 635,676

Revenues between the segments 0 0 0 0 0

Segment revenues 267,220 368,412 44 0 635,676

segment profit or loss 8,241 28,096 5 0 36,342

income from associated companies 58 0 0 0 58

ebit 36,400

financial result - 2,252

Consolidated profit before taxes 34,148

income tax expenses 10,014

Profit before non-controlling interests 24,134

non-controlling interest in profit or loss 19

Consolidated profit or loss for the period  24,153

other information

Capital expenditures 1,386 1,494 0 0 2,880

depreciation and amortisation 444 650 0 0 1,094

non-cash expenses 2,537 3,506 0 0 6,043

non-cash income 1,337 302 0 0 1,639

Assets

segment assets 107,321 192,077 1 0 299,399

shares in associated companies 418 0 0 0 418

non-assigned assets 13,490

Consolidated assets 313,307
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financial year 2009 Power Plants

k€

Components 
& Systems

k€

other

k€

Consoli- 
dation

k€

Group

k€

Segment profit or loss statement

external revenues 173,974 299,004 54 0 473,032

Revenues between the segments 0 0 0 0 0

Segment revenues 173,974 299,004 54 0 473,032

segment profit or loss 6,080 6,118 5 - 45 12,158

income from associated companies 18 0 0 0 18

ebit 12,176

financial result - 1,242

Consolidated profit before taxes 10,934

income tax expenses 2,379

Profit before non-controlling interests 8,555

non-controlling interest in profit or loss 0

Consolidated profit or loss for the period  8,555

other information

Capital expenditures 1,073 2,043 0 0 3,116

depreciation and amortisation 230 437 0 0 667

non-cash expenses 547 1,910 0 0 2,457

non-cash income 1,303 1,173 0 0 2,476

Assets

segment assets 60,289 113,977 21 0 174,287

shares in associated companies 404 0 0 0 404

non-assigned assets 7,541

Consolidated assets 182,232
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the revenues of the Power Plants segment derive exclusively from project-related work, so that project 
revenues as of the reporting date included both finally invoiced projects and on-going projects, the rev-
enues of which were recognised on a period accrual basis by application of the percentage-of-comple-
tion method according to ias 11. these revenues amounted to euR 116,138 thousand as of the reporting 
date (Py: euR 61,845 thousand). by reason of the business model and the goods and services offered on 
that basis, intersegment revenues are excluded, as a general rule. in view of the current customer port-
folio, a concentration of revenues with one or few customers is likewise somewhat limited; the same is 
true on the procurement side.

segment assets are defined as the sum of noncurrent and current assets, less shares in associated com-
panies, as well as income tax assets and interest-bearing receivables. segment liabilities are currently 
not included in the mis and are not used by the executive board for managing the operating segments.

non-cash income includes income from the reversal of provisions, liabilities and write-downs and 
changes in the fair value of options; non-cash expenses include the recognition of write-downs and the 
charge-off of receivables.

with regard to the transfer prices applied, intragroup trading is conducted at terms that meet the criteria 
of an arm’s-length transaction. overhead costs attributable to Group headquarters are not allocated to 
the operating segments, as a general rule. although the Group executive board takes the utmost care to 
ensure that individual business relationships do not effectively create an overly important customer in 
the Group’s portfolio, the expansion and extension of the master agreement with kG allgemeine leas-
ing Gmbh & Co. (kGal) at the beginning of the financial year gave kGal the status of an important 
customer in the Power Plants segment.

the revenues generated with external customers are assigned to the regions on the basis of delivery 
addresses or project locations.

noncurrent assets are assigned to the regions on the basis of the company’s registered head office.

the Group’s revenues were divided among the following regions:

2010
k€

2009
k€

Germany 471,199 445,388

eu excluding Germany 162,230 22,790

other 2,247 4,854

total 635,676 473,032

furthermore, noncurrent assets were divided among the regions as follows:

2010
k€

2009
k€

Germany 7,802 5,197

eu excluding Germany 496 463

other 122 53

total 8,420 5,713
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(35)  disClosuRes ConCeRninG dealinGs with Related PaRties

in accordance with ias 24, related parties of the Phoenix Group are defined as persons or companies 
that control or exert significant influence on the Phoenix Group, or whom the Phoenix Group controls 
or over whom it exerts significant influence. 

in addition to the business relationships with the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial 
statements by way of full consolidation, for which no disclosures need to be made, the Group main-
tained the following business relationships with related parties:

an interest-bearing bullet loan of euR 642 thousand (Py: euR 505 thousand) maturing at the end of 
2012 was extended to the company solaR GRieChenland beteiligungsgesellschaft mbh & Co. kG, in 
which the Group had purchased an equity investment in financial year 2007. based on the fair market 
interest rate of 6.5 percent, Phoenix solar aG collected interest income of euR 32 thousand in 2010 (Py: 
euR 29 thousand).

disclosures concerning shareholdings of directors and officers:

Executive Board 31/12/2010 
no. of shares

31/12/2009 
no. of shares

dr. andreas hänel 227,200 227,200

manfred bächler (resigned 31/12/2010) 132,530 172,530 

dr. murray Cameron 69,750 69,750

sabine kauper 190 190

ulrich Reidenbach 216 216

total holdings of Executive Board members 429,886 469,886

Supervisory Board 31/12/2010 
no. of shares

31/12/2009 
no. of shares

J. michael fischl - -

Prof. dr. klaus höfle 1,575 1,575

dr. Patrick schweisthal - -

Prof. dr. thomas Zinser - -

oliver Gosemann 300 -

dr. torsten hass 400 -

ulrich fröhner (resigned 16/06/2010) n/a 18,600

ulrich th. hirsch (resigned 16/06/2010) n/a -

total holdings of Supervisory Board members 2,275 20,175

in connection with the stock option Plan 2006, the following stock options were granted to the execu-
tive board:

in financial year 2007, 4,500 stock options were granted to every member of the executive board; the 
fair value of each such stock option at the reporting date was euR 10.177. in financial year 2008 and 
2009, another 9,000 stock options were granted to every executive board member in active service at 
the grant date; the fair value of each such stock option at the grant date was euR 20.174 or euR 17.972. 
in financial year 2010, additional stock options were again granted to every executive board member in 
active service at the grant date; the fair value of each such stock option at the grant date was euR 13.912.
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in addition, the compensation granted to members of the executive board and supervisory board rep-
resents transactions with related parties. detailed information on this subject is provided in notes (42) 
and (43), respectively.

(36)  GuaRantees and otheR Commitments

Contingent liabilities result, if at all, from customary contractual warranty obligations that can arise in 
connection with contracts in the Power Plants segment and from orders in the Components & systems 
segment.

(37)  ContinGent assets and liabilities

there were no contingent assets or liabilities.

(38)  otheR finanCial Commitments

the Group had total financial commitments of euR 7,122 thousand (Py: euR 5,652 thousand) under vari-
ous rental and lease agreements. of this total, an amount of euR 1,592 thousand (Py: euR 1,085 thou-
sand) was due in less than one year, euR 2,872 thousand (Py: euR 2,336 thousand) between one and 
five years and euR 2,658 thousand (Py: euR 2,231 thousand) in more than five years. some real estate 
leases were concluded with renewal options of five years; the exercise of such options must be declared 
at the end of 2013 at the latest.

as of the reporting date, the Group had firm order commitments under several purchasing agreements 
in the total amount of euR 48,299 thousand (Py: euR 109,221 thousand). the firm orders for noncurrent 
assets amounted to euR 105 thousand (Py: euR 96 thousand).

under master agreements with manufacturers of photovoltaic modules, the Group had acceptance obli-
gations for material purchases (solar modules and inverters) in the amount of euR 278,207 thousand 
(Py: 502,146 euR thousand), which must be fulfilled by 2012. other master agreements serve the pur-
pose of securing deliveries of aluminum (euR 1,263 thousand) and individually tailored manufacturing 
capacities for stamped and bended parts (euR 2,137 thousand).

(39)  Risk manaGement system

Phoenix solar Group is exposed to both cash flow risks and exchange rate risks with respect to its assets, 
liabilities and planned transactions.

the objective of financial risk management is to limit this risk by means of on-going operational and 
financial activities. to that end, selected derivative hedging instruments are used, depending on the 
assessment of the risk in question. as a general rule, however, only those risks that could have effects on 
the Group’s cash flow are hedged. derivative financial instruments are employed exclusively for hedg-
ing purposes; thus, they are not used for trading or other speculative purposes.

the basic principles of financial policy are adopted annually by the executive board and monitored by 
the supervisory board. the implementation of the financial policy and the corresponding risk man-
agement are the responsibility of the treasury department. Certain transactions require the advance 
approval of the executive board, which is also informed about the scope and amount of the current risk 
level on a regular basis.
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CuRREnCy RISK AnD IntERESt RAtE RISK
due to the fact that the business of the Phoenix Group is geared to international markets and their grow-
ing importance, the company is exposed to currency risks. therefore, the treasury department consid-
ers the effective management of exchange rate risk to be one of its principal tasks and fulfils that task by 
means of an actively managed exchange rate hedging strategy.

foreign currency risks are hedged to the extent that they influence the Group’s cash flows. on the other 
hand, foreign currency risks that do not influence the Group’s cash flows (i.e., risks resulting from the 
translation of assets and liabilities of foreign corporate entities to the Group’s reporting currency) are 
not hedged, as a general rule.

in the area of operating activities, foreign currency risks arise from planned payments in currencies 
other than the functional currency in connection with the procurement of modules.

to limit or eliminate such risks, derivatives are employed as hedging instruments. as a general rule, the 
Group employs forward exchange deals, swaps and currency options to hedge payments in advance 
that will be made or received in the following financial year. as of the reporting date 31 december 2010, 
the Group disposed of forward exchange deals with a volume of euR 0 thousand (Py: 26,229 thousand). 

accordingly, Phoenix solar aG is exposed to market price risks in relation to certain currency derivatives, 
which are used to hedge underlying transactions and budgeted items. exchange rate changes in the 
currencies underlying such financial instruments are recognised in other operating income or expenses 
(measurement result from the adjustment of financial assets to fair value). if the euro had risen or fallen 
by 10 percent against all currencies as of 31 december 2010, the other operating income or expenses 
and the fair value of hedging transactions would have been higher by euR 0 thousand or lower by euR 
0 thousand, respectively (31 december 2009: higher by euR 2,966 thousand or lower by euR 2,342 
thousand, respectively). the hypothetical profit effect results from the currency sensitivities of the euro 
to the Japanese yen and of the euro to the us dollar.

monetary financial instruments (cash and cash equivalents, receivables, non-interest-bearing liabilities) 
are denominated directly in the functional currency in most cases. therefore, exchange rate changes 
have no effect on the Group’s profit or equity. interest income and interest expenses from financial 
instruments are likewise recognised directly in the functional currency. therefore, any changes in that 
respect also have no effect on the managed values.

furthermore, the company has instituted an interest rate management program, which became more 
important in the past financial year as a result of the variable syndicated loan financing. although the 
business model and the resulting liabilities and equity items are currently subject only to minor inter-
est rate risks, the Group realised the necessity of instituting active interest rate hedging in this area. as 
vehicles for managing the interest burden, the Group employed both interest rate swaps and interest 
rate caps to adequately counter any potential increase in interest rates. interest rate changes affecting 
the interest differences underlying such financial instruments will have an effect on the Group’s financial 
result. if the level of interest rates would have increased or decreased by 100 basis points compared to 
all interest rate hedging transactions as of 31 december 2010, the financial result and the fair value of 
hedging instruments would have been higher by euR 173 thousand or lower by euR 228 thousand, 
respectively (31 december 2009: higher by 503 thousand or lower by euR 169 thousand, respectively).
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DEfAuLt RISK
the Phoenix Group attaches great importance to default risk. as part of the processes employed for 
that purpose, the company seeks to evaluate the creditworthiness of contract partners with the aim of 
limiting or preventing losses on receivables. References are obtained from international credit agencies 
in order to ensure the objective evaluation of contract partners. furthermore, the creditworthiness of 
contract partners is verified at regular intervals; when their creditworthiness worsens, the contract terms 
are adjusted accordingly. in such cases, the company reduces the credit limits granted to customers 
until the necessary down payment financing has been secured; alternatively, the company demands 
additional collateral such as guarantees, trust accounts, etc. in addition, the company actively manages 
all receivables by continuously monitoring the market behaviour of its contract partners; a warning is 
triggered when the payment behaviour of any contract partner deteriorates. 

the Group is exposed to default risk primarily in connection with its trade receivables. the amounts 
presented in the balance sheet are net of write-downs for tentatively uncollectible receivables; such 
write-downs have been estimated by the Group’s management on the basis of past experience values 
and the current economic environment.

default risk is limited with respect to cash equivalents because such instruments are held with banks to 
which international rating agencies have issued high credit ratings.

there is no significant concentration of default risks within the Group because the risks are distributed 
among a large number of counterparties and customers.

the maximum default risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of the financial assets presented in the 
balance sheet (including derivative financial instruments with positive market values). as of the report-
ing date, there were no significant agreements that would reduce the maximum default risk (e.g., set-off 
agreements).

LIQuIDIty RISK
based on the three-year medium-term plan approved by the management, the company prepares a 
cash flow forecast for the purpose of avoiding liquidity risks within the Phoenix Group, liquidity risk 
being defined as an inability to meet payment obligations in the full amount when they are due. based 
on the cash flow forecast, the Corporate treasury department prepares a detailed, one-year funding 
needs plan, on that basis of which weekly liquidity projections are prepared. Consequently, financial 
risks can be detected at an early stage and measures can be taken to influence the financing and invest-
ment needs (dispositive liquidity risk management). the company entered into cash pooling agree-
ments with some of its european subsidiaries in financial year 2010 to speed up the availability of short-
term liquidity within the Phoenix Group. 

in order to finance the growth of the Phoenix Group, Phoenix solar aG entered into a syndicated loan 
agreement in the amount of euR 150,000 thousand with a term of three years on 20 november 2008. 
the credit facility serves to finance the working capital of the Phoenix solar Group and the Group’s 
guarantee and letter of credit needs. the lending syndicate is composed of the Group’s previous regular 
banks and one new bank. the syndicate leader and mandated lead arranger is bayernlb, the senior 
lead arrangers are deutsche bank aG, dresdner bank (now Commerzbank) and hypovereinsbank aG – 
member of uniCredit Group, and the co-arrangers are lfa förderbank bayern and sparkasse fürstenfeld-
bruck. in addition, the Group has entered into bilateral guarantee credit agreements of indefinite dura-
tion with a total volume of euR 42,500 thousand. in total, the credit facility amounted to euR 192,500 
thousand as of the reporting date.
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for purposes of structural liquidity risk management, moreover, the Corporate treasury department 
monitors and continuously fulfils the covenant under the syndicated loan agreement, using the funds 
provided for that purpose.

(40)  shaRe-based Payment foRms

the annual general meeting of 7 July 2006 adopted a stock option Plan for members of the executive 
board, members of the management of the Group companies and selected executives and other key 
personnel of the company. to that end, a Conditional Capital of euR 552 thousand was created.

by virtue of this authorisation, the executive board of Phoenix solar aG established a stock option Plan 
on 10 september 2007 (“stock option Plan 2006”; soP 2006 as an abbreviation for stock option Plan 
2006), under which a total of 330,850 stock options of Phoenix solar aG were granted in four tranches 
to members of the executive board, members of the management of the Group companies and other 
key personnel. as of the reporting date, 47,350 of those stock options had expired due to resigna-
tions and 18,000 had been exercised. as of the reporting date, therefore, there remained 265,500 stock 
options, which can be exercised by the beneficiaries only if the beneficiary will be employed by the 
company or a Group company and the employment relationship will not have been cancelled by either 
party with valid effect at the time of exercising the stock options.

the fair value of stock options has been calculated by means of a simulation (monte Carlo simulation), 
based on the following parameters:

SoP 2006 
(2010)

SoP 2006 
(2009)

SoP 2006 
(2008)

SoP 2006 
(2007)

issue date 07/09/2010 08/09/2009 10/09/2008 10/09/2007

effective date of measurement 07/09/2010 08/09 2009 10/09 2008 10/09/2007

stock exchange price of the company's share at the 
effective date of measurement € 28.70 € 36.40 € 43.46 € 18.90 

vesting period 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years

stock option life (including vesting period) 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years

exercise price € 28.75 € 35.11 € 46.39 € 19.32 

Risk-free interest rate 0.87 % 2.95 % 4.04 % 4.09 %

volatility 63.82 % 64.83 % 61.35 % 66.33 %

annual dividend per share € 0.20 € 0.25 € 0.20 € 0.10 

due date of dividends (assumption)
approx. 15 June 

of every year 
approx. 15 June 

of every year 
approx. 15 June 

of every year 
approx. 15 June 

of every year 

no. of simulations conducted 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000

  Exercise strategies: the strategy of earliest possible exercise was assumed for tranches i to iii. based 
on the experience made with the initial exercise, a tripartite strategy was assumed for tranche iv, 
thus 1. earliest possible exercise, 2. earliest possible exercise after 2.5 years at the earliest, 3. earliest 
possible exercise after 3 years at the earliest. the weighting applied for determining the percentage 
of stock options to which each strategy should be applied for measurement purposes is based on the 
experience made; thus, 67 percent according to strategy 1, 11 percent according to strategy 2 and 22 
percent according to strategy 3. in addition, a usual employee turnover rate of 5 percent was applied.

  Lock-up period: during the exercise period, stock options may not be exercised during a period of 
14 calendar days prior to the date of publication of quarterly reports and during the period from the 
close of the fiscal year to the end of the date of publication of the financial results of the preceding 
financial year.
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  Exercise hurdles: the stock options can be exercised by the beneficiary only when the closing price of 
the share of Phoenix solar aG in the xetra trading system of the frankfurt am main stock exchange (or 
a comparable successor system) exceeds the exercise price at the time of exercising the stock option 
by 40 percent for ten consecutive trading days in the first year of the exercise period. this percentage 
increases by 20 percentage points per year in each of the following years.

the volatility was calculated as the historical volatility on the basis of the share price performance in the 
periods from 19 november 2004 to 13 July 2007 (tranche i), from 1 July 2005 to 12 september 2008 
(tranche ii), from 1 July 2006 to 5 october 2009 (tranche iii) and from 1 July 2007 to 4 october 2010 
(tranche iv). the expected volatility is based on the average value of historical volatilities.

the risk-free interest rate was calculated with the aid of the svensson method. based on this calcula-
tion method, the value of each stock option was determined to be euR 10.177 (tranche i), euR 20.174 
(tranche ii), euR 17.972 (tranche iii) and the weighted value of each stock option was determined to be 
euR 13.912 (tranche iv) at the grant date.

the stock options showed the following development in financial year 2010:

tranche Iv 
SoP 2006

 (2010)

tranche III 
SoP 2006

 (2009)

tranche II 
SoP 2006

 (2008)

tranche I 
SoP 2006

 (2007)

total  
number

stock options at 01/01/2009 0 0 72,000  27,000 99,000

allotted in 2009 0 86,100 0 0 0

exercised in 2009 0 0 0 - 16,200 - 16,200

expired during the term in 2009 0 0 0 0 0

Stock options at 31/12/2009 − 01/01/2010 0 86,100 72,000 10,800   168,500

allotted in 2010 135,000 0 0 0 135,000

exercised in 2010 0 0 0 - 1,800 - 1,800

expired during the term in 2010 - 9,000 - 14,100 - 13,500 0 - 36,600

Stock options at 31/12/2010 126,000 72,000 58,500 9,000 265,500

for tranche i, the average weighted share price upon first-time exercise of the stock options was euR 
38.61 (Py: euR 39.45).

the expense of share-based payment forms in financial year 2010 was euR 1,264 thousand (Py: euR 
1,075 thousand), due to the fact that the expense is distributed over the period from the issue date to the 
expiration of the vesting period. 

all stock options were settled by way of issuing equity instruments.

(41)  events afteR the RePoRtinG date

RESIGnAtIon of tHE CHIEf tECHnoLoGy offICER 
Chief technology officer mr. manfred bächler resigned from the executive board with effect as of 31 
december 2010, for personal reasons. the tasks performed by mr. bächler will be delegated to other 
members of the executive board; in particular, executive board Chairman dr. andreas hänel will per-
form the duties of Chief technology officer.
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EXECutIvE BoARD PRoPoSES A DIvIDEnD PAyMEnt
the executive board of Phoenix solar aG resolved on 15 march 2011 to propose a dividend payment for 
financial year 2010 of euR 0.35 per share (Py: euR 0.20) to the annual general meeting. this resolution 
is subject to the reservation that the annual financial statements for financial year 2010 will be officially 
adopted and the supervisory board will grant its consent.

all 7,372,700 shares of Phoenix solar aG that are currently listed for trading qualify for dividends.

the final dividend proposal to the annual general meeting, which will be held on 14 July 2011, will be 
announced along with the notice of meeting for the annual general meeting.

Tōhoku earThquake and nuclear accidenTs aT Fukushima-daiichi
it is difficult to predict the extent to which the consequences of the disaster that struck Japan on 11 
march 2011 will influence the further development of the photovoltaic industry. however, an increas-
ingly critical stance towards nuclear energy could have the effect of accelerating the growth and expan-
sion of renewable energies, including photovoltaic energy.
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G.   suPPlementaRy disClosuRe obliGations PuRsuant to the  
GeRman CommeRCial Code (hGb)

(42)  exeCutive boaRd of the PaRent ComPany

  dr. andreas hänel, diplom-ingenieur, sulzemoos (Chief executive officer)
  manfred bächler, diplom-ingenieur, senden (Chief technology officer)
  dr. murray Cameron, diplom-Physiker, Garching (Chief operating officer)
  sabine kauper, diplom-betriebswirtin (fh), merching (Chief financial officer)
  ulrich Reidenbach, diplom-ingenieur, munich (Chief sales officer)

all members of the executive board are authorised to represent the company individually.

membership on supervisory boards within the Group and external to the Group:

  dr. murray Cameron is the Chairman of the non-executive board of Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore.
  ulrich Reidenbach is a member of the non-executive board of Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore.
  sabine kauper is a member of the non-executive board of Phoenix solar Pte. ltd., singapore, and 
since 15 June 2009 also a member of the supervisory board of skw stahl-metallurgie holding aG, 
unterneukirchen.

the compensation granted to the executive board in financial year 2010 amounted to euR 2,391 thou-
sand (Py: euR 1,822 thousand).

this compensation was divided up as follows:

Components  
not dependent  

on success

Components
dependent  
on success

Components  
with a long-term 
incentive effect

total

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

dr. andreas hänel 176 175 171 45 139 162 486 382

manfred bächler 348 169 120 41 125 162 593 372

dr. murray Cameron 140 140 127 29 125 162 392 331

sabine kauper 163 148 154 40 139 162 456 350

ulrich Reidenbach 171 165 154 60 139 162 464 387

total 998 797 726 215 667 810 2,391 1,822

Compensation components that are not dependent on success include a monthly base salary, the provi-
sion of a company car conformant with the Company Car Guideline, which can also be used for private 
purposes, and the assumption of a premium for an accident insurance policy that primarily covers acci-
dents on the job, but also covers liability in the private sphere. in addition, an additional expense of euR 
188 thousand was incurred in connection with a no-competition clause agreed between mr. bächler 
and Phoenix solar aG in relation to his resignation from the executive board. the no-competition clause 
has a term of one year and the corresponding amount will be paid in twelve monthly instalments.
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in connection with the implementation of the German executive board Compensation act, the com-
pany revised the rules applicable to success-dependent compensation components in 2010. as a gen-
eral rule, a dual system comprising both personal, qualitative goals and company-specific, quantitative 
goals is applied. to ensure that the compensation system is appropriately geared to long-term success, 
long-term incentives were installed in the form of an ebit hurdle for the quantitative goals and a bonus 
index system based on a multiplier concept. the ebit hurdle protects the interests of investors by stipu-
lating that a bonus will be paid only if the adjusted ebit is appropriate relative to the total compensation 
costs of the executive board and supervisory board. the bonus index is applied to calculate the recom-
mended disbursement levels of target bonuses on the basis of the indexed operating performance of 
exchange-listed companies and their principal business segments. as a result, earned bonuses are paid 
on two different due dates. the first instalment is paid in the first half of the subsequent year and the 
second instalment is usually paid in the first half of the year following the subsequent year, provided 
that the ebit hurdle is met in the subsequent financial year; if the ebit hurdle is not met, the second 
instalment can be carried forward by one year, but will be forfeited in the second subsequent year if the 
ebit hurdle is not met in the following year. 

the components with a long-term incentive effect consisted of 48,000 options to purchase shares of 
Phoenix solar aG. a total of 9,600 stock options were granted to each member of the executive board 
in active service at the issue date; the fair value of each stock option at the grant date was euR 13.912. 
by reason of the resignation of mr. bächler from the executive board as of 31 december 2010, his stock 
options expired at the close of the reporting date.

furthermore, change-of-control clauses have been in effect for two executive board members since 
october 2008. one of these executive board members left the company effective 31 december 2010. 
in the event of a change of ownership, a concentration of at least 30 percent of voting rights in Phoenix 
solar aG with a single shareholder or third party or the conclusion of an affiliation agreement with 
Phoenix solar aG as the dependent company, the remaining executive board member will be entitled, 
within a period of three months after gaining knowledge of the occurrence of one of the aforemen-
tioned events, to cancel his employment contract and resign from the executive board with advance 
notice of six months prior to the last day of any month. in that case, the executive board member will be 
entitled to a severance award equal to his fixed annual compensation and 80 percent of the maximum 
possible variable compensation for no more than three years.

(43)  suPeRvisoRy boaRd of the PaRent ComPany

   J. michael fischl, diplom-kaufmann (Chairman), abensberg, head of Central internal audit of spar-
kasse ingolstadt
   Prof. dr. klaus höfle, Giengen, diplom wirtschaftspädagoge, managing director of münchener man-
agement forum (mmf) and associate lecturer at three universities
   dr. Patrick schweisthal (vice Chairman), Rohrbach, lawyer
   Prof. dr. thomas Zinser, hohenschäftlarn, tax consultant with the firm ebner stolz mönning bachem 
and head of the tax faculty at landshut university
   oliver Gosemann, forst, member of the executive board of knürr aG (in office as of 16 June 2010)
   dr. torsten hass, munich, self-employed economics advisor (in office as of 16 June 2010)
   ulrich fröhner, stuttgart (vice Chairman), energy consultant (resigned on 16 June 2010)
   ulrich th. hirsch, schondorf am ammersee, lawyer and tax consultant (resigned on 16 June 2010)

the total compensation of the supervisory board members in financial year 2010 amounted to euR 305 
thousand (Py: euR 214 thousand).
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this amount was divided up as follows:

Components  
not dependent  

on success

Components
dependent  
on success

Components  
with a long-term 
incentive effect

total

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

J. michael fischl 28 24 63 40 0 0 91 64

Prof. dr. klaus höfle 20 14 21 14 0 0 41 28

dr. Patrick  
schweisthal 17 14 27 14 0 0 44 28

Prof. dr.  
thomas Zinser 18 15 21 15 0 0 39 29

oliver Gosemann 12 0 12 0 0 0 24 0

dr. torsten hass 10 0 12 0 0 0 22 0

ulrich fröhner 9 17 11 20 0 0 20 37

ulrich th. hirsch 8 14 16 14 0 0 24 28

total 122 98 183 116 0 0 305 214

(44)  PRofessional fee of the indePendent auditoR

the professional fee paid to the auditing firm in financial year 2010 and recognised as an expense in 
2010 was divided up as follows:

2010
k€

2009
k€

a) services related to the audit of financial statements 209 212

b) other certification services 95 137

c) tax advisory services 0 0

d) other services 0 0

total 304 349

the other certification services related mainly to the critical review of the semi-annual financial state-
ments and other review activities related to the interim financial statements.

(45)  deClaRation of ConfoRmity with the GeRmanCoRPoRate GoveRnanCe Code

the executive board and supervisory board have issued a declaration of Conformity with the German 
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to section 161 of the German stock Corporations act (aktG) and 
made it permanently available to shareholders at the company’s website (http://www.phoenixsolar.
com/investorRelations/Corporate-Governance/).

the last issuance and publication of the declaration occurred on 18 march 2011.
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h.   date and siGninG of the Consolidated finanCial statements

sulzemoos, 30 march 2011

Phoenix solar aktiengesellschaft

Dr. Andreas Hänel  Sabine Kauper
(Chief executive officer) (Chief financial officer)

ulrich Reidenbach   Dr. Murray Cameron 
(Chief sales officer) (Chief operating officer)

Dr. Murray Cameron

Sabine Kauper

ulrich Reidenbach  
(Chief sales officer)
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affiRmation by the leGally  
authoRised RePResentatives

to the best of our knowledge, we hereby affirm that, pursuant to the generally accepted accounting 
principles, the Consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, financial posi-
tion and the results of operations of Phoenix solar aG, and that the management Report gives a true 
and fair reflection of the development of the Phoenix Group’s business, including its performance and 
situation, as well as describing the material risks and opportunities inherent in the prospective develop-
ment of the Group.

sulzemoos, 30 march 2011
Phoenix solar aktiengesellschaft
the executive board

Dr. Andreas Hänel  Sabine Kauper
(Chief executive officer) (Chief financial officer)

ulrich Reidenbach   Dr. Murray Cameron 
(Chief sales officer) (Chief operating officer)

Sabine Kauper

Dr. Murray Cameronulrich Reidenbach  
(Chief sales officer)
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by phoenix solar ag, sulzemoos, com-
prising the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and con-
solidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated 
cash flow statement and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together with the group 
management report for the financial year from January 1 to december 31, 2010. the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with iFrs as 
adopted by the eu, and the additional requirements of german commercial law pursuant to § 315a (1) 
of the german Commercial Code (handelsgesetzbuch – hgB) are the responsibility of the parent Com-
pany’s Board of Management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with § 317 hgB and ger-
man generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the institute of 
public auditors in germany (institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer – idW). those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
the applicable financial reporting framework and in the group management report are detected with 
reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of 
the group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of 
audit procedures. the effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence 
supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report 
are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. the audit includes assessing 
the annual financial statements of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of enti-
ties to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant 
estimates made by the Company’s Board of Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
our audit has not led to any reservations.

in our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with 
iFrs as adopted by the eu, the additional requirements of german commercial law pursuant to § 315a 
(1) hgB and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 
group in accordance with these requirements. the group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of the group’s position and 
suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Munich, 30th of March 2011

aWt horwath gmbh
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

G. Wörl  ppa. C. Salzberger
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

auditor’s report
This report was originally prepared in the German language.  
In case of ambiguities the German version shall prevail.
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PhotovoltaiC GlossaRy

   Accumulator
an accumulator stores electrical energy. in photovoltaics, ac-
cumulators are used for stand-alone systems. 

   Alternating current 
alternating current is electrical current in which the direc-
tion and the voltage changes in accordance with certain 
laws of physics. alternating current is found in most electri-
cal grids (230 volts, 50 hertz).

   Amorphous modules
modules made of amorphous silicon (a-si) are a type of thin-
film modules. their cells are made up of glass or metal panes 
coated with a thin layer of silicon. the name comes from 
the fact that, when the glass or metal is coated, the silicon 
atoms are not distributed in the crystalline structure but are 
spread amorphously, i.e. at random. a-si modules can be 
recognised by their brown colour.

   Amortisation
energetic amortisation (also known as energy return time) is 
the time which a solar electricity system needs to generate 
the energy used for its production and installation. when 
the period of its energetic amortisation has expired, its bal-
ance of energy is then positive. there is no energetic amorti-
sation in the case of power plants operated with fossil fuels.

   Balance of System costs
in a photovoltaic system the balance of system (bos) costs 
are made up of the costs of all components except those of 
the modules. bos costs comprise planning costs, construc-
tion preparation costs, the mounting system, dC cabling, 
inverters, buildings, grid connection and installation. 

   Cdte modules
Cdte modules are thin-film modules which use the semi-
conductor material cadmium telluride to generate electric-
ity. the cadmium content is low. heavy metal cannot be dis-
solved through a non-technically procedure so there is no 
danger for the user or the environment.

   CIS or CIGS modules
Cis or CiGs modules are a type of thin-film module whose 
solar cells are made up of several layers of copper indium 
(gallium) diselenide which are doped with different impuri-
ties. efficiency is currently around 12 percent.

   Co2 savings
Photovoltaic plants make a contribution to climate protec-
tion: an example is the 15.8 megawatt solar power plant in 
moos near würzburg (Germany) which saves around 9.700 
tonnes of carbon dioxide (Co2) a year.

   Crystalline modules
Crystalline modules are made of solar cells with crystalline 
silicon which is around 0.2 to 0.4 millimetres thick. a dif-
ferentiation is made between modules with monocrystalline 
and polycrystalline (also known as multicrystalline) cells. 
the basic material is ultra-pure polysilicon. efficiency is be-
tween 14 and 18 percent.

   Degradation
solar cells age as, over the course of their lifetime, their ef-
ficiency diminishes. this natural process of ageing induced 
by light irradiation is called degradation. in calculating yield 
assumptions this effect is generally already included.

   Degression 
the German Renewable energies act (erneuerbare-energien-
Gesetz (eeG)) provides for an annual lowering of the feed-in 
tariff. the compensation rates for new installed systems, for 
instance, fell by 13 percent on 1 January 2011 and will fall 
again on 1 July 2011 between 3 and 15 percent. this rate 
depends on the growth of the whole market in Germany. a 
sliding scale regulates the reduction: if the newly installed 
output in a specific year exceeds or falls below a defined 
growth corridor, degression is either raised or lowered ac-
cordingly by one percentage point in the following year. 
degression is intended to promote competition in the solar 
industry and to lead to lowering the cost of generating solar 
electricity.

   Direct current
direct current is an electric current which maintains the 
same direction and a constant electrical voltage. solar mod-
ules generate direct current.

   Efficiency
the efficiency generally denotes the relationship between 
useful and used energy. the efficiency of solar cells indicates 
the percentage of the sun’s energy which is converted into 
electric charge.
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   feed-in tariffs
feed-in tariffs constitute the fixed price, as defined under 
the German Renewable energies act (eeG), for feeding solar 
electricity into the grid and which must be paid by the grid 
operator to the producer of solar electricity. the amount of 
the remuneration rate per kilowatt hour depends on the 
type and size of the system and the year when it was taken 
into operation, and will remain steady over a period of 20 
years.

   flagship project
a flagship project is a completed project which, along with 
its original purpose, is considered to be exemplary and set 
a benchmark for the whole sector. the reasons may be the 
successful deployment of new technologies, new areas of 
application or new yardsticks set in respect of yield and re-
turn.

   German Renewable Energies Act (EEG)
the German Renewable energies act (eeG) came into force 
on 1 april 2000. its objective is to promote the generation 
of energy from sources of renewable energies. among other 
things, it regulates the feeding in and remuneration of re-
newable energies into the grid. the last amendment to the 
act has been in force since 1 January 2009 and, in particu-
lar, provides for a swifter degression of the feed-in tariffs for 
photovoltaic systems. another amendment to the act is ex-
pected at the beginning of 2012. in the meantime, the eeG 
is regarded as a model and has already been used as a blue-
print by a number of european countries (france, italy and 
Greece, for example) for similar legislation.

   Grid-connected systems
Grid-connected systems are solar power plants which have 
been connected up to the power supply system and con-
tinuously feed in solar electricity. 

   Grid parity
the grid parity of solar electricity means that the price of 
generating one kilowatt hour of solar electricity is no higher 
than the end consumer price for electricity from the mains 
socket. Grid parity is therefore tied to the location of con-
sumption, as solar electricity is often generated where it is 
consumed. the definition of grid parity is not therefore a 
comparison between the production costs of solar electric-
ity and those of energy generated from fossil-based sources.

   Inverters
inverters convert the direct current generated by the solar 
cells into alternating current which is compatible with the 
grid. they are an integral component of solar power plants.

   Kilowatt (kw)
the kilowatt (kw) is the general unit of measurement for 
output. the electrical output of a solar power plant is also 
given in kw.

   Kilowatt hour (kwh)
the kilowatt hour (kwh) is a unit of measurement for energy 
used or generated. one kwh equals a kilowatt over the peri-
od of an hour. the kwh is the unit of energy commonly used 
for the measurement of household electricity consumption. 
one kilowatt hour is sufficient to light one bulb of a hundred 
watts for ten hours.

   Megawatt (Mw)
a megawatt is a unit of measurement for output, and is 
equivalent to one million watts (106 w). for example, the 
new solar power plant in senftenberg in brandenburg (Ger-
many), which was built in summer 2010, has a peak output 
of 18.3 megawatt.

   Micromorphous modules
micromorphous modules (also known as tandem modules) 
combine both amorphous and microcrystalline technolo-
gies. the light spectrum absorbed is raised to the near-in-
frared region through an additional microcrystalline layer 
of silicon applied to an amorphous silicon layer. micromor-
phous modules are therefore more efficient than amorphous 
modules.

   Monocrystalline cells
the input material for monocrystalline cells is ultra-pure sili-
con which is extracted from silicon smelt and fabricated into 
wafers of up to twelve centimetres in diameter. all crystal 
lattices are evenly distributed in monocrystalline. monocrys-
talline cells are more efficient than polycrystalline cells but 
are also more expensive to manufacture. they can be recog-
nised by their characteristic graphite colour.
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   nominal output
nominal output (also known as peak output) is an indication 
of the output of a solar module or a solar power plant, for 
instance.

   operation
along with configuration and system integration, the com-
mercial and technical operation of solar power plants are 
key factors influencing the yield and therefore the return. 
Core tasks are to secure steady-state optimal operation, the 
monitoring and reporting of yield data, as well as compli-
ance with the statutory provisions and periodic inspections.

   Peak power output (peak output)
the maximum power output possible from a solar module 
or power system under standard test conditions (stC) is de-
fined as the peak power output (also known as peak power). 
it is measured in watt (w) and stated as watt peak (wp).

   Phoenix tectoBridge
the Phoenix tectobridge is an innovative on-roof system 
developed by Phoenix solar. it can be used for roofs which 
were formerly not suitable for the construction of a photo-
voltaic system. the construction derives from bridge build-
ing and allows span distances of up to six metres.

   Phoenix tectoSun
Phoenix tectosun is a roof installation system developed 
by Phoenix solar which enables photovoltaic systems to be 
swiftly and simply installed.

   Photovoltaics
Photovoltaic is defined as the environmentally compatible 
generating of electricity through tapping the sun’s energy. 
in this process, solar cells linked up to one another in solar 
modules convert the sun’s light into electricity. 

   Polycrystalline cells
the basic material for polycrystalline (also known as multi-
crystalline) cells is ultra-pure silicon. liquid silicon for poly-
crystalline cells is first cast as ingots and then cut into wafers 
which are 0.2 to 0.4 millimetres thick. the cells that result 
from this process are made up of many small single crystals, 
so-called crystallites, which are separated by grain bounda-
ries. the pattern which results from the composition of dif-
ferent crystals is unmistakable, as is the bluish colour.

   Private consumption
electricity produced by a solar power system can also be 
used for one’s own consumption, alongside feeding into 
the public grid. under the German Renewable energies act 
(eeG), each kilowatt hour produced and used for private 
consumption will be remunerated in an amount of 16.74 
cent as from 1 January 2011.

   Renewable energies
Renewable energies (also known as regenerative energies) 
are defined as energies from a source which either renews 
itself in the short term or where use does not contribute to 
exhausting the respective source. this includes solar irradia-
tion and hydropower, geothermics and the potential in the 
energy recoverable from tidal power or biomass. the share 
of renewable energy sources in Germany’s energy consump-
tion is now higher than 17 percent. the use of solar power 
through photovoltaics has recorded the highest growth 
rates in renewable energies for a number of years. 

   Solar cells
a solar module is made up of several solar cells which are 
connected to one another. solar cells when exposed to light 
release positive and negative charge carriers (photovoltaic 
effect) which generates direct current. in the production of 
a solar cell, wafers from the semiconducting material silicon 
are doped (impurity doping). when two semiconductor lay-
ers with different impurities are put together, a so-called p-n 
junction is generated between the layers. an electric field is 
generated at this junction which separates the charge carri-
ers released by photons. voltage is tapped through the con-
tacts on the front and back. an anti-reflex layer protects the 
cell and reduces reflection losses at the surface of the cell. a 
differentiation is made between the different types of cells 
and modules.

   Solar modules
a solar module is made up of a number of solar cells which 
are electrically connected in a series and which, after ap-
plication of current connectors, are processed to form a 
module. the generally square solar cells are applied to a 
substrate, covered by a glass plate and laminated to protect 
them against weather exposure. a frame is often attached 
for the purpose of simplifying assembly. solar modules cus-
tomary in the markets are generally made from mono- or 
polycrystalline solar cells or thin-film modules.
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   Solar silicon 
solar silicon (also known as polysilicon) is the basic mate-
rial used in the production of crystalline solar modules. the 
production of solar cells necessitates silicon in an ultra-pure 
form (solar grade).

   Stand-alone system
stand-alone systems (also known as off-grid systems) are 
photovoltaic systems which are operated independently of 
the grid and which thus generate a self-sufficient supply of 
electricity. with these systems, the electricity produced is not 
fed into the grid but stored in accumulators from where it 
is sourced for consumption. stand-alone systems are par-
ticularly suitable for remote locations in regions with small 
or unstable grids or for areas where linking up to the grid 
would not be commercially viable. 

   Standard test Conditions (StC)
the specific data of a solar module are measured under 
standard test conditions. standard test conditions are de-
fined as the solar irradiation of one kilowatt (kw) per square 
metre, a module temperature of 25 degrees Celsius and a 
solar irradiation angle of 45 degrees.

   String
a string is the parallel wiring of a number of solar modules 
connected up electrically in a series.

   System costs
the system costs of a photovoltaic plant are a key factor for 
determining the investment costs and therefore the length 
of the period of amortisation. they are made up of the 
costs of all technical components (solar modules, installa-
tion system, direct current master switch, inverters, cabling 
and electricity meters) and of the work performed (develop-
ment, planning, building, handover etc.). financing costs, 
costs of official approval, expert opinions, legal advice and 
similar services are not part of the system costs.

   System integration
the efficiency of a photovoltaic system depends to a great 
degree on the ideal interaction of all the individual compo-
nents. the more technologies and products offered for se-
lection in the market, the greater the optimisation potential 
through consistent system integration. the tasks of system 
integration include the selection and checking of the indi-
vidual components, as well as the reconciliation of all details 
in accordance with requirements, for example the installa-
tion system, taking account of local conditions on the re-
spective site.

   temperature coefficient
the temperature coefficient is an indication of the degree 
to which module output changes if the temperature of the 
solar cell rises.

   thin-film modules
in the manufacturing of thin-film modules, active photo-
voltaic layers are applied directly to a glass or metal pane 
in an integrated process. the thickness of the layer applied 
in this process is a mere 0.002 millimetres. the thin coating 
of the active substance, amorphous silicon (a-si), copper in-
dium (gallium) diselenide (Cis/CiGs) or cadmium telluride 
(Cdte) for instance, reduces the amount of material used 
and the manufacturing costs. although, in comparison to 
crystalline modules, thin-film modules have lower conver-
sion efficiencies, they have better temperature coefficients, 
are able to convert diffused light better and are less sensitive 
to shadowing.

   turnkey power plant
in photovoltaics, a turnkey power plant is a fully configured 
solar power plant consisting of solar modules, assembly sys-
tem, inverters and cabling.

   value chain
the value chain is the whole mix of products and services 
which go to make up one product (solar power plant) or a 
service (system integration, operation), comprising all links 
in the chain, also including suppliers of raw materials and 
manufacturers, across system integrators and wholesalers 
and retailers through to the end customer.

   wafer
wafers are round or rectangular silicon slices which are ap-
proximately 0.2 to 0.4 millimetres thick. in photovoltaics 
they are the primary product used in crystalline solar cells.
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finanCial GlossaRy

   At-equity method
the at-equity method (also known as net method) is used 
in accounting in the recognition of participating interests 
when the parent company can exert a major but not con-
trolling influence. the equity of the participation is disclosed 
on a pro-rata basis in the financial statements of the parent 
company.

   Balance sheet
the balance sheet is a comprehensive listing of the assets 
and liabilities of a company and a reflection of its earnings 
capacity. whereas the assets side provides information on 
the use of funds in the company, the liabilities side shows the 
source of funds and thus the financing.

   Bearer share
a security which secures a fraction of the share capital of a 
stock corporation. the bearer provides proof of share own-
ership through his/her securities account. 

   Cap rate
the cap rate is the contractually agreed maximum interest 
rate, also known as strike rate.

   Cash flow
the cash flow is an economic parameter which reflects the 
changes in cash and cash equivalents from the sales and oth-
er ongoing activities during a given period. the parameter 
facilitates an assessment of the extent to which a company is 
able to generate the funds required through sales processes 
for the preservation of the assets shown in the balance sheet 
and necessary for investment in expansion.

   Cash flow statement
the cash flow statement quantifies changes in the liquidity 
potential over time and shows the causes of change.

   Change-of-control clause
opens up the options for managers, generally members 
of the executive board, to leave the company under condi-
tions defined in the event of a change of control, for instance 
through a majority shareholder buying into the company.

   Compliance
Compliance is defined as the observance of rules, codes of 
conduct and guidelines.

   Cost-to-cost method
sales and the income from contracts are recorded in the pro-
portion of actual manufacturing costs incurred relative to 
the expected overall costs.

   Covenant
Contractual loan agreement on the obligations of the bor-
rower.

   Derivatives
derivatives are instruments which derive their value from 
other financial instruments. the value depends on the de-
velopment of the price of the underlying.

   Directors’ Dealings
Private securities transactions carried out by people with 
management duties in listed stock corporations and related 
persons in the securities of the respective company. Pur-
suant to section 15a of the German securities trading act 
(wphG), these transactions must be reported.

   Discounted Cash flow method (DCf)
discounting of future excess cash flows to calculate the value 
of an enterprise.

   Dividend 
Payment made to the shareholders depending on profit.

   D&o insurance (Directors&officers)
an insurance policy covering financial loss liability taken 
out by a company for the executive board and supervisory 
board.

   EBIt
earnings before interest and taxes within a given period.

   EBIt margin 
Ratio of ebit to sales divided by 100 and expressed as a per-
centage figure. the ebit margin shows how much operating 
profit there is before interest and taxes, and the level of the 
financial result per sales unit. 

   Equity ratio
share of equity in the whole share capital. 

   fair value
the amount at which an asset could be exchanged or a li-
ability settled in a transaction between expert willing parties 
acting independently of one another.

   forward transaction
with a forward transaction, the settlement of the respective 
transaction, i.e. the date of delivery and of the payment of 
the goods or services, will take place in the future.

   ftE
full-time equivalent; technical term from personnel man-
agement indicating how much a full-time position contrib-
utes to a performance indicator (e.g. sales) within a given 
period.  

   German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC)
the GCGC is a set of key statutory regulations on the man-
agement and supervision of German listed stock corpora-
tions and comprises recognised international and national 
standards on good and responsible corporate management. 
it is reviewed on an annual basis by a German Government 
Commission. Companies must explain deviations from the 
Code and publish a statement once a year.

   Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
the total market value of all goods and services produced in 
a country in a given year. 

   Hedging transaction
securing of a portfolio against changes in the interest rate by 
using derivative financial instruments.
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   IAS
international accounting standards; accounting standards 
used as a basis by many companies to draw up their annual 
and interim financial statements.

   IASB
international accounting standards board; regularly revises 
the international accounting standards (ias) and gradu-
ally replaces them through international financial Reporting 
standards (ifRs).

   IfRIC
international financial Reporting interpretations Committee; 
group which is part of the international accounting stand-
ards Committee foundation (iasC) and which publishes in-
terpretations of ifRss and iass.

   IfRS
international financial Reporting standards; international 
accounting standards issued by the iasb for companies. 
Capital market-oriented companies listed in Prime standard 
of deutsche börse must apply ifRs in accordance with the 
German Commercial Code (hGb).

   Income statement
the income statement itemises the revenues and expenses 
incurred in a given period. it is an integral part of the finan-
cial statements, alongside the balance sheet.

   Interest rate cap
Contractual agreement on a maximum interest rate against 
payment of a premium.

   Interest rate swap
an interest rate derivative is where two contractual parties 
(counterparties) agree to exchange one stream of future in-
terest payments against another based on a specified prin-
cipal amount. 

   Market capitalisation
a measurement of the current market value of a company 
on the stock exchange. it is calculated by taking the current 
share price and multiplying it by the number of shares is-
sued.

   no-par value share 
as opposed to par value shares to which a certain amount in 
the share capital is assigned, no-par value shares securitise a 
percentage amount in the share capital of a company.

   ordinary share
securitises all shareholder rights accruing to the owner; the 
most common form of shares on German stock exchanges.

   outside-basis differences
amount in calculating and disclosing deferred taxes of a par-
ent company based on hidden differences between the tax 
basis and the equity capital of a participation as against the 
corresponding amount recognised under ifRs.

   Percentage-of-completion method 
option under ias of – under certain conditions – disclosing 
revenues and income from contracts commenced but not 
yet completed in the income statement. disclosure is made 
in proportion to the degree of completion. 

   Prime Standard
sub-segment of the regulated market of deutsche börse for 
companies which fulfil particularly high transparency stand-
ards.

   RoCE
Return on capital employed; shows ebit in relation to capital 
employed within a period in order to reflect the profitability 
of total capital.

   Share capital
the share capital of a company, also known as nominal capi-
tal, is the sum total of the nominal values of the ordinary 
and preference shares (issued). in the company’s balance 
sheet, the share capital is disclosed as subscribed capital 
under equity divided into shares, with securitisation of the 
right of the shareholder in the company. 

   Share option 
the right to purchase a certain number of shares at an 
agreed price (strike price) within a fixed period or at a certain 
time (call option).

   Subscription right
Right of shareholders to subscribe to recently issued/new 
shares in proportion to their stake in the share capital up 
until that point. when subscription rights are exercised, the 
proportion in the share capital remains unchanged.

   Syndicated loan agreement
a loan agreement between a company and a group of banks 
(syndicate). 

   waiver fee
fees remitted to obtain a waiver.

   working capital
financial indicator denoting the liquidity of a company cal-
culated by deducting current liabilities from current assets.
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abbReviations

   A
aC alternating current
aG aktiengesellschaft (stock corporation)
afs available for sale
aiP annual improvements Process
aktG aktiengesetz (German stock Corporation act)
amC amortised Cost
aud australian dollar

   B 
bos balance of system
bsw  bundesverband solarwirtschaft  

(German solar industry association)

   C
Cdte Cadmium tellurid
Ceo Chief executive officer
Cfo Chief financial officer
CGu Cash-generating units
CiGs Copper-indium-Gallium-selenide
Cis Copper-indium-selenide
Co2 Carbon dioxide
Coo Chief operations officer
Cso Chief sales officer
Cto Chief technology officer
ct/kwh eurocent per kilowatt hour
ct/mwh eurocent per megawatt hour

   D 
d&o directors & officers
dax deutscher aktienindex (German share index)
dr. doctor
dC direct current
dCf discounted Cash flow

   E
e.g. for example
e. v. eingetragener verein (registered association)
ebit earnings before interest and taxes
ebt earnings before taxes
eC european Commission
eeG  erneuerbare-energien-Gesetz  

(German Renewable energies act)
ePia european Photovoltaic industry association
eRP  enterprise Resource Planning
eu european union
eu PvseC  european Photovoltaic solar energy Conference 

and exhibition
euR euro
€ m million euro

   f
fsC forest stewardship Council
fte full-time equivalent

   G
g gram
GCGC German Corporate Governance Code
GdP Gross domestic product
Gw gigawatt
Gwh gigawatt hour
Gwp gigawatt peak output

   H
hGb handelsgesetzbuch (German Commercial Code)
hft held for trading
htm held to maturity
hRb  handelsregister b (German Commercial Register b)

   I
ias international accounting standards
iasb international acccounting standards board
iCs internal Control system
idw  institut der wirtschaftsprüfer (institute of Public 

auditors)
ifRiC  international financial Reporting interpretations 

Committee
ifRs international financial Reporting standards
isin international securities identification number
iso international organization for standardization
imf international monetary fund
it information technology

   J
JPy Japanese yen

   K
k€ thousand euro
km kilometre
kw kilowatt
kwh kilowatt hour
kwp kilowatt peak output

   L
laR loans and Receivables

   M
mdax mid-Cap-dax
mis management information system
mw megawatt
mwh megawatt hour
mwp megawatt peak output
myd malaysian ringgit

   n
nabu  naturschutzbund deutschland (nature and 

biodiversity Conservation union in Germany)
no. number

   o
oCi other Comprehensive income
ohsas  occupational health and safety assessment 

series
omR omani rial

   P
p.a. per anno
para. paragraph
PoC Percentage of Completion
PPvx  Photon Photovoltaik-aktien-index (Photon 

Photovoltaic stock index)
Prof. Professor
Pv photovoltaics
Pv CyCle  professional take-back program for photovoltaic 

modules
Py prior year
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   Q
Q1/2/3 first/second/third quarter

   R
Renixx®
world world Renewable energy industrial index
RoCe Return on capital employed

   S
sdax small-Cap-dax
sGd singapore dollar
siC standing interpretations Committee
soP share option Plan
sRi sustainable and Responsible investment
stC standard test Conditions

   t
tecdax technology-dax

   u
us united states
usa united states of america
usd us dollar
us-GaaP us Generally accepted accounting Principles

   v
vorstoG  Gesetz über die offenlegung der 

vorstandsvergütungen (executive board 
Compensation disclosure act)

   w
wkn  wertpapier-kenn-nummer  

(securities identification number)
wphG  wertpapierhandelsgesetz  

(German securities trading act)

   X
xetra exchange electronic trading
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Phoenix solar aG
hirschbergstraße 8
d-85254 sulzemoos

www.phoenixsolar.com

investoR Relations

anka leiner
tel. +49 (0)8135 938 -315
fax +49 (0)8135 938 -399
email a.leiner@phoenixsolar.de

ConCePt and desiGn

Red, munich/ krailling, Germany

PhotoGRaPhy
 
Christophe inglin, page 12
Christian höhn, pages 13 – 15
kGal, page 20

simon barber
tel. +49 (0)8135 938 -314
fax +49 (0)8135 938 -399
email s.barber@phoenixsolar.de

PRint and PaPeR

kessler druck + medien, bobingen, Germany

printed climate-
neutrally

foRwaRd-lookinG statements

this report contains forward-looking statements on future developments which are based on man-
agement’s current assessments. words such as “anticipate”, “assume”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, 
“intend”, “can/could”, “plan”, “project”, “forecast”, “should”, and similar terms are indicative of such 
forward-looking statements. such statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which are 
mainly outside the sphere of influence of Phoenix solar aG, but which have an impact on the busi-
ness activities, the success, the business strategy and the results. these risks and factors of uncertainty 
include, for instance, climatic change, changes in the state subsidisation of photovoltaics, the introduc-
tion of competitor products or technologies of other companies, the dependency on suppliers and the 
price development of solar modules, the development of the planned internationalisation of business 
activities, fierce competition as well as rapid technological change in the photovoltaic market. if one of 
these or other factors of uncertainty or risks should occur, or if the assumptions underlying the state-
ments should prove incorrect, the actual results may diverge substantially from the results in these state-
ments or implicit indications. Phoenix solar aG does not have the intention nor will it undertake any 
obligation to realise forward-looking statements on an ongoing basis or at a later point in time as this is 
entirely dependent on circumstances prevailing on the day of their release.



fi
n

a
n

C
ia

l 
C

a
le

n
d

a
R 

a
n

d
 G

Ro
u

P 
st

Ru
C

tu
Re



financial Calendar 2011

18/04/2011

11/05/2011

14/07/2011

11/08/2011

10/11/2011

annual Report 2010
 
Q1 Report/interim figures as per 31/03/2011
 
ordinary annual General meeting of shareholders 2011
 
Q2 Report/interim figures as per 30/06/2011
 
Q3 Report/interim figures as per 30/09/2011

this report is also available in German. both versions are available for download on the internet.
this is an english translation of the German original. only the German version is binding.

the updated financial calendar can be viewed on the Phoenix solar aG website under  
www.phoenixsolar.com/investorRelations/financialCalendar
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75 %

70 %

75 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

Phoenix Solar AG

sulzemoos, 
Germany

31.2 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

Group structure as at 31/12/2010

subsidiaRies 

otheR holdinGs

Phoenix Solar Pte. Ltd.
singapore

Phoenix Solar L.L.C.
muscat, oman

Phoenix Solar Sdn Bhd
kuala lumpur, malaysia

Phoenix Solar Inc. 
new Castle, de, usa

Phoenix Solar S.L.
madrid, spain

Phoenix Solar S.r.l.
Rome, italy

Phoenix Solar E.P.E.
athens, Greece

Phoenix Solar SAS
lyon, france

Phönix Sonnenfonds GmbH & Co. KG D4
sulzemoos, Germany

Phoenix Solar fonds verwaltung GmbH
sulzemoos, Germany

Phoenix Solar Pty Ltd
adelaide, australia

Phönix Sonnenfonds GmbH & Co. KG B1
sulzemoos, Germany

8 special purpose entities  
(see notes a)



making energy together

Phoenix Solar AG
hirschbergstraße 8
85254 sulzemoos, Germany
Phone +49 (0)8135 938-000 
fax  +49 (0)8135 938-099
email ir@phoenixsolar.de

www.phoenixsolar.com




